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HEARING ON THE REAUTHORIZATION OF
THE MAGNUSON FISHERY CONSERVATION
AND MANAGEMENT ACT

SATURDAY, MARCH 4, 1995

U.S. Senate,
Subcommittee on Oceans and Fisheries Committee on

Commerce, Science, and Transportation,
Rockport, Maine

The subcommittee, met, pursuant to notice, at 2:28 p.m., in the

Ballroom, Samoset Conference Center, Rockport, Maine, the Hon.
Ted Stevens, chairman, presiding.

Subcommittee Members Present: Senators Stevens, Snowe, and
Kerry. Also Present: Senator Cohen and Representative Longley.

Staff members assigned to this hearing: Thomas 0. Melius, pro-

fessional staff member, and John Trevor McCabe, professional staff

member; and Penelope D. Dalton, minority senior professional staff

member.

OPENE^JG STATEMENT OF SENATOR STEVENS

Senator Stevens. Thank you very much, and thank you for your
hospitality. Gatherings such as this are nothing new for me. We
have them in our State quite often. I think there are a couple of

you here that I have met at our gatherings, particularly at Kodiak.
I thank the Maine Fishermen s Forum for allowing us to come

up here and hold this hearing during your meeting. Our goal today
is to bring this process of the reauthorization of the Magnuson Act
to fishermen rather than having you come to us in Washington.

Senator Kerry and I have introduced S. 39 again this year. It is

the product of work that we did over the past 2 to 3 years. The
election in November changed one thing on this subcommittee, and
that is that I get to hold the gavel; other than that, there is no dif-

ference in our approach to the bill that is before us now. The Sus-
tainable Fisheries Act is basically the same bill that we have been
working on during this whole period. We have made some changes
in it.

I am pleased Senator Snowe has joined us on the new Oceans
and Fisheries Subcommittee. She will be a great help to us in this

Magnuson effort, and we know she is committed to protecting our
fisheries and fishermen as we are. The ideas that are in S. 39, as

a matter of fact, are some we took from you when you were in the

House. So I am sure they are still all right.

We are pleased that she has joined us, and pleased, too, that my
friend of many years. Senator Bill Cohen, is with us. He is not on

(1)



the Commerce Committee, but he has shown his interest in the
area, and I am sure he will be a great help to us in the Senate.

I would also like to welcome ConCTessman Jim Longley, who has
taken the time to join us today. We know that he will be committed
to helping on our issues, too.

I would like to ask the Senators and Congressman Longley to

make brief statements—^brief statements—in just a few moments,
and we will welcome the witnesses here. Most of you have seen the
bill. We have received statements from the witnesses in advance.
Additional copies of the bill, S. 39, and the statements that were
made when it was introduced are here on the table. We intend to

leave the record for this hearing open for another week; if you feel

the urge to send us a statement, please do so. The staff has a little

slip. If you will fill that out, when you send your statement it will

get to tne right record, so we urge you to send the slip in with any
written testimony that you send to us.

We apologize for being slightly late. We are going to have to

leave this room at 5:30 p.m. unfortimately. We will go through the
afternoon, with a slight break part way through just for a seventh-
inning stretch. But, 1 request tnat witnesses keep their statements
to 5 minutes. We will make some small allowances for the wit-

nesses that have the long statements to begin with. I know that
you will have a difficult time limiting those, but, basically, I would
urge you to keep it for 5 minutes. The lights that are before you
here are being handled by my staff behind me. The green says keep
on speaking; the red says stop speaking.
With that, I will first turn to Senator Kerry. Do you have a state-

ment, Senator Kerry?

STATEMENT OF SENATOR KERRY
Senator Kerry. Mr. Chairman, let me just say very briefly and

then defer to my colleagues from Maine that it is nice to be back
here with cousins in this territory we ceded long ago. [Laughter.]

I am happy to be able to share with you the bipartisan approach
that we have to this issue. I think it is important to emphasize
that Senator Stevens and I have worked very closely on this issue
for a long time. The change of gavel really is all that has happened.
It is not a change in spirit or a change in our approach.
Whether it is Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Connecticut, or

Maine, we all share a tremendous heritage in fishing and in the
ocean. And we come to this Magnuson reauthorization, the Sustain-
able Fisheries Act, which is what we have called it, with the view
that we are facing a crisis in our fisheries, and we have a fun-

damental set of choices we must make.
This is not a woe that is falling on us alone. Thirteen of the

world's 17 most important fisheries are in distress. And the prob-
lem is worldwide. The Koreans, the Japanese, the Europeans, the
Russians—there is too much capital chasing this finite resource.
There are ways, we have learned, that we can deal with this. There
are ways to conserve. We have had our own experience in Massa-
chusetts with striped bass. We have seen what lobstermen here
have been able to do. There are examples, and there is in all of us,

I think, particularly in New Englanders, an ethic that runs very
deep about this ecosystem and about our responsibility toward it.



We must develop a partnership here between Federal, State, and
local entities to find the best means possible of conserving the spe-

cies while simultaneously minimizing the negative impact on our

communities and our fisherfolk. That is the task.

The Sustainable Fisheries Act is our best effort to put a first foot

forward. We do not claim it has all of the answers. It is not a deal

that is signed, sealed, and delivered. So we look to you today and
in the weeks and months ahead for your help in fashioning the

remedy, and together we are convinced we can put together a re-

sponse.
Let me just apologize up front because, as the ranking member

of the subcommittee, I can only be here until around 4:15. I have
a daughter who aspires to play for the Bruins and she has a hockey
game this afternoon. It is her last of the season and so I am going

to go be a dad for a while. I know you will endorse that.

But that is why I am going to leave here a little bit early. But
I am delighted to share with you this wonderful forum and thank
my colleagues for their welcome.
Senator Stevens: Thank you very much. Senator Snowe?

STATEMENT OF SENATOR OLYMPIA SNOWE
Senator Snowe. Thank you, Chairman Stevens. I want to wel-

come all of you here.

I certainly want to express my appreciation to you. Chairman
Stevens, for agreeing to hold a field hearing here in the State of

Maine, and to Senator Keriy, as ranking member of the sub-

committee, to join us at this field hearing. I think it is a privilege

to have two Senators who have such knowledge and expertise on
fishing issues to be here to take testimony.

Chairman Stevens, I think everybody knows, is one of the origi-

nal authors of the Magnuson Act, and is probably as well-versed

as anybody in the country on this issue. And thanks to your efforts,

this is probably the first time in recent memory that a Senate sub-

committee on fishing issues has visited the State of Maine, and it

comes at a most appropriate and critical time, considering the

many challenges that the industry faces, not only in Maine but
throughout New England.

I think, Chairman Stevens, you understand these issues since

you represent the State of Alaska, which has the largest fishing in-

dustry of any State in the country, and we appreciate the fact that

you are here.

And, Senator Kerry, obviously you understand what we are going

through since you represent Massachusetts, although I thought we
granted you independence. [Laughter.]

Senator Kerry. We are entitled to revisionism.

Senator Snowe. Believe it or not, that was 175 years ago next

week.
In any event, certainly Senator Kerry understands and has ex-

tensive knowledge of these issues. As he said, he chaired the pre-

vious subcommittee, and so therefore can contribute a great deal

to our efforts and to our concerns.
I am pleased to join my colleagues from Maine, Senator Cohen

and Congressman Longley. As you all know, we have had a long-

standing tradition of working together on issues, especially when



it comes to the fishing industry, and you can expect that same kind
of unity in the critical months and years ahead.

I want to express gratitude to two people here who did so much
to organize this forum—Pat Percy of the Maine Fishermen's Wives,
who organized the forum and helped with it and worked with many
of the witnesses over the last 2 weeks, and Penn Estabrook, the
Forum president, who also made sure the logistics were worked out
in a timely fashion.

As we have all been talking about here today and throughout the
Forum, imfortunately 1995 brings many challenges to the fishing
industry, to those who care very much about it. And clearly we are
going to have to chart a sustainable path to the future, not only,

as I have said in the past, to ensure that we preserve the marine
resources which of course are essential, but also to preserve the
human resources as well.

And the focal point of this testimony is the introduction of the
legislation by Chairman Stevens and Senator Kerry, which is the
reauthorization of the Magnuson Act, and there are many issues
that we will be exploring today with the vessel buy-back announce-
ment by NOAA yesterday, to by-catch reductions, overfishing, and
negotiated rulemaking, just to name a few.

I hope that you will feel free to express your concerns. Hopefully
at the end of this, Mr. Chairman, if there is any remaining time,
people from the audience could have a chance to express their

views again. Thank you.
Senator Stevens. Thank you very much.
Bill, I am sure it could not have been 175 years. Strom Thur-

mond told me it was just yesterday. [Laughter.]
Senator Cohen. And he was there. [Laughter.]
Senator Kerry. And he is for term limits. [Laughter.]
Senator Cohen. Strom Thurmond said he only wants two more.

[Laughter.]

STATEMENT OF SENATOR WILLIAM S. COHEN
Senator Cohen. When Senator Stevens says be brief, we take

him at his word. He is in charge of the Rules Committee, and he
cuts off our office space if we go beyond any dictates that he gives

us. I will be very brief, 30 seconds, if I can, Mr. Chairman.
There are two provisions in the Magnuson Act which I think are

of importance to Maine in addition to all of the others that you will

want to focus on today. When amendment 5 was first proposed,
many of you came to me saying we need some help here. We ought
to have some kind of negotiated rulemaking provision to resolve
this impasse. Under this reauthorization legislation, that rule-

making possibility is going to be there.

No. 2, as Olympia Snowe has mentioned, is the buy-back provi-

sion. I will tell you that it is the only piece of any proposal on the
table right now that deals with conservation and also with eco-

nomic consequences, and I support it, provided—there are some
real provisos here. No. 1, is it going to be effective? Namely, if

boats are bought out, do they stay bought out, or do they go else-

where? Is it going to be equitable in terms of geographic equity as
well as social equity? And what is the cost going to be? We have
to resolve all three of those issues. This is not just for



groundfishermen; it is the entire commercial industry that is at

stake.

So I think that we have got to address these concerns during this

meeting and hopefully in the future. And if we address them, then

hopefully we can lend our support to it.

Mr. Chairman, thank you very much, Senator Kerry, welcome,
Senator Snowe, thank you also for inviting me to join the panel.

Senator Stevens. Thank you all very much. The ground rules for

the hearing—5 minutes, as I said. We hope that the witnesses will

keep to that schedule.

Pardon me. Congressman Longley. I did forget. I want to move
along; that is all.

STATEMENT OF HON. JAMES LONGLEY, U.S. REPRESENTATIVE
FROM MAINE

Mr. Longley. You have to understand if you are in the House
it is a little different. Mr. Chairman, I want to extend to you my
appreciation for the opportunity to sit on this panel. I will be very

brief.

There is a tendency to look at what is happening in the fisheries

in terms of jobs and the impact on the economy. But I think the

issues are much deeper than that. They go right to the heart of our
way of life and our traditions of independence and the culture of

this State and the reputation that we have across the country for

the kind of life that we have in this State.

I view the problems as extremely serious. I am sitting as a mem-
ber of the Fisheries Subcommittee, and I will just add to what the

Governor said a little bit earlier. I have only been in office about
7 weeks, and there were two or three immediate crises demanding
some attention. First of all, obviously the great threat to the Naval
Air Station in Brunswick and Kittery Yard, but, just as important,
the threat to the fisheries and to the jobs that that industry, that

way of life represents to the State.

I am committing to spend as much time as I can in the next fore-

seeable future to get to learn as much as I can about the fisheries,

to get to the bottom of the issues, and to try to ask some of the

tough questions that I know every one of you is already being
forced to ask, based on the difficulties that you are confronting.

I hope that we can lend the same measure of toughness to the

decisions that we have to make as the type of discipline that you
have got to use yourself to survive in this industry during these

difficult times. So, Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to

be here today.
Senator Stevens. Thank you very much, Congressman. Nice to

have you here.

Senate's rules forbid any demonstrations, applause, or other out-

bursts during a hearing. I hope we will be able to respect our rules.

As I said, we will have limits on the witnesses. Hopefully we will

be able to use. Senator Snowe, the microphone that is established
there to allow participation from members of the audience at the

end of our hearing today.
Let me thank the Coast Guard. Admiral Henn has made the

Coast Guard available to support our effort here, to have the testi-



mony in Boston; then here this afternoon, and to get us back to our
famihes so we can have Sunday at home tomorrow.
Our leadoff witness today is Rear Admiral Linnon. We are very

pleased to have the participation of the Coast Guard. I note with
great interest, Admiral Linnon, that your wife is a fisheries biolo-

gist, so you come well informed. We appreciate you being with us
today, sir.

STATEMENT OF REAR ADMIRAL JOHN L. LINNON, COM-
MANDER, FIRST COAST GUARD DISTRICT, BOSTON, MASSA-
CHUSETTS
Admiral LiNNON. And she has had a great time mixing it up with

the fisheries folks here in Maine for the last few days, so it has
been a great opportunity.

Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, and members of the subcommit-
tee. Senator Cohen, Congressman Longley. It is a pleasure to ap-
pear before you here today to represent the First Coast Guard Dis-

trict and to report on the Coast Guard's enforcement of fisheries

laws and our views regarding the Sustainable Fisheries Act and
the reauthorization of the Magnuson Fishery Conservation Man-
agement Act.

This district encompasses the waters from Tom's River, New Jer-

sey, to the Canadian border and westward to Lake Champlain. It

contains over 42,000 square nautical miles of fishing ground used
by over 2,000 offshore fishing vessels. Although search and rescue
is our most visible mission, more cutter and aircraft employment
hours are dedicated to fisheries enforcement than to any other mis-
sion in the First District.

On a daily basis we have two large offshore cutters and three
coastal patrol boats deployed for fisheries patrol, further com-
plemented by at least three aircraft patrols each day and several
shore station-based small boat patrols. In fiscal year 1994, this

amoimted to over 1,300 cutter days, about 2,500 flight hours, and
1,100 small boat patrol hours. In that same year, those same re-

sources performed 8,400 search and rescue cases, saving 630 lives

and property valued at over $1.2 million.

Many of these search and rescue cases had early response by
units which were already operating on the fishing grounds doing
enforcement patrols. Recently, much of our patrol effort has been
applied to the enforcement of closed spawning areas affecting large

portions of Georges Bank and the waters south of Nantucket Is-

land. In conjunction with our fisheries conservation enforcement re-

sponsibilities, we are also checking on mandatory safety equipment
requirements for commercial fishing vessels at sea.

Mr. Chairman, the Coast Guard's search and rescue duties in

this region are understood by everyone and our commitment to

safety of life at sea is at the core of the service's existence. As dem-
onstrated by our efforts last month when the New Bedford-based
trawler Sharon Marie sank southeast of Nantucket Island and all

5 crewmembers were rescued from their liferaft by one of our heli-

copters, we are always ready to respond to that call. The Coast
Guard is firmly committed to the safety of life and property at sea
in New England waters.



I am frequently asked, especially since the 12th of December, if

the Coast Guard has enough resources to do today's fisheries en-

forcement mission. Although I believe we are meeting our fisheries

enforcement responsibilities, the question warrants more than just

a simple yes or no response. Toda/s fisheries management plans

are complex and the number of management plans continues to

grow as resource managers work to protect existing fish stocks.

To address that increased complexity, we have just commissioned
a Regional Fisheries Training Center at the Massachusetts Mili-

tary Reservation and recently expanded the staff of that school as

part of a Coast Guard-wide initiative to improve our effectiveness.

This training center is similar to the one established in Kodiak,
which has been the subject of strong congressional interest and
support. Today the school is providing in-depth training in a vari-

ety of fisheries enforcement areas, both to our own people and to

the National Marine Fisheries Service, as well as to State enforce-

ment agents.

So I am confident that the level of education and training pro-

vided our boarding teams has been greatly improved, allowing us
to perform our duties more effectively. The challenges which lie

ahead will involve all the vessels which continue to operate in the
various fisheries, the future economic environment in which they
will be operating, and industry's overall acceptance of and compli-

ance with new fishery management plans. Today, I believe our cur-

rent amount of effort and presence is adequate to meet the region's

needs. However, it is difficult to forecast the future, not knowing
all the economic and regulatory conditions the industry will

confront in the years ahead.
The Coast Guard is trying to look over the horizon. As you know,

our service recently conducted a comprehensive study of its living

marine resource conservation and enforcement programs. To give

us an objective look at how we were doing, the study was con-

ducted by a diverse group representing various stakeholders in ma-
rine resource use, conservation, and management. This group in-

cluded representatives from Federal and State fisheries enforce-

ment agencies, regional fisheries management councils, industry,

and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration General
Counsel. They looked at how we were currently conducting the mis-

sion, the changes and trends in fisheries and fisheries manage-
ment, and what the Coast Guard should do to respond to these
changes and trends.

Based on that, regarding the Magnuson Act itself, it is the Coast
Guard's view that no significant changes are necessary. The law
contains all elements necessary to authorize effective enforcement.
While there are some issues regarding regulatory enforceability

which need to be addressed, these are narrow in scope, being lim-

ited to particular elements of specific fishery management plans.

Most of these issues are best addressed through the management
council process and do not warrant statutory changes.
The Coast Guard would, however, like to offer its views on a few

issues pertinent to S. 39.
Efforts to reduce by-catch and economic discards as outlined in

S. 39 will require continued at-sea enforcement by Coast Guard
units. The principal means to prevent harvesting and mortality of
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undersized fish is through the examination of fishing gear as it is

being employed on the fishing grounds. Similarly, forcing rules on
regulatory discards—that is, prohibited species such as eggbearing
lobsters—will require continuous at-sea presence. None of this is

new to the Coast Guard; it is something we have been doing suc-
cessfully for many years.
The success of a fishery management measure depends largely

upon the compliance of resource users. We see compliance as a
function of industry support for the measure, as well as effective

law enforcement presence. While consensus on specific manage-
ment measures for a particular fishery may be difficult to obtain,

a regulation must have the support of resource users to be opti-

mally effective.

The industry cannot be expected to fully comply with regulations
they do not understand, and understanding is enhanced through
participation in the regulatory process. Most fishermen have useml
ideas on the need for and practicality of particular regulations. Af-
fording them the opportunity to fully participate in the manage-
ment process helps to secure buy-in of resource users with a par-
ticular management measure.
This Coast Guard District takes its role in the management

council process very seriously. I personally attend council and com-
mittee meetings on a regular basis. I have people involved in more
day-to-day activity with the council who are long-term senior offi-

cers who have previously commanded ships up here and have a lot

of experience in patrolling the fishing grounds located in this dis-

trict.

A recommendation occasionally voiced by various interest groups
is to have the Coast Guard designated a voting member of each of
the regional fishery management councils. Today, the councils are
not only concerned with developing plans to conserve and manage
our fisheries resources; they are increasingly involved in allocating
limited fishery resources among competing commercial and rec-

reational user groups. The Coast Guard needs to remain neutral to

allocation issues and to specific conservation and economic objec-

tives. Our role, rather, is to aid fisheries managers in choosing
among various management alternatives by providing them expert
advice on the operational realities of at-sea enforcement.
Reduced fish stocks and competition over remaining productive

fish grounds is placing more pressure on the industry than ever be-

fore. One important consequence of this has been the rapid rise of

gear conflicts between mobile and fixed gear fishermen. In the
past, we would receive a report of a large loss caused by conflicts

between industry members at the rate of about one per month.
Today, however, we are receiving as many as five such reports

a week. As we respond to many of these incidents and document
their circumstances, we now recognize that the existing language
for enforcement of fixed gear conflicts makes it difficult for us to

take appropriate enforcement action.

Existing language regarding fixed gear conflicts includes a
"knowing* provision which requires an enforcement officer to estab-
lish the culpable intent of the parties involved. At this point, I be-

lieve the fishing industry would be better served by standards of

simple negligence with respect to damaging others' property on the



fishing grounds. We will be reviewing this issue and I would expect

that we would hope to lead development of an administration posi-

tion after we discuss this with other agencies and with the indus-

try.

In conclusion, the Coast Guard recognizes the importance of con-

serving and responsibly managing the fisheries resources of the

waters in the northeast United States and the safety of those who
work to harvest those resources on these traditional fishing

grounds. We are firmly committed to doing our part to guarantee
conservation of those stocks and to promote safety in this impor-
tant industry. We v^onsider ourselves the world's premier maritime
service, sir, and the goals just mentioned—conservation and safe-

ty—are part of the very foundation of our organization.

I would be happy, sir, to answer any questions that any of you
may have. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Admiral Linnon follows:]
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REAR ADMIRAL JOHN L. LINNON, USCG

Commander, First Coast Guard District; and

Commander, Maritime Defense Command One

Rear Admiral John L. Linnon oversees Coast Guard missions of

search and rescue, law enforcement, commercial vessel
certification and safety, and marine pollution response from
Canada to Tom's River, NJ. He is also Commander, U.S. Navy
Maritime Defense Command One, with responsibility for the
security of all First District ports and harbors, and the
corresponding coastline out to 200 nautical miles. He also
serves as the Department of Transportation Regional Emergency
Transportation Coordinator for Regions 1 and 2.

Rear Admiral Linnon, a native of Hartford, CT, was commissioned
in 1961 through the Officer Candidate School (OCS) program after
several years of enlisted service. While an enlisted man, he saw
service on the ocean station vessel MACKINAC, lifeboat station
Fishers Island, NY, and the polar icebreaker WESTWIND. He
attained the rate of first class radarman before being selected
to attend OCS.

Since commissioning, he has served on five ships, commanding the
seagoing buoy tender PLANETREE, the medium-endurance cutter
DURABLE, and the Honolulu-based high-endurance cutter MUNRO.
While commanding MUNRO, he participated in the two-month
underwater search for the wreckage of Korean Airlines (KAL)
Flight 007, which had been shot down by the Soviet Union over the
Sea of Japan. Assignments ashore have included chief of the
Officer Candidate School Branch at Reserve Training Center
Yorktown and the first Coast Guard liaison officer to the
Organization of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. Rear Admiral Linnon
served as the assistant chief of staff for operations for
Commander Atlantic Area in New York City, and collaterally as the
deputy regional coordinator for the Northeast Region, National
Narcotics Border Interdiction System. Prior to his promotion to
flag rank, he served as chief of staff of the Seventh Coast Guard
District, Miami, FL. He is a distinguished graduate of the Naval
War College Command and General Staff Course.

His last assignment was as Commander, Joint Task Force Five, the
U.S. Pacific Command Center coordinating Department of Defense
support to the nation's counter-drug efforts.

His awards include the two Defense Superior Service Medals, the
Legion of Merit, three Meritorious Service Medals, and five Coast
Guard Commendation Medals.

Rear Admiral Linnon is married to the former Beth Anderson of
Deep River, Ct. Mrs. Linnon is a fisheries biologist and most
recently held a research associate position at the University of
Miami Rosenstiel School of Marine and Atmospheric Science.
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DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
U.S. COAST GUARD

STATEMENT OF REAR ADMIRAL JOHN L. LINNON
COMMANDER, FIRST COAST GUARD DISTRICT

ON THE SUSTAINABLE FISHERIES ACT (S. 39)
BEFORE THE

SUBCOMMITTEE ON OCEANS AND FISHERIES
ON THE COMMITTEE

ON COMMERCE, SCIENCE, AND TRANSPORTATION
SATURDAY, MARCH 4, 1994

ROCKPORT, MAINE

Good afternoon Mr. Chairman, members of the Subcommittee, it is

a pleasure to appear before you today to represent the First

Coast Guard District. I appreciate the opportunity to report on

the Coast Guard ' s enforcement of fisheries laws and our views

regarding the Sustainable Fisheries Act and the reauthorization

of the Magnuson Fishery Conservation Management Act (MFCMA).

The First Coast Guard District encompasses the waters from

Tom's River, New Jersey, to the Canadian border and westward to

Lake Champlain. There are over 42,000 square nautical miles of

fishing ground within the First Coast Guard District used by over

2,000 offshore fishing vessels. Although Search and Rescue is

our most visible mission, more cutter and aircraft employment

hours are dedicated to fisheries enforcement than any other

mission in the First District. On a daily basis we have two

large offshore cutters and three coastal patrol boats deployed

for fisheries patrol. These surface assets are further

complemented by at least three aircraft patrols each day and

several shore station based small boat patrols. In fiscal year

1994, this amounted to 1,327 cutter patrol days, 2,493 flight

hours, and 1,163 small boat patrol hours. In fiscal year 1994,
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these same resources performed 8,402 search and rescue cases

saving 630 lives and property valued at 1.2 million dollars.

Many of these search and rescue cases were responded to by units

which were already operating on the fishing grounds doing

enforcement patrols. Recently, much effort has been applied to

the enforcement of closed spawning areas affecting large portions

of Georges Bank and the waters south of Nantucket Island. In

conjunction with our fisheries conservation enforcement

responsibilities, the Coast Guard also checks for compliance with

mandatory safety equipment requirements for commercial fishing

vessels at sea.

Mr. Chairman, the Coast Guard's search and rescue duties in

this region are understood by everyone and our commitment to

safety of life at sea is at the core of the service's existence.

As demonstrated by our efforts last month when the New Bedford

based trawler Sharon Marie sank southeast of Nantucket Island and

all 5 crewmembers were rescued from their liferaft by one of our

helicopters, we are always ready to respond to the call. The

Coast Guard is firmly committed to the safety of life and

property at sea in New England waters.

I am frequently asked if the Coast Guard has enough resources

to do today's fisheries enforcement mission. Although I believe

we are meeting our fisheries enforcement responsibilities, the

question warrants more than just a simple yes or no response.

Today's fisheries management plans are complex and the number of

management plans continues to grow as resource managers work to

protect existing fish stocks. To address that increased

complexity, our Northeast Regional Fisheries Training Center at
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the Massachusetts Military Reservation recently expanded its

staff as part of a Coast Guard wide initiative to improve our

effectiveness. This training center is similar to the one

established in Kodiak, Alaska, which has been the subject of

strong congressional interest and support. Today the school is

providing in-depth training in a variety of fisheries enforcement

areas. I am confident the level of education and training

provided our boarding teams has been greatly improved allowing us

to perform our duties more effectively. The challenges which lie

ahead will involve all the vessels which continue to operate in

the various fisheries, the future economic environment in which

they will be operating, and industry's overall acceptance of and

compliance with new fishery management plans. I believe our

current effort and presence is adequate to meet the region '

s

needs. However, it is difficult to forecast the future not

knowing all the economic and regulatory conditions the industry

will confront in the years ahead.

The Coast Guard is trying to look over the horizon. As you

know, our service recently conducted a comprehensive study of its

living marine resource conservation and enforcement programs. To

give us an objective look at how we were doing, the study was

conducted by a diverse working group representing various

stakeholders in marine resource use, conservation, and

management. This group included representatives from federal and

state fisheries enforcement agencies, regional fisheries

management councils, industry, and National Oceanic and

Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) General Counsel. They looked

at how the Coast Guard was currently conducting the mission, the
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changes and trends in our fisheries and in fisheries management,

and what the Coast Guard should do to respond to these changes

and trends. Based on this study, it is the Coast Guard's view

that no significant changes are necessary regarding the MFCMA

itself. The law contains all elements necessary to authorize

effective enforcement. While there are some issues regarding

regulatory enforceability which need to be addressed, these are

narrow in scope, being limited to particular elements of specific

fishery management plans. Most of these issues aipe best

addressed through the management council process and do not

warrant statutory changes. The Coast Guard would, however, like

to offer its views on a few issues pertinent to law enforcement

in S. 39.

( 1

)

Efforts to reduce by-catch and economic discards as outlined

in S. 39 will require continued at-sea enforcement by Coast Guard

units. The principal means to prevent harvesting and mortality

of undersized fish is through the examination of fishing gear as

it is being employed on the fishing grounds. Similarly, forcing

rules on regulatory discards, i.e., prohibited species such as

eggbearing lobsters, will require continuous at-sea presence.

None of this is new to the Coast Guard; it is something we have

been doing successfully for many years.

( 2

)

The success of a fishery management measure depends largely

upon the compliance of resource users. We see compliance as a

function of industry support for the measure as well as effective

law enforcement presence. While consensus on specific management

measures for a particular fishery may be difficult to obtain, a

regulation must have the support of resource users to be



16

optimally effective. The fishing industry cannot be expected to

fully comply with regulations they do not understand, and

understanding is enhanced through participation in the regulatory

process. Most fishermen have useful ideas on the need for and

practicality of particular regulations. Affording them the

opportunity to fully participate in the management process helps

to secure buy-in of resource users with a particular management

measure. The First Coast Guard District takes its role in the

management council process very seriously. I personally attend

council and committee meetings on a regular basis. My designee

on the New England Fisheries Management Council is the Chief of

the District's Law Enforcement Branch, Captain Paul Howard. He

is a very experienced senior officer who previously commanded one

of our offshore cutters that spent most of its time patrolling

the fishing grounds located in the First District.

A recommendation occasionally voiced by various interest groups

is to have the Coast Guard designated a voting member of each of

the regional fishery management councils. Today, the councils

are not only concerned with developing plans to conserve and

manage our fisheries resources, they are increasingly involved in

allocating limited fishery resources among competing commercial

and recreational user groups. The Coast Guard needs to remain

neutral to allocation issues and to specific conservation and

economic objectives.! Our role, rather, is to aid fisheries

managers in choosing among various management alternatives by

providing them expert advice on the operational realities of at-

sea enforcement.

(3) Reduced fish stocks and competition over remaining
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productive fish grounds is placing more pressure on the industry

than ever before. One important conseguence of this has been the

rapid rise of gear conflicts between mobile and fixed gear

fishermen. In the past, the Coast Guard would receive a report

of a large loss caused by conflicts between industry members at

the rate of about one a month. Currently, however, we are

receiving as many as five such reports a week. As we respond to

many of these incidents and document their circumstances, we now

recognize that the existing language for enforcement of fixed

gear conflicts makes it difficult for us to take appropriate

enforcement action. Existing language regarding fixed gear

conflicts includes a "knowing" provision which requires an

enforcement officer to establish the culpable intent of the

parties involved. At this point, I believe the fishing industry

would be better served by standards of simple negligence with

respect to- damaging others' property on the fishing grounds. We

will be reviewing this issue and I would expect that we would

hope to lead development of an administration position after we

discuss this with other agencies and with the industry-

In conclusion, the Coast Guard recognizes the importance of

conserving and responsibly managing the fisheries resources of

the waters in the Northeast United States and the safety of those

who work to harvest those resources on these traditional fishing

grounds. We are firmly committed to doing our part to guarantee

conservation of those stocks and to promote safety in this

important industry. We consider ourselves the world's premier

maritime service. The goals just mentioned - conservation and

safety - are part of the very foundation of our organization.

I would be pleased to answer any questions

.

8
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Senator Stevens. Thank you, Admiral, for being here. I think all

of us who have so great a connection with the fishing industry are
grateful to you and the Coast Guard for all you do to help our con-

stituents.

Mr. Coates is the next witness. He is the chairman of the
Groundfish Committee for the New England Fisheries Manage-
ment Council. Mr. Coates,

STATEMENT OF PHILIP G. COATES, CHAIRMAN, GROUNDFISH
COMMITTEE, NEW ENGLAND FISHERY MANAGEMENT COUN-
CIL

Mr. Coates. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Senators, Congressman
Longley. I come before you as a member of the New England Fish-

ery Management Council. The Council has not met since S. 39 be-
came available, so I cannot give you a formal council position at
this time. We will be discussing the bill at our next council meeting
on March 29 and 30 and will convey any positions to you at that
time.

I can provide you, however, two things today. First, I'd like to

mention that the chairmen of all eight of the Fishery Management
Councils met in May 1994 and reached consensus as chairmen on
several issues. A summary of their views was submitted last week
by our council chairman to the House subcommittee, and I offer

that document for Senate consideration also.

Very briefly, the chairmen believe conflicts of interest are not as
great as many perceive, and they offer specific language to address
that matter. They also recommend that the councils should be able

to establish fees relating to data collection programs or to limited
entry programs. They think compensation for members should not
be lowered, and that the definition or description of "essential habi-
tat" should not be a required provision of fishery management
plans.

They also concluded that defining overfishing in the Act is unnec-
essary and that rebuilding programs should be dealt with at the re-

gional level under existing procedures and rules. There was full

agreement with the 180-day period for emergency actions and for

extensions of such actions.

Second, over the past 2 years our council has reviewed several
bills relating to Magnuson and has addressed several specific is-

sues. When it became clear that there would not be amendments
to the Act in 1994, we deferred any full council action. A council

subcommittee looked at earlier positions adopted by the eight coun-
cil chairmen and then attempted to outline a general view not spe-

cific to any bill of how the Act and the council system ideally

should work. Some of their conclusions follow.

Generally the Federal agency process should be less intrusive.

The National Marine Fisheries Service role should be to expedite,

facilitate, and implement council plans efficiently and effectively. If

NMFS will have difficulty implementing or enforcing a council

plan, they should inform the council before the pL^n's submission.
Funding for fishery management has generally not been ade-

quate, either for the councils or for the NMFS itself. Any fishing

fees collected to raise funds should be prescribed in the relevant
fishery management plan, and should be used only for manage-
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ment purposes in the region where they are collected. Fees should

not be seen as a substitute for appropriated funding but as a sup-

plement.
NMFS should be required to implement council plans as long as

thev are developed according to the procedures set out in the Act
and are not inconsistent with the national standards of section 301.

Differences between a council and the National Marine Fisheries

Service should not be the basis for NMFS's disapproval of a plan.

Definition of "essential habitat" and description of protective

measures should be discretionary, not required, provisions of fish-

ery management plans under section 303(b).

Fishery management plans should not be subjected to National
Environmental Policy Act standards, but any crucial process ele-

ments in NEPA could be added to the Magnuson process, eliminat-

ing separate review periods and timetables for plan development.
The regional director of the National Marine Fisheries Service

should not be allowed to vote on council requests for emergency ac-

tion, and NMFS should be obligated to act on emergency request

within 30 or, at most, 60 days.

Programs to buy out fishing vessels from owners willing to leave

the fishery, whether privately or federally funded, should be used
to remove effort from the fisheries where it is necessary. We are

very pleased to see the administration announcement of the pilot

buyout program for the New England fishery, and very pleased to

see your support for the concept of a buyout.
Compensation for members of the councils should not be reduced.

They work long hours beyond the time expended at meetings and
subcommittee meetings.
Despite perceptions to the contrary, conflict of interest is not and

has not been a serious problem on the New England council. Per-

haps the language offered by the eight council chairmen would be
appropriate.
We should support addressing the issue of overfishing in a man-

ner that will make fishery management more effective. However,
the 602 guidelines should not be embodied in the Act.

The councils should be fi*ee to address management needs incre-

mentally through a series of minor amendments rather than being
forced by NMFS to prepare comprehensive FMPs.
Mr. CJhairman, I reiterate that none of the foregoing views have

been formally adopted by the council, but we will discuss them
shortly and inform you of our position. Thank you for this oppor-

tunity to testify on S. 39 and the other bills on behalf of the New
England Fishery Management Council.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Coates and the information re-

ferred to follow:]
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Testimony of Philip G. Coates

New England Fishery Management Council Member
Before the

Senate Subcommittee on Oceans and Fisheries

Rockport, Maine
March 4, 1995

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Subcommittee:

1 come before you as a member of the New England Fishery Management

Council. The Council has not met since S. 39 became available so I cannot give you a

formal Council position. We will discuss the bill at our next Council meeting on

March 29-30 and if we take positions on the bill or its specific provisions, they will be

communicated to the subcommittee by the CouncU. I can provide you here today

with two things.

First, the chairmen of all eight of the Fishery Management Councils met in

May 1994 and reached consensus, as chairmen, on several issues. A summary of

their views was submitted last week by our Council Chairman to the House

subcommittee and 1 offer that document for Senate consideration also. Very briefly

the chairmen believe conflicts of interest are not as great as many perceive and they

offer specific language to address that matter. They also recommend that Councils

should be able to establish fees related to data collection programs or to limited entry

programs. They think compensation for members should not be lowered and that

the definition or description of essential habitat should not be a required provision of

fishery management plans. (FMPs). They also conclude that defining overfishing in

the Act is unnecessary and that rebuilding programs should be dealt with at the

regional level under existing procedures and rules. There was full agreement with a

180 day period for emergency actions and for extensions of such actions.

Second, over the past two years our Council has reviewed several bills relating

to Magnuson and has addressed several specific issues. Last fall the Council

chairman appointed a five member subcommittee led by our vice chairman to

formulate recommended positions for Council consideration. When it became clear
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there would not be amendments to the Act in 1994 we deferred any full Council

action. Our subcommittee looked at the positions referred to earlier that were

adopted by the eight Council chairmen. Subcommittee members agreed with the

Council chairmen on most points. They then attempted to outline a general view

(not specific to any bill) of how the Act and the Council system ideally should work.

Some of their conclusior\s follow:

Generally the federal agency process should be less intrusive. The National

Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) role should be to expedite, facilitate and

implement Council plans efficiently and effectively. If NMFS will have

. difficulty implementing or enforcing a Council plan, they should inform the

Council before the plan is formally submitted.

Funding for fishery management generally has not been adequate, either for

the Councils or for NMFS itself. Any fishing fees collected to raise funds

should be prescribed in the relevant FMP and should be used orJy for

management purposes in the region where they are collected. Fees should not

be seen as a substitute for appropriated funding, but as a supplement.

NMFS should be required to implement Council plans as long as they are

developed according to the procedures set out in the Act and are not

inconsistent with the National Standards at section 301. If there are strong

policy differences between a Council and NMFS that should not be a basis for

NMFS disapproval of a plan. If there are differences of opinion regarding

consistency with the National Standards, some third party should arbitrate

those differences.

Definition of essential habitats and descriptions of protective measures should

be listed as Discretionary Provisions of FMPs under Section 303(b), not under

Required Provisions.
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FMPs should not be subjected to NEPA but any crucial process elements in

NEPA that are not currently in the Act should be added to the Magnuson

process. This would eliminate separate review periods and timetables for plan

development and would streamline the process.

The Regional Director of NMFS should not be allowed to vote on Council

requests for emergency actions and NMFS should be obligated to act on

emergency requests within 30 (or at most 60) days.

Programs to buy out fishing vessels from owners willing to leave the fishery,

whether privately or federally funded, should be used to remove effort from

fisheries where it is necessary.

There are no good reasons for reducing compensation for appointed members.

There are several good reasons for not reducing compensation. Council work

requires great effort and much more time than just that spent in meetings of

committees or the Council. Many truly qualified people would be discouraged

by lower compensation and paid lobbyists or people with strictly personal

interests or agendas would replace them.

Conflict of interest is not a serious problem with the New England Council

(and has not been) but the perception is widespread and it may be a real

problem in some other regions. Perhaps the language offered by the eight

Coimcil chairmen would be appropriate.

We should support addressing the issue of overfishing in a manner that will

make fishery management more effective. However, the 602 guidelines should

not be embodied in the Act. The present language in the Act, along with the

NMFS guidelines, provides the necessary tools to deal with overfishing.
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The Councils should be free to address management needs incrementally

through a series of minor amendments rather than being forced by NMFS

policy concerns to prepare "comprehensive FTvIPs" which may delay useful and

necessary partial measures that could otherwise be quickly implemented to

delay further deterioration in a fishery or stock or to marginally improve

matters.

Mr. Chairman, I reiterate that none of the foregoing views have been formally

adopted by the Council. Almost certainly, some of them will not find unanimous

agreement by all our members — although most may find wide Covmcil support. We

will inform you of the results of our consideration after we have taken up S. 39 for a

discussion at our next meeting

I will be glad to answer any questions.
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This document submitted with the testijnony of 'Philip G. Coates before
the Senate Subcommittee on Oceans and Fisheries, March 4, 1995.

PROPOSED TESTIMONY FOR LEE ANDERSON ON BEHALF OF THl CHAIRS OF THE
EIGHT AEQIONAL FISHERY MANAGEMENT COUNCILS BEFORE A POSSIBLE HEARING
OF THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES FISHERY MANAGEMENT BUBCOMMTmr

COUNCIL COMPOSmON/CONRJCT OF INTEREST

Th« Council Chalrmtn oppoit glvInQ lowtr prlortty to paid •stoelatlon rvprt••ntfflvatlA
making Council appointirtants, btciusa Induttry raprasantativai hava txparlanca and tima
to study Issuai and mattriala aaaoclattd with Council daeislona. Thay alao opposa tha

Gilchrest bill raqulramant for 25% of appointad mambara to hava untvaratty,

anvironmantal or othar non-usar group affiliation. Tha Govarnora and tha Sacrttary can
nominata and appoint from • broad variaty of inttraita. Advlaory Panala ar>d Sclantific

and Statlitical Comminaai atao provlda Input from divaraa bacligrounda.

Tha Chairman opposa mandatory rtcuaa! and abatantlon raquiramanta which would
deprivt tha Council of axpartisa In dabating iasuas and may avan rula out most
Council mambars from voting on eartiln kay laauas.

Tha Council Chairman suQosstad attarnativa languaga to NMFS' procaduros:

1

.

A Council mambar may not vota on any FMP, FMP amandmant, or ragulatlon

proposal which wojid disproportlonataly advantaga that Council mambar bayond
othar Individuals participating in a particular flahary.

2. Upon raquast of any Council mambar. a Council ahall maica a datarmination

whathar an Individual may hava a disproportlonata Irrtaraat In tha daclslon.

3. Council may authoriza participation If tha naad for tha Individual'a participation

outv^alghs tha potartlal diaproportionata Intaraat.

4. Any Intarastad parson with a aubatantlal griavanca may aubmit a raquast to tha

Assistant Administrator, within IB daya aftar tha vota, to ravlaw tha intarast in

quastion and tha Council action. Tha Asalatant Adminiatrator ahail ba raqulrad to

•et not latar than 30 daya aftar racahrtng tha griavanca.

OTHER COUNCIL PROCEDURES

Tha Council Chalrrnan agraa wtth proposal to amand companaating ratas to raflact naw
Ptdarai eompansation iavaia, that la, tha fact that thara ia no bngar a gni* If.

Thay agraad that Councils should ba altewtd to rvtain Mapandant itgal eeurwai.

Thay opposa tha proposad raqulramant for a minimum numbar of Setanttfte and Statistical

Commtnaa and Advisory Panal rmatings. This ahouid ba laft to aach Council to datarmina



25

•c;9'<'ne t9 X^*^' s*'^<^*' th» lifufi b*lng dj:uitad, and butfgtt concimi,

Thty ilio oppoifd th« 2/3 vott propoial and tht proposal to rvquira roll can votai on ail

tiaeliiona.

OVEBFISHINGmfiCOVERY PLANi

Council Chairmen igrtttf that the eurrtnt ovarflthing dtflnitlen In #02 Quldallnta la

uffidant. The Cewmell Chelrmen end Executive Oireeter* expreaaed eencem ever
leglalatlng rebuilding progrtme, aaying that overflahlng rr>ay not neceiiarlly be a reault of

flahing prietleea. for Inatance, the Pacific Counen cKed Pacific aalmen wrhere i
aignifleant amount of their mortality la nen-flahing mortilltv.

The Chairmen agreed that all Counclla aheutd move toward an aeeayttem apprvach.
However, a Congraailonal mandate will only make mar\agement more difficult

without adequatt funding to aehleva the dealrad raault.

With regard to rebuilding plana, thia la bait left to each Council to dotermlna for aach
fichery bated or Information en the ipeclfic fUhery and r«glen.

OBSERVERS

Regerding the GUchrait amendments, The Ceunell Chairmen believe the Counclla already

have the authority to Initiate obaervar plana. It la not necaaaary to amend Act.

HABITAT

Council Chairmen believe the Magnuaon Act ahould allow for diacrationary (rather than

mendatory) deaignatlon of eaaential habitat In PMPa. If aaaential habitat la daalgnated in

an PMP, project propenenta would be required to eenault with NMFS (similar to ESA
Section 7 eenauftatien) en Impact en apeelea In PMP.

Activities by all entftlaa receiving federal funding tar anadremoua flah ahould be required

to be eonsiitent with PMPa and the Act; aetNttiea would be audited at least biannuaiiy.

Chairmen agreed that Counclla rwed to rospond ts the need to provide long-term

protection for eaaential fish habltati, but they need the regulatory tocla to aoeompllah
thia goal, Irwiuding the additional funding required.

OTVIER PEES

The Council Chairmen eonduded that Coundia should be allowed to eatabllah taea for

Impiementetlon end nulntenanea of data collection programs and cemroned oecesa
eyttemt. Peea ahould be asaeased on regional beaia through Ceunell pieni or

eMTTMOA* S
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amendmanti md put In i dedicattd fund to bi u>»d iptclflcallY for proartm for wtJcti
collected. A cap on i9B% ihould be lat.

If the Secritarv Impoiei feei, a lubitantlil amount of the feei collected In a region
ahould go to that region'* programa and th« fe«i collected from foreign tmporu eouW bff

used wherever needed In that particular budget cycle. If the Secretary Imposes faas,

Councils should have Input as to the collection and use of th« fMi.

BYCATCH/WASTE

The Chairmen favored the byeateh danrwnstratJon program. They felt that optlona to

reluct bycatch, waste, and hlgh*gradlng should b« Included In the discretionary part 6f.

Act.

The Chairmen recommended the new National Standard t ahould rtad: "Minimize dla<9<^

of fisheries resources.' Some discards are unavoidable and a cost of doing buitnass.

Chairmen fael the real Issue Is rtducing discard mortality.

602 GUIDEUNES

The Council Chalrnwn balleva the 602 Guldallnaa already a*em to have th« ferca of taW
and the Secretary can reject any racommendatJon which does not eonform to th«

Guidelines and National Standards.

CITIZEN SUITS AND CITIZEN PETITIONS

The Council Chairmen concluded that providing for citizen suits and eMzen patftlons In

the Magnuson Act le not necesssry. Citizens alrvady have a myriad of ways to have

input Into the fishery managamant proeass.

FMP IMPLEMENTATION

The Council Chairman raeommand that ttta Magnuaon Act ba amandad to axtend

authority to Impose amargancy niia to 180 day*, with ona ISO day axtarulon. The
Administration's suggestion of 90 days followad by 270 days would not aoh^ the

problem. If tha first parlod la 180 days, thara will ba ftwar Inataneaa for tha naad

to extend.

With regerd to tha raeommandatlen for 'Intarim maaauraa* In V\9 Gllchraat bm, Chairmen

indicated that a 180 day amargerwy niia with poaalbia axtanaion of 180 days would

make the Imarim maasura unnacaaaary.

Regional Directors should not vota on any amargancy action In any flahary. A unanlmooa

.vote, without tha RD. on amargancy actions, ahould oompal tha Sacratary to act.

ORArr %nem* 3
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Tie An I'lOuW bt irronded to Impoit 60 dtY tlmt limit for Secrttarlil mlon on
rtgij'itory imtnCmarti ind fiquifi wrintn rtiponji d«talllnfl raaioni, If dliipprovad- m
Beieril, tht Council Ch«lrm«n would llkt lom* kind of tlmt fnmt for preetiilng ind
lmp!im»ntino rtQuittory tetloni, almllar to FfvlP tmandnrttnu.

AddKienaliy, PMPi and amandmtnti thould b« axtmpt from thf impact analyaaa
raqulrad by othar appilcaOK law. If txamption la not pciitbia, raqulra oenalatint ravlawa
and tlmt achadulai for MPCMA/NEPA. In ethar werdt, faellitata rtvlaw and approval of

amandmanti by having tha MFCMA and NEPA (intf othar) raviaw parieda ooneurrtnt.

OVERCAFITALIZATION

"Ria Council Chairman baliava tha Counelia naad tha toeii to daal wtth evareapttillsatlon,

but anouid not ba raquirad to tika aptciflc action. Qlvt tha Coundia authority to
raicarch and aitabllsh buyback pregnma If thay ara faasibia for th« flahary Invofvad. It

Wit auggaatad that NMFS davalop a rtvoMng fund for buyback programa.

ALLOCATIONS

Tha Chairman agraad that Congraai ihould net taka § pealtion en whether or net irOs,

COQi, or other alloeetiva programa should ba allewad, but rvthar aectlon 903(b)(6)
should be amended to give the Ceunclla elear authortty to uae ITQa, CDOa. preeeaaor

quotai, etc., wtth luffielant guidelines to pretacttha national Intefeet eslstino

perticipants In the ftaheries, end eenaarvttton of tfte reeourvt.

GEAH

Council Chairman voiced concern that gear restrletlont eeuld be a deterrent to retearch

and development of new and poeai6ty more efficient gear. Ceunclla ahouW preaerve

the ngnt to daterm/ne whether to prohibit certain typea of gear. A pertleuiar geer may be
aecaptabie In one fishery or area and totally Inepproprlate for another. TTie ability to

apply for experimentel permKa now exists and. ilono with Council oversight can provide

protection yet ellow new gears to be tasted.

nSHEniES UNDER MORE THAN ONE COUNOL AintOICTION

The Cheirmen of 3 out of I effeeted Ceunetta recommend return ef Highly Mtgntery
Species in the Atiemie EEZ to the CoutkHs. Theee eppeeed etted budget eoneema as the
reeson to leeve euthorlty wtth NMFS. Four out of B affected Counetls recommend thet

ecttens be approved by • aimpte maiortty ef voting members of ell I Councils combined.

BEST SCIEKTinC INFORMATION AVAILABLE

etuns/as/M
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Th« Council Chalrmtn ccnctudtd thit no tetJon Is r«qu(rtd In thli •r««. Tb« Stcrvtary
mty tlriady diicpprovt •ctlona bai»d on whtthtr or not th« bMt tcitntlflc Information
wat utitlzad. Tha Gllchratt amandmam Indlcatas any aelantitt, not Just mambari of tha

Sdantlfle and Statistical Convrtfnaas, could objact to Council racommandatlons and tha

Sacratary would ba compallad to disapprova.

OTHER ISSUES

Tha Charrnf>an supportad a llnrtit on discloaura of Information collaetad pursuant to tha
North Pacific Rsharlas Rasaarch Plan (Saetlon 313) whan information la not ralavant

flahary managamant Information.

RELATED TO ATLANTIC TUNAS CONVENTION ACT

Council Chairman mada no racommandationa eoncaming ehangaa to tha Atlantic Tunaa
Convantion Act.

FOREIGN FISHING PERMITS FOR TRANSSHIPMENT

Tha Chairman had no raeomnr>andatlon In tha araa of feraign flahfng parmlts for

transshipmant, but strassad tha naad for NMFS to eonaidar apaeific raqulramanta In thair

araas, that la, vaaaal tracking ayatama.

ECONOMIC DATA FROM PROCESSORS

With ragard to tha proposal that procassors ba raqulrad to aubmtt aconomic data, tha

Council Chairman fait that thia Information wm vary apaelfleally axamptad from tha Act
to protact eonfldantlal aconomic data.

3-YEAR UMIT ON CONFIOENTIAUTY OF STATISTICS

Tha Council Chairman oppoaa tha raoommanditten that ataUattea not bo conaldarad

eonfldantlal aftar thraa yaars. Diadoaura of any oonffdantlal Information, particularly aftar

only thraa yaara, eouW dttar flaharman and proeaaaora from divulfling ralabia

Information. It was also polntad out that Statas may not ba wflling to ahara eonfldantlal

data If a future release la agalnat their policy.

NATIONAL DATA COLLECTION PROGRAM

Concerning the NMFS propoaaf fbr a Natienal data collection program, the Council

Chairmen concluded that tha Councils already have tha authority to Inttiata data

ORArr •/S0A4 S
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joriidictlon and tn«ir dita gathering program should ba luffldant. Ona lugstttlon wai
to aat natiorial itandirdi for racordkaaplng ind owning Stataa to agraa and comply.

DATA FROM INTERNAL WATERS RROCESSING OPERATIONS

Tht Chairman agraad on no racommandatloni en tha laaua of rtquinng data from Imarnai

watara proeaailng oparatlerM.

ASSAULT AQAINST DATA COLLECTORS

Tha Council Chairman did not oppoia tt\9 prepoial to prettet data eollaetera.

LARGE SCALE ORIFTNETS

Tha Chairman did not eppoaa to tha propeaal eenctminfl larga aeaia drtttntta.

PERMIT SANCTIONS

Thara wara no raeommondations or eommanta en tha parmit aarwtiona propoaala.

PENALTY AND FORFEITURE FUND

Ttiara wara no rteommandatlona or cemmanta on ttta panatty tnd forfatturt fund
propoaai.

PACIFIC COUNCIL SEAT FOR TBEATY INDIAN

Tha Chairman of tha Pacific Ceundl aald ha would prafar It net ba raatrtetad to ona tarm.

If tribal laadari eoneufrtd. t mambar ahouid ba abta to aervo mora than ona tarm. Thara

was diaeuialon of whathar tha Sacratary of tha Intarier ahouid ba InvoNad in tha

appointmant proeaai.

STKEAMUNID nSMEKY MANAGEMeiT PLANS

Tha Chairman ara In favor of Ineraaaing afflciancY and reducing tha thrta required to

impiamant flahary regulatloni. Thara la aoma ooncam, hewevar, evar tha amount of

latltuda NMFS would hiva In Interpreting Ceuncfl Intent.

aikArrtm/94
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Senator Stevens. Thank you. We will put the document you re-

ferred to in the record.

We will now turn to Ms. Robin Alden, the Maine Commissioner
of Marine Resources, a former member of the regional council
board.

STATEMENT OF ROBIN ALDEN, COMMISSIONER OF MARINE
RESOURCES, STATE OF MAINE, FORMER NEFMC MEMBER
Ms. Alden. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the sub-

committee, Senator Cohen and Representative Longley. Thank you
for providing me with the opportunity to testify on the reauthoriza-
tion of the Magnuson Act on behalf of Maine's Department of Ma-
rine Resources, the agency with statutory responsibility for both
conserving and developing the State's marine resources.

We have submitted written testimony on some aspects of S. 39
and plan to submit additional testimony specifically covering the
buyout program, the sustainable fisheries section, fisheries disaster
relief, individual transferable quotas, the habitat section, and fish-

ery monitoring and research.
Today I will comment on one specific concern about council man-

agement. Unfortunately, the fishery management council system
has become so bogged down in process, requirements, standards,
and definitions that it is no longer a functional conservation mech-
anism. As the person responsible for managing Maine's marine re-

sources, I no longer can count on the council system either to be
able to respond to problems in a timely way or to enact effective

measures when it does act.

This is of tremendous and grave consequence to this State, which
is known for fishing and whose coastal communities have had a
fishing tradition based on over 300 years of fishing. Sustainable
fishing is an essential State priority, and our industry depends on
resources that are managed by the council. Because of this, we can-
not abandon the council and Federal arena.

The irony is that the reason the system is ineffective right now
is because of the very standards and guidelines of the Magnuson
Act designed to make it more effective as a conservation tool. Those
standards have become an obstacle to sensible, responsible fishery

management. The load of analysis and public process which is nec-

essary to prove in this litigious world that the council is meeting
each and every national standard and has a reasonable chance of

avoiding overfishing is literally crippling it.

Specifically, the requirement in S. 39 for plans to include a defi-

nition of overfishing and to prevent overfishing will be counter-
productive to the cause of conservation. This requirement, which
currently is being administered through the 602 guidelines, forces

the council and National Marine Fisheries Service to assert that
they know things thev cannot know. It precludes the common sense
measures that provide incremental improvements in management.
This approach, this incremental approach, has been the backbone
of State management in the northeast, and it has provided very
good results.

The classic example of this problem in the council arena comes
in groundfish. The fact that the Conservation Law Foundation was
able to stop amendment 4 to the New England Council's groundfish
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plan because it did not promise on paper to prevent overfishing ac-

tually resulted in putting off raising the mesh size and closing
spawning areas for over 3 years.

We have one other example that I will mention right now which
borders on the ludicrous. The National Marine Fisheries Service
has told the council that in the lobster plan which is currently
under development if the States do not put compatible rules on at
the same time that the National Marine Fisheries Service is ap-
proving the council plan, they will be unable to approve the plan,
and if that happens the Federal plan will probably be withdrawn,
leaving no management of lobster in Federal waters.

Clearly, this is counterproductive and clearly it's not a respon-
sible situation. However, the requirement to create plans that
promise to prevent overfishing in one fell swoop is the cause of this

problem.
I would just mention that today. I will leave my testimony at this

point and provide more in writing. Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Alden follows:]
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TESTIMONY ON S. 39
SUSTAINABLE FISHERIES ACT

by
ROBIN ALDEN

COMMISSIONER OF MARINE RESOURCES
STATE OF MAINE
March 4, 1995

Samoset Resort, Rockport, ME

Honorable Senators Pressler and Stevens:

Thank you for the opportunity to testify on the reauthorization of the

Magnuson Fishery Conservation and Management Act on behalf of Maine's

Department of Marine Reso;irces, the agency with statutory responsibility

for both conserving and developing the state's marine resoxirces.

Due to the extremely short time frame prior to this hearing, this

department has not been able to develop comments on all aspects of S. 39.

We plan to submit additional testimony, specifically covering the buy-out
program, the sustainable fisheries section, fisheries disaster relief,

individual transferable quotas, the habitat section, and fishery monitoring

and research.

Today I will comment overall on the council system and on the

definition of overfishing, conflict of interest, fishery dependent
communities, and negotiated rulemaking.

Effectiveness of the council system
Unfortunately, the fishery management council system has become

so bogged down in process, requirements, standards, and
definitions that it is no longer a functional conservation mechanism. As
the person responsible for managing Maine's resources, I no longer expect
the council system either to be able to respond to problems in a timely

way or to enact effective measures wiien it does acL

This of tremendous and grave consequence to this state which is

known for fishing and whose coastal commimities have a fishing tradition

based on over 300 years of fishing. Sustainable fishing is an essential state

priority and our industry depends on resources that are managed by the

council. Because of this, we cannot abandon this arena.

The irony is that the very standards and guidelines of the Magnuson
Act designed to make it more effective as a conservation tool have become
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an obstacle to sensible, responsible fishery management The load of

analysis and public process which is necessary to prove -- in this litigious

world - that the coimcil is meeting each and every national standard, and
has a reasonable chance of avoiding overfishing is literally crippling.

Fishing and overfishing take place in a natural system. Our
understanding of that system is, in fact, extremely limited and changes

talce place in that system on a real time basis to which the councils and
National Marine Fisheries Service are unable to respond. We have a
reasonable idea of stock sizes due to the fishery assessment work, but

aside from an intuitive understanding that fishing affects stock size, we
have little precise understanding of what factors determine that size. Our
ability even to know and measure fishing effort in a timely manner is very

limited. The New England Fishery Management Covmcil is currently trying

to create a "crisis" groundfish amendment - Nimiber 7 - and National

Marine Fisheries Service is unable to provide the coimcil with information

about how many boats were groundfishing in 1994.

I applaud your attention to strengthening the Act. However, what is

really needed is to enable the management and fisheries community to

work together to take responsibility for changing the way fishing is done
so that we are harvesting within the means of the resotxrce. That involves

imposing common sense measures that provide incremental Improvements
in management This approach has been the backbone of state

management in the Northeast, and has provided good results.

Definition of Overfishing

Specifically, the requirement in S. 39 for plans to include a definition

of overfishing and to prevent overfishing will be covmterproductive. This

requirement forces the council and National Marine Fisheries Service to

assert that they know things they cannot know. It prevents incremental

measures that would be of benefit to the stock. The classic example of this

was the fact that Conservation Law Foundation was able to stop

Amendment 4 to the New England council's groundfish plan because it did

not promise on paper to prevent overfishing. However, the amendment
would have raised mesh size and dosed spawning areas - things which
would clearly have been beneficial to the stock. As a result, those

measm-es were delayed by several years.

Furthermore, the overfishing definitions are alienating rather than

enlisting the Industry. The American Lobster plan is such an example.

Currently the Gulf of Maine lobster is determined to be 20% overfished.

Maine has an excellent track record of lobster management, and
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participation by fishermen in developing and supporting management
rules. The state conserves breeders through its v-notch, oversize measure,

and seed lobster programs, and juveniles through vents in the traps. After

over 10 years of record landings, preliminary figures for 1994 show that

Maine delivered a 25% increase in landings over the record the year
before, and furthermore that there are a number of other significant

indications of the population's health. Despite this, it is very likely tliat the

definition of overfishing, which has then produced a determination of

overfishing, wiU drive the councils to impose additional niles on the state

that may not be either essential or advisable and wiilch certainly will not

have the support of the lobstering community. This threatens a very
Important element of our existing conservation program.

Fishery Dependent Communities
I support inclusion of a National Standard for fisheries dependent

communities. This is a matter of great importance in eastern Maine and
deserves this level of consideration.

Conflict of Interest

I have concern that the conflict of interest language in S.39 may
exclude the industry people who can contribute most to the council

process. Despite this, I agree that the potential for conflict of interest real

and that the procedures established in S.39 are not imreasonable. I would
prefer to see Congress instruct the coimdls to establish such rules rather

than weighing the process down further with legal requirements which
may prove to be additional stalling mechanisms in an already-slow

process.

It is essential that working people from the fishing industry continue

to be appointed to the fishery management councils. The fisheries

ecosystem and market are both extremely complex, and the knowledge
that is pertinent to quality decisions Is local and detailed. Despite the fact

that it is impossible to get a complete cross-section of the fishery on the

council, the presence of working knowledge among the council members
upgrades the quality of both listening and decision-making. The right

individuals witii that knowledge can lead the industry where no non-
fishing person, or paid lobbyist could.

Negotiated Conservation and Management Measures:

In principle, I strongly support facilitated rulemaking as something

that can be a very a constructive alternative to the normal political process

because it creates a explicit commitment to inclusion of many interests,

each on an equal footing and with fair, Impartial process. In the past, the



35

fishing industry in Maine has called for a fonnal Negotiated Rulemaking

process, to ad(i«ss the process problems they have experienced in the

New England Fishery Management Council and under the previous

administration, the Maine Department of Marine Resources supported that

request

I have two concerns about the draft language:

1. There is no disoission of the council's obligation to use the results of the

negotiation process. The value of facilitated negotiations is that the

expectations are clear and it would be a waste of time and money to

participate in such an exercise without dear understanding about the

expected use of the resulting decisions. My understanding of the value of

the existing Negotiated Rulemaking process is that it is binding on the

agencies that agree to participate.

2. Facilitated negotiation is expensive. Additional funding should be
provided if the councils are to take this on.
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Senator Stevens. Thank you very much. I did notice your other
comments about conflict of interest, which we will take into consid-
eration.

Senator Kerry, do you have any questions?
Senator Kerry, I would like to just ask a couple of very quick

ones, Mr. Chairman. I will not take long.

Admiral you talked about gear regulations and resources. Some
people, particularly at the Boston hearing earlier this morning and
in the past, have suggested that gear requirement are getting too

complicated and they change too quickly. It is getting so expensive
that we might be oetter off with an overall quota, mixed with
maybe some efforts to address the by-catch issue by including some
method of bringing in fish that are part of the by-catch.

Have you looked at that from your point of view? Do you think
there may be an excess of regulatory zeal with regard to fisheries?

Admiral Linnon. Clearly, as we add regulations the enforcement
things gets more complicated and has some resource cost to it. For
example, we have beefed up our presence up on the Banks since

the 12th of December, when those areas were closed.

As far as quotas, I do not know that we have a position on
quotas. I think that is clearly a management question, but it cer-

tainly has some enforcement elements to it. For example, as the
Chairman knows, it can change the length of seasons. We used to

have two 24-hour halibut days in the State of Alaska or Gulf of

Alaska. Now the season, since quotas, is about 8 months. So some
of these things do have enforcement impacts. We are going to have
to see what they are as these quota systems and new regulations
are developed.
And, by the way, we have to, as we always do, provide counsel

to the management council as to how to craft these things to en-

sure that they are enforceable at sea or else make it clear that they
are not.

Senator Kerry. I understand the difficulty you are suggesting,
because you do not have the final say in the budget. You nave to

carry out your responsibilities out, and it is very difficult for you
to sit here and say you do not have enough resources. You oDvi-

ously cannot be put in the position of suggesting that what you do
have, where others have suggested it is enough, is not adequate to

get the job done. So it is difficult.

As I understand, reading between the lines of what you said, de-

pending on what we come out with in the Magnuson reauthoriza-
tion and depending on what regulatory scheme is put in place, you
clearly may have additional demands for enforcement that are

going to require increased resources. Is that fair?

Admiral LiNNON. Yes, sir.

Senator Kerry. That is the bottom line?

Admiral Linnon. That follows, that there would be resource im-
pacts.

Senator Kerry. So we cannot just pass something and not pro-

vide adequate resources and expect it to work?
Admiral LiNNON. Yes, sir, that is correct.

Senator Kerry. Now, Mr. Coates and Ms. Alden, let me just ask
you the only other question I want to ask jointly. At the hearing
we had in Boston earlier, there was an interesting juxtaposition,
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frankly, of the effectiveness of the New England Fishery Council
with that of other regional councils—and I do not ask this question
at all antagonistically but just trying to get your views of this pub-
licly now as we wrestle with how to strengthen the management
structure.

Alaska has zero species at risk at this point. They have closed

whole areas. The Pacific Council has addressed problems between
Washington and Oregon and California for trans-boundary fishing.

Effectively, the bottom line, I think the Senator would tell you, is

the councils made these choices. We, on the other hand, have been
taken to court and we are still struggling. And one of the reasons
in 1990 we had to strengthen Magnuson was the very fact that we
could not seem to get final decisions.

So could you both share with us your perspective, as council
members? Is what is in this Act now sufficient to guarantee con-
servation? Are we still missing the mark, or is there something
special to the structure of the council in New England that has
helped engender this current predicament?
Mr. Coaxes. That is a good question. I would say that, first of

all, I think that the folks in Alaska learned from our mistakes, and
that doesn't only go back to the inception of the Magnuson Act but,

as somebody pointed out, we've been fishing off New England since

probably before the arrival of the pilgrims. And, as a result, a lot

of traditional fishing practices have developed over the years, over
the centuries.

But I think the difference between Alaska and New England is

you could just take a look at the character of the fisheries, and one
of the problems, as it were, in dealing with the character of the
New England fisheries is that a lot of the fisheries here are owner-
operated, small-scale operations which lend themselves to a lot of

differences in terms of an individual's way of fishing, his own par-
ticular method of fishing, style of fishing, versus what seems to be
a much larger scale operation in many of the fisheries in Alaska.
Senator Stevens. Only within the last 5 years, Mr. Coates.
Mr. Coates. The ground fisheries in Alaska?
Senator Stevens. Only within the last 5 years have we seen

really invested-owned activity in our fisheries.

Mr. Coates. Well, I stand corrected on that. But I do know on
the scale of things, I do know it's bigger water and you need bigger
boats and things like that.

But, to go back, I think if somebody chronicles the history of fish-

ing in New England under the Magnuson Act and the decline of

groundfish, the current decline—and they're going to come back;
we're going to bring them back—I think you will find that there's

a series of events here that came together in such a way that it

was virtually impossible for anybody to effectively manage the situ-

ation.

I talk about basically the elimination of foreign fishing, the gen-
eral perception by our fishermen that the substitution of the for-

eign effort by their effort was just not even close to being an equa-
tion. There was no way that we could ever match that effort.

The inability initially to effectively enforce a lot of the rules that
the council put in place, the explosion of capital and technology
that occurred in the late 1970's and 1980's, the development or ex-
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pansion of fisheries, like, for example, the gillnet fishery, which vir-

tually exploded, made the control of fishing mortality very, very
difficult.

And by the time the council finally began to realize and we went
through a series of very rigorous controls at the outset—quotas,
trip limits, all the things that sounded good in terms of fishery
management—and then I think the council made a severe mistake
because they abandoned everything and created basically a 4-year
hiatus while they attempted to come up with a new management
program.
i^d at that time we were probably peaking in terms of the

growth of the fleet, the explosion in fishing effort, but the damage
had been done. In fact, I remember authoring a paper for our little

newsletter back in 1982 expressing concern about the explosion of
the fishing effort and the fact that we were starting to see a de-

cline.

So it is not something the council has not tried to address, but
it is something dealing with a huge number of fishermen, the scale

of operations, and dealing with the ability of fishermen to adjust
and accommodate changes, and basically, I think, in trying to deal
with things on an expedited basis when, as Robin indicated, some
of the process just held us up and frustrated us. I think these all

came together to create the current situation.

We have learned a lot, and I think all of the elements in the cur-

rent Act are there for us to effectively manage the resources. Obvi-
ously there is a need for some adjustments, and we look forward
to working with you on making those.

Senator Kerry. Ms. Alden?
Ms. Alden. I would say that the tools have always been in the

Act, basically from the beginning, to do the job. And I am not sure
that the changes that have been made and that are proposed now
will significantly change the situation. I think that the problems
are on the ground with actually carrying them out, and that it's

very difficult in terms of writing legislation to fix the problem. So
that is the first thing.

Senator Kerry, Is the problem a crisis of willpower?
Ms. Alden. Let me add one other element which has gone into

this. There has been a difference of opinion between National Ma-
rine Fisheries Service and many people, both on the council and in

the industry—and I am saying on the council, not necessarily just
industry representatives—about what are the important measures
to put in order to protect the stocks.

That battleground has ended up playing out in the process of ad-

vice and decision that has gone on between the scientific commu-
nity and the council. So that often when suggestions are put for-

ward the response from the scientific community has been we can't

quantify what vou are suggesting and therefore we cannot tell you
that you can do that, or that you can do it if you want, but we
won't tell you that it will help. You also have to do these other
things.

And that has been a very divisive process in the New England
council. I think it is unfortunate, and some of what I am saying
about these incremental steps that I think are important in fishery

management I would point to Massachusetts, the regulation of in-
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shore Massachusetts waters. Phil Coates and his advisory council

have repeatedly put on rules over the last 10, 15 years that have
closed this area, regulated here, so forth and so on in a way that

I think is very responsible.

That has not been possible. When those types of suggestions

have surfaced in the New England Council, those are suggestions
which would have had widespread industry support or could have
been negotiated to a point where they would have been supported
by the industry. Those have never been accepted as enough and
therefore they haven't been able to go through. And the council has
kind of been locked into a paralysis as a result.

Senator Kerry. Well, I recognize that. I do not want to tie this

up. But that is the problem. If you have a body of evidence in the

scientific community suggesting that it is not enough and the trend
line is continuing down while the council cannot decide, clearly

someone has to make a decision.

Ms. Alden. And, if I may, I think it is unfortunate that it hasn't

been possible to put some of those measures in—closures, mesh
size, things which are intuitively probably not damaging to the

stock. It has been impossible to do those things and, as a result,

the whole community has become frustrated and clearly the indus-

try has become more alienated from the management process than
they would have been if their suggestions had been able to be
taken and implemented.

Senator Kerry. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Stevens. Senator Snowe.
Senator Snowe. To follow up on Ms. Alden, what do you think

about the idea—and this is something that is in the reauthoriza-

tion of the Magnuson Act—about having interim measures that

could be established? Because I know a number of the fishermen
have told me in the past and have expressed this concern that until

the council comes up with a very comprehensive plan, the worst oc-

curs, rather than developing some interim or incremental ap-

proaches to the problem.
Oftentimes, their recommendations have been ignored in the in-

terim, while waiting for a comprehensive plan to be completed.
Ms. Alden. That would be one of the most constructive things

that could happen. I have always looked at it as a former business
owner. I never waited to make business decisions until I had a

complete plan in place. I made a series of plans, adjusting to new
information along the way. And to me the fisheries ecosystem is so

dynamic, the market is so dynamic, that to be effective I believe

that fishery conservation has got to be operated that way.
Senator Snowe. Mr, Coates, last fall when the council was meet-

ing on the partial closure of Georges Bank, I sent a letter rec-

ommending that the council consider displacement measures for

the fishermen. How come the council did not consider any of those

issues before they made a move, a partial closure of the Bank?
Mr. Coates. Well, we are attempting to address displacement. It

is very difficult to predict where a fisherman is going to go and,

as a consequence of the depletion of the stocks that have occurred
prior to the inception of any management regulations, a lot of peo-

ple are exploring new fisheries and getting into areas where they
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probably shouldn't be interacting and creating a lot of conflicts

right now out on the water.
The mechanisms that the council put in place or recommended

last year were a group of emergency actions that were designed to

create a stop-gap measure until we can get our full amendment in

place. And we do have a tool. When you mentioned earlier the idea
of an expedited mechanism for implementing regulations and
change, the current plan in place, which interestingly enough
(amendment 5) would probably work, it's an effort reduction pro-
gram, would probably work had we had some help from the codfish.

The stocks of cod have not been responding in terms of their repro-
ductive capacity and, as a consequence, we have had three very
poor year classes, which adds to the decline of the resource.
But had we had that support we probably wouldn't even have

been looking at frameworks and emergencies or anything else be-
cause amendment 5 would have started to work and I think we
would have seen some positive results from it. But we were forced
to take very dramatic actions under the emergency rule and then
use the frameworks to back them up, which are now going through
the process and will be submitted by the council to the Federal
Government.
They are creating a lot of displacement right now. But again the

same mechanisms for us to address displacement are the kind of
things that probably need to be in the Act, like a buyout, a
buyback. It would be ideal if we had a buyback in place at the time
we said we have now got to close these three areas, we have now
got to implement large mesh only in a huge part of the Gulf of

Maine and southern New England.
We didn't have them in place, and our major goal right now is

to try and prevent further depletion of the stock. We would love to

have mechanisms to deal with displacement, but a lot of them are
tricky. You just cannot tell a fisherman, because you have been
fishing on Georges Bank we are not going to let you fish in the
Gulf of Maine. I mean, take a look at the legal implications of that.

It's not an easy thing to sort out and try and avoid.

Senator Snowe. But do you not think you have the authority to

consider displacement regulations?
Mr. CoATES. I do not think we would have the authority to make

those kinds of decisions. We might not have the information to be
able to precisely say because you are a big boat fishing on Georges
Bank you now can't go fish in the Gulf of Maine.
Senator KERRY. Wriy do you think you do not have the authority,

if you would yield?

Mr. COATES. Well, I think to get into that kind of rulemaking
under the current plan, we don't have that capability under the
frameworking mechanism in the current plan, for one thing. And
I think it deals with things like—well, it deals with legal issues

that I think we need guidance on by NOAA general counsel. It is

certainly something we could pose when we go back, but I think
if we put a vessel size limit in, for example, that would discrimi-

nate against vessels currently fishing in the Gulf of Maine, that are

larger vessels that have traditionally fished there.

So there were no easy mechanisms to deal with a guy in a big
boat wanting to go from here to there as he sought some alter-



41

native and continued to fish, except the direct removal of effort

through something like a buyout or a buyback or temporary retire-

ment or some kind of a subsidization program, all of which the Ca-
nadians use, I might add, in dealing with their crisis up in New-
foundland and now the Scotian shelf.

Senator Snowe. Thank you. Admiral Linnon, a couple of ques-
tions. Many have said to me in the fishing industry that as fishery

management plans become more complex they are more difficult to

enforce. Have you found that to be true?
Admiral Linnon. Of course. But we have tried to do a couple of

things, and one is to build some guidance for our boarding officers

that is certainly more clearly worded than some of the regulations
themselves.

Part 2, as I mentioned in the statement, we have changed the
focus of the little school we had down at Otis to be directed at

teaching boarding officers how to apply these regulations and how
to enforce them. We not only teach it with our own people; we
teach it with NMFS agents, with NMFS scientists, and with fisher-

men. And we not only include our own people as students but also

State enforcement folks and others.

So we acknowledge that as this gets more complicated it gets
more difficult to enforce, but we think we have addressed that
question and will come out of it OK
Senator Snowe. Are you fam^iliar with the Coast Guard's pro-

posal to close the Eastport Coast Guard station?

Admiral LiNNON. Yes, ma'am.
Senator Snowe. Can you tell me what the impact would be on

the fishing industry? That has been critical in an area that is re-

mote and in fact has saved lives of fishermen in the past just in

recent years.

Admiral LrNNON. As you may know, that is part of a service-wide
consolidation of coastal stations that in part is driven by the budg-
et, of course, and it is the outcome of a study that was done a cou-
ple of years ago that looked at where the work was and where the
resources were. It recognizes that when we built these stations we
used to row out to people and now we can get there at 25 knots.

And there are resource changes up and down the coast that

would add people and boats to other stations that should be able

to pick up the workload of Eastport.
Senator Snowe. Thank you.
Admiral LiNNON. You are welcome.
Senator Stevens. Senator Cohen.
Senator Cohen. Mr. Chairman, I think just for the record I

would point out that Governor King, I believe, is still sitting in the
audience. He addressed the forum today and he has remained here
to show his interest, and I just wanted to acknowledge his presence
here.

If I could follow up on what Senator Snowe was saying, I gath-

ered, Mr. Coates, that the implication was that while we welcome
Massachusetts leaders to Maine we are not so hospitable to Massa-
chusetts fleets coming into the Gulf of Maine, and are looking for

ways in which we mignt deal with that.

I understand that the council has not taken a formal position on
a buyout proposal; is that right?
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Mr. CoATES, The council may not have taken a formal position,

but I think if you polled the council you would find that the major-
ity of them support some means of rapidly taking effort out of the
fishery, and the obvious or popular choice at this time seems to be
a buyout.
Senator Cohen. Well, I would like to turn to Ms. Alden. You

have gone from the world of journalism now to the world of realism
in government management. [Laughter.]

Senator Cohen. Do you foresee the State being able to come up
with money that would be necessary for buyout? Now we have
heard a lot of numbers tossed about, anywhere from $200 million

to $400 million. Even cutting that in half to $100 million—and the
bill that has been introduced by Senator Kerry and Senator Ste-

vens would call for 50 percent Federal participation—we are still

looking at a lot of State dollars and other dollars.

Do you foresee the State being in any position to contribute to

such a buyout?
Ms. Alden. With deference, my boss is in the back of the room.

[Laughter.]
Senator Stevens. Governor King, would you like to join us up

here?
Senator Kerry. I think the Governor wants to stay back there.

Governor King: The answer is no. [Laughter.]

Senator Cohen. Well, that takes care of that.

Would you agree, both Mr. Coates and Ms. Alden, that you would
probably have to have some sort of strict limited entry in order to

make this effective? If so, how long would such a strict limited

entry have to be in place? My understanding is that the Maine in-

dustry has been opposed to such a concept in the past, so where
does that leave us?
Ms. Alden. That is right. That is one of the major issues about

a buyout program, and in the discussions that I have been aware
of in the industry people have basically tried to weigh two things.

I think with reference to the pilot program that has been an-
nounced one of the excellent things about having the opportunity
to think this through in reality in a pilot is a chance to try to de-

fine those issues, and I think you have hit on one of the most im-
portant issues of all.

One of the things that people forget about is that if all of this

works we may also have a lot of fish at some point, and we need
to plan, at the same time that we're thinking about shrinking the

industry, we need to figure out what mechanism we're going to use
to be able to allow the industry to adjust to increased stocks in the
long run. And that is a big job.

Senator Cohen. Well, the point is we have got a lot of examina-
tion to conduct in terms of exactly how such a buyout is going to

be structured, assuming. No. 1, the money is going to be there. No,

2, how can you make it really effective so you do not just buy out
some boats and those boats go elsewhere, or you see a situation

where they are simply replenished by others coming in. Then the
question becomes, those who remain who have access to replen-

ished stocks, what sort of compensatory obligation would they
have, if any.
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I think all of those have to be addressed before there is a full-

fledged commitment to the buyout concept. We have to raise these

issues, and I think really answer them, before we can all go on
record as being strongly in favor of it.

Ms. Alden. If I may, I agree with you completely. People have
been talking to me all weekend about these various issues, and the

Governor and I have discussed the fact that we need to continue

to examine this, and those are the issues that are on the table.

Senator Cohen. That is all I have, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Senator Stevens. Congressman, do you have a question?
Mr. LONGLEY. Yes. Ms. Alden, your testimony argues for the fact

that there are apparent limits to language and process and even
science in terms of our ability to measure the problem, and you
seem to suggest that we need to provide for a more intuitive ability

to act based on the problem. Could you comment on that? Is that

a fair characterization?
Ms. Alden. That is a fair characterization of where I wish we

could be, because I don't believe that we right now know enough
to be able to fine-tune this ecosystem and match precisely effort to

where the fish stocks are and so forth.

I think Senator Cohen's comment about me joining the real world
of fisheries management, I'm aware that we have a legal structure

which requires that we be fair and allows people recourse and so

forth and recognize that any government action requires a tremen-
dous amount of justification in order to be sure that it's appropriate
for all of the constituents.

However, I would agree that I would be arguing that rather than
adding additional—rather then from the top trying to suggest
through the Magnuson Act that there is an additional checklist of

things that have to be proved in order to make sure that this, as

Senator Kerry said, that there isn't a crisis of willpower and that

the councils do in fact act, I would rather see there be a lessening
of the strict requirements so that the council is able to do some
things which don't promise to do everything but are able to be con-

structive toward conservation.
Mr. Longley. Just to follow up, and I want to touch for a minute

on the issues that relate to the buyout, I want to be honest with
the people in this room, and I think we all understand that Wash-
ington has some serious money problems, and that coming up with
the money for a buyout in Washington may elicit the same answer
that is has just elicited firom Augusta.
On that line, are there other measures that we should be acting

on immediately designed either to develop a form of a moratorium
or cap or somehow or other begin to identify those who are cur-

rently participating in the fishery, to at least try to conserve effort

on the basis of perhaps restricting entry to it on some temporary
basis? Or are there other measures that you might think would be
appropriate?
Ms. Alden. I think I would love to defer to Mr. Coates, who has

been leading the groundfish effort in the council on that, because
there are a number of things that are in place right now, and the

council is struggling right now with the fact that any additional ad-

justment to the groundfish plan beyond the frameworking process
is over a year away.
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Mr. LONGLEY. I might just interject part of the reason for my
question is that many of the issues that I am hearing discussed
are, frankly, the same issues I heard discussed over a year ago,

and I am very sensitive to the suggestion that we seem to be
caught up in process and procedure and not getting the actions

taken that we need to protect the resource.

Mr. COATES. With regard to the specific question about mora-
toria—and I heard somebody mention Hmited entry earher, one of

the Senators—there are within the two major plans that the coun-
cil has under its responsibility moratoriums already implemented,
for both the sea scallop and the groundfish plan.

The groundfish plan has some exceptions and the scallop plan
has exceptions, but they apply mostly to small-scale vessels, I think
vessels under 45 feet, and vessels using hooks in the groundfish
plan, and people fishing for less than 400 pounds of scallop meat
in the scallop plan. So those moratoriums are already in place, and
there are moratoriums proposed for the lobster plan, again in Fed-
eral waters—I want to make that clear, since we are in Maine

—

and also some of the Mid-Atlantic council plans are proposing
moratoriums and limited access.

The surf clam ocean fishery, as you well know, has been
privatized essentially. The resource has been allocated to the users.

And the scallop plan seems to be going in that direction. At least

we are going out with scoping hearings looking at a variety of al-

ternatives, ranging from consolidation of permits, days at sea, to

ITQs. So a lot has been done to control the amount of participation

already through the moratoria, and I am sure as the plans evolve
they are going to become even more restrictive.

In fact, one of the alternatives to the current amendment that is

being developed for the groundfish would basically take amend-
ment 5 and eliminate all the exemptions in terms of participation

so nobody could fish for groundfish except recreational fishermen
without some kind of an access permit.
Mr. LoNGLEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Stevens. The testimony we had in Boston this morning

was to the effect that if the buyout took place, there would be just

a substitution of increased efficiency and technology in the remain-
ing vessels, and the problem would be the same. Do you have the
same feeling here?
Mr. CoATES. I would say again in the groundfish plan the nature

of the moratorium puts limitations on certain aspects of the capac-

ity of a vessel. They can't increase their overall length, horsepower,
and I think there are some other parameters, more than 10 per-

cent. There is a similar capacity restriction in terms of replacement
or substitution in the scallop plan.

Beyond that, there is certainly potential for fishermen to recoup
days. This is one of our major concerns. Rather than go to the di-

rect limit of fishing activities through quotas, we have backed off

of it and said days at sea are the equivalent of a direct catch quota.

So that is what we regulate. We know there is a lot of potential

for recoupment and readjustment by fishermen. But we have taken
care of the major capability of a small boat being substituted by a
big boat.



45

Senator Stevens, Admiral, I will not question you about it, but
I would urge that vou ask your people to give some assistance on
your statement wnere you say, "I believe the fishing industry
would be better served by standards of simple negligence with re-

spect to damage." I think it would be helpful if you would give us
some idea as to how you think we could deal with that, because we
had a similar comment too on that in Boston. We will be trying to

follow through on it.

I would just say to this panel, rather than ask any further ques-
tions, I introduced the first 200-mile limit bill because of a flight

that I took with the Coast Guard from Kodiak to the Pribilof Is-

lands and encountered over 100 factory trawlers from Japan vacu-
um-cleaning the bottom of our sea. It took us a while to get the bill

passed. I was in the minority, and my good friend who was the
chairman of the Committee, Senator Magnuson, gave me permis-
sion to hold hearings all over the country and all over Alaska and
assigned me his staff. As a matter of fact, the majority staff worked
with me for a period of time.

I felt indebted to him and was the one who named the Act after

him. It became the Magnuson Act. I only say this. The Act was de-

signed to protect the species. We took on, at the Federal level, the

duty of protecting the reproductive capability of our fisheries with-

in the 200-mile limit. We assigned to regional councils a portion of

the Federal authority, asked the States to delegate part of their au-
thority to the regional councils, and in effect created a new level

of government to try and protect the intersection between users
and States and, particularly, to protect fishermen or anyone else

that had an interest in the fisheries.

The mandate from the Federal Government was that the species,

the product, and the capability of reproduction was of Federal in-

terest, had Federal interest, and that was that our real main goal

with the 200-mile limit bill, the Magnuson Act.

I think I am not going to comment, as someone not from this

area, about the adequacy of our council vis-a-vis yours, but I do
think that the problem really is that it is too bad we do not have
our old friend Senator Rollings here. He said, well, you knew your
enemy then, but vou do not know who your enemy is now. It is us.

I think we had better find a way to find the solutions to some
of these problems within the existing system, because even if we
move at the pace we think we can move, we will not have this bill

for you until October. So you are ^cl.ig to have to proceed under
the existing law to meet your problems now, and I urge you to do

so.

I want to thank the witnesses. I appreciate it very much.
Yes, Senator Kerry.
Senator Kerry. I just wanted to make one comment. As we talk

about the buyback and where we are going here. Senator Cohen is

right. There are questions, and that is why John Bullard is sitting

here. He is meeting with people during the course of the weekend.
And we are going to be trying to find out exactly what the real de-

mand for this buyout is, how you can implement it fairly, and
where we go from here.

But we have got to recognize some hard realities here. It is our

job to try to do that, all of us. Scientists tell us that the oceans can
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support about 100 million tons of fish product being taken out of

them. We are at that level now. And I am told that, at the current
rate of population increase, the demand for increased fish products
will jump in the next 10 or 15 years—possibly double.

Clearly if boats continue to act as if this is just the normal free

enterprise system, where you can go out and treat seafood as the
normal product that you can sell to meet demand, we are in trou-

ble. Those days are gone. They are absolutely gone.
Now, if we are going to treat this industry with the notion that

we want it to survive, we want fishing to be here in 10 or 15 years,

we have got to recognize what has happened. When Ted Stevens
and Gerry Studds and others worked to get the 200-mile limit, we
got rid of the Russians and Japanese, but we rushed in, and you
had an enormous period of capitalization.

So the truth is that the fishing industry is not what the fishing

industry has been for the last 10 or 15 years. And the traditional

fishing industry of the past 300 years is even further away than
that. What we need to do is think about how to get back to a sus-
tainable fishery. You are not going to have a sustainable fishery if

all you do is think you can bring the stock back and then everybody
who has a boat today is going to go back and fish at the same level

they were before. It is not possible.

And the price of fish, obviously, will affect this. I mean, how
many boats are going to survive is going to depend to a degree on
the demand you have and what the price of fish is. But I think you
are going to need the buyout in order to bring you down to the level

where you can manage sufficiently the future of the industry—rec-

ognizing that even with increased technology on those fewer boats
you have the ability to bring back probably just as many fish or

close to it.

And that is why the management is going to be so key. But the
price will go up and it will go up sufficiently that fewer
fisherpeople will be able to bring in less fish and still make ade-
quate money to pay those boats and have a decent living. But they
will not be able to do it if the same number of fishermen are chas-
ing fewer fish under a stricter regiment. That is where we are.

Now there are things we can do to maybe augment fish supplies

by offshore aquaculture to a degree. But we have got to remember
that, if whatever farming you do offshore relies on the natural
habitat, then the marine ecosystem is not necessarily going to sup-
port that increase of fish. So you come back to this vicious cycle.

This is not whiskey we are selling. This is not something that we
can make with an endless supply of water and mix with other
incredients. This is a life cycle. And so the whole ecosystem is de-

pendent on whatever happens to the eel grass that feeds it. There
are biological limits, and we have lived as if there were no limits.

So I think we are going to have to think about this in terms of

a national disaster, frankly, and push for a one-time buyout. The
United States has spent hundreds of billions of dollars sustaining
farmers who are not farming. We are not asking for that. We are
asking that people not face tne hardship of losing their homes and
their families, that they are able to make a difference here in what
is now going to be a very different world. And that is why I think
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State, local, and Federal governments have got to think about how
to put that program together.
Senator Stevens. Thank you very much. Thank you.
I will now call the next panel and, if I may, ask Ms. Angela

Sanfilippo to join it. We have Jeff Kaelin, Dennis Frappier, Brad
Burns, Jennifer Atkinson, and Philip Conkling.

I am certain it is very frustrating to have us come this far and
then turn a red light on you. But this time around we are not only
going to turn the red lignt on you, but we are going to turn it on
ourselves. So we are going to limit you to 5 minutes, and then we
are going to limit each of us to 3 minutes in asking questions of
you so we can get on with the hearing. Mr. Kaelin?

STATEMENT OF JEFFREY H. KAELIN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
MAINE SARDINE COUNCIL

Mr. Kaelin. Nice to see you again. Senator Stevens.
Senator Stevens. Nice to see you.
Mr. Kaelin. Senator Stevens, Senator Kerry, Senator Cohen,

Senator Snowe, and Congressman Longley, I am Jeff Kaelin, the
Executive Director of the Maine Sardine Council. I thank you very
much for coming to the Maine Fishermens Forum to hold this hear-
ing on the Sustainable Fisheries Act today.
The Maine Sardine Council is an association of the four compa-

nies which produce sardines and other canned herring products
here in Maine. These 4 companies operate 6 canneries and employ
1,000 people in an industry which began here more than 120 vears
ago. Maine is the only State in the Nation producing canned sar-

dines.

Our industry uses some 35,000 metric tons of Atlantic herring to

produce almost $50 million in canned herring products. The nsh
that our canneries depend upon are harvested by fishermen, mostly
independents, from New Jersey to New Brunswick. Maine's lobster

industry also uses about 20,000 metric tons of Atlantic herring for

bait, much of this coming from cuttings generated by sardine proc-

essing plants.

Our sardine industry has been able to survive the heavy foreign

fishing pressure on the Georges Bank and Gulf of Maine herring
stocks which took place before the establishment of the FCMA, the
Magnuson Act, nearly 20 years ago. During that time, however, our
industry has become considerably smaller and has lost substantial

domestic market share to more than 40 exporting nations. Growth
in our industry is again taking place, with a new focus on develop-

ing markets in some 30 different areas of the world.

Today the region's Atlantic herring resource is believed to be in

good condition, although no Federal fisheries management plan is

in place and no stock assessment work is ongoing. Spawning area

closures, the only management measure in place, are enforced by
the States organized within the Atlantic States Marine Fisheries

Commission.
In part, because our regional council is unable to elevate herring

management to a higher priority, given its ongoing responsibilities

to manage a host of other fisheries, we are concerned that Federal
policies designed to shift groundfish fishing effort into some
"underutilized species," particularly in the Gulf of Maine, could
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have a serious negative impact on our industry's sustainability. We
believe it is time to be cautious about attracting new entrants into

the Gulf of Maine herring fishery.

While there are some changes to S. 39 which we would like to

see made, there are many provisions in it which we support. On
balance, I think that the bill represents a strong statement in sup-
port of the council management system, and provides for a greater
role for the fishing industry in the management of its own future.

Rather than seeking to assess blame for the fisheries manage-
ment system's failures by sanctioning one group or another, the bill

establishes some new ideas and opportunities which we believe can
be enhanced to help all of us to eventually realized our shared
goal—that sustainable fisheries based upon innovative, true eco-

system approaches to management will come about as a result of
our collective efforts.

In truth, we know little about how to manage our oceans and
produce a sustainable supply of seafood. Marine fisheries manage-
ment is an inexact evolving process that needs our commitment
and interest, initiative, investment, and ideas to be successful.

Because of the complexity of the issues involved in S. 39 and be-
cause of the limits of time, I am unable to state for you all of our
views, but I do have a written statement that I know will be placed
into the record. I do want to take a couple of minutes to comment
on a few provisions in the bill before I close.

We support the establishment of the authority for the councils to

utilize negotiation panels to work toward consensus on difficult

management measures. This provision works to empower the fish-

ing industry as an ally with the Federal Government in working
toward sustainable management policies. We commend the commit-
tee for rejecting the advice of some critics who have maintained
that industry cannot be trusted in responsibly managing the re-

sources that it depends upon.
We support the concept of a buyout of excess fishing capacity in

fisheries where resource emergencies have occurred. We agree with
many others and we want to thank you, Senator Cohen and Sen-
ator Snowe, for your support for developing this concept here in

Maine. Buyout assistance is needed today not only to reduce the
shock of adjusting to New England's groundfish crisis in the
human terms of families potentially being displaced from homes
tied up in boat mortgages, but to avoid the rapid potential over-

capitalization of other fisheries in the region which may be fully

utilized or close to it.

We strongly support the statutory clarification that U.S. fish

processors may be holders of an ITQ. We concur with your com-
ments, Senator Stevens, in the Congressional Record of January 4,

that this bill simply clarifies that the councils have this tool to use
at their discretion and does not require its use.

We strongly support the identification of essential fisheries habi-
tat by the Secretary and the councils but believe the bill needs to

be strengthened to require that councils comment on any Federal
or State activities which may have an adverse impact on each fish-

ery in its jurisdiction. The bill's requirement that councils must
comment only on activities affecting anadromous fish does not go
far enough.
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The ecosystem management section of the bill should be ex-
panded so that fishery mortality by animal predators can be as-
sessed, along with an assessment of fishing mortality, in the an-
nual report to Congress which the bill would require.
And, finally, we are in strong support of the bill's moratorium on

the directed foreign harvest of Atlantic herring and mackerel to
allow for the maximum domestic regional development of these re-
sources. This provision would not impede over-the-side sales of
these species to foreign processors in order to provide additional
markets for area fishermen. During the past 5 or 6 years, it is clear
that a directed fishing allocation is not necessary in order to estab-
lish JVs in this region.

Senator Snowe, thank you very much for your work this week in
seeking to have this provision attached to the foreign fishing bill

which the subcommittee is seeking to move. The opposition to this
provision that surfaced this week points out precisely why this
amendment is necessary. The situation on this coast that we are
seeking to secure represents the same problem that you. Senator
Stevens, worked against and were successful within Alaska more
than 10 years ago. We need the time to allow our fishermen and
processors to develop these resources without the interference of
those who would give away our fish for personal gain in other
areas of the world.
Ocean Trawl's objection to this provision would trade east coast

mackerel and herring for the opportunity for their Norwegian-built
factory vessels to fish in the Soviet zone. We cannot allow this kind
of situation to interfere with our attempts to create sustainable
fisheries in this region. A healthy herring stock is not only impor-
tant to Maine's sardine and lobster industries, but is vital to the
needs of the groundfish resources which we are spending millions
of dollars to restore.

On behalf of our industry, I want to thank you again for being
here and for giving me the opportunity to talk with you about this

bill. I look forward to working with you and your staffs over the
next few weeks and months as you develop it further, and I hope
that I can answer any questions that you may have for me.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Kaelin follows:]
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Subcommittoa on Oceans and Fisheriaa, Page 1
Jeff Kaelin, Maine Sardine Council

Senator Stevens, Senator Cohen, Senator Snowa, Senator
Kerry, I am Jeff Kaelin, the Executive Director of the Maine
Sardine Council. Thank you for coming to our Maine Fishermen's
Forum to hold this hearing of the Subcommittee to aoliclt our
views on s. 39, the Sustainable Fisheries Act.

The Maine Sardine Council Is an association of the four
companies which produce sardines, and other canned herring
products, here in Maine. These four companies operate six
canneries - located between Bath and Lubec, Maine - and employ
1000 people in an industry which began in Maine more than 120
years ago. Maine is the only state in the nation producing
canned sardines.

Our industry's annual payroll approaches JIO million. In
1993, our industry utilized nearly 35,000 metric tons of Atlantic
herring to produce more than $45 million in canned herring
products. The fish that our canneries depend upon are harvested
by fishermen from New Jersey to New Brunswick. Maine's lobster
industry also utilized 17,000 metric tons of Atlantic herring for
most of its bait demand in 1993.

Maine's sardine industry has bean able to survive the heavy
foreign fishing pressure on the Georges Bank and Gulf of Main©
herring stocks which took place before the establishment of the
Fishery Conservation and Management Act nearly 20 years ago.
During that time, however, our Industry has lost substantial
domestic market share to more than 40 exporting nations. Growth
in our industry is again taking place with a new focus on
developing markets in some 30 different areas of the world.

Today, the region's Atlantic herring resource is believed to
be in good condition although no federal fisheries management
plan is in place and no stock assessment work is ongoing.
Because our regional council is unable to elevate herring
management to a higher priority - given its ongoing
responsibilities to manage a host of other fisheries - we are
concerned that federal policies designed to shift groundflsh
fishing effort onto "underutilized species" - particularly in
the Gulf of Maine - could have a serious negative impact on our
industry's austainability.

While there are some changes to S.39 which we would like to
see made, there are many provisions in it which we support. On
balance, we think that the bill represents a strong statement in
support of the Council management system and provides for a
greater role for the fishing industry in the management of its
own future

.
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Rather than seeking to assess blame for our fisheries
management system's failures by sanctioning one group or another,
the bill establishes some new Ideas and opportunities which we
believe will help all of us to eventually realize our shared goal
that sustainable fisheries - based upon innovative ecosystem
approaches to ocean management - will truly come about as a
result of our collective efforts.

In truth, we know little about how to manage our oceans to
produce a sustainable supply of seafood. Marine fisheries
management is an inexact, evolving process that needs the
commitment of all of our initiative, Interest, investment, and
ideas. In behalf of Maine's Sardine Industry, I want to thank
each of you for your efforts in developing this legislation and
continuing to support our seafood industry. We look forward to
continuing to work with you and your staffs on further developing
this legislation during the next few weeks and months. Our
commentB on specific portions of S. 39 appear below.

SEC. 102. FINDINGS; PURPOSES; POLICY.

We support adding the recognition that habitat loss has
contributed to a reduction in fishing opportunities to this
section of the Act.

SBC. 103. DEFINITIONS.

We Btrongly support the definition of "individual transferrable
quota" to include a quantity of fish authorized to be processed.

SEC. 107. PERMITS FOR FOREIGN FISHING.

We strongly support the moratorium on the directed foreign
harvest of Atlantic herring through December 1, 1999 - to allow
for the maximum domestic development of this resource.

SEC. 109. NATIONAL STANDARDS.

While we support the addition of the goal of rebuilding stocks in
the development of conservation and management measures, we are
strongly opposed to the removal of the language, "for the United
States fishing industry" in National Standard 1. This change is
inconsistent with the bill's own concern for the potential
displacement of the industry when developing sustainable
development strategies and is in opposition to one of the primary
purposes of the Act - "to promote domestic commercial and
recreational fishing under sound conservation and management
principles."
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SEC. 110. REGIONAL FISHZRY MANftGEMENT CQUNr^Lg.

We support the establishment of the authority for the councils to
utilize negotiation panels to work towards consensus on difficult
management measures. The notification process that the bill
requires for establishing negotiation panels is very lengthy,
however. Establishment within 30 days should not be difficult
given the attention that every fishing industry sector gives to
the Council process today. This provision works to empower the
fishing industry - enlisting the Industry as an ally in working
towardB managing sustainable fisheries. We commend the Committee
for rejecting the advice of some critics of the fisheries
management process who maintain that industry can not be trusted
in managing the resources that it depends upon, in partnership
with the federal government.

We do not believe that conflicts of interest are of great concern
within the New England Fishery Management Council although we
recognize that this issue has taken on a national focus. We can
support the approach taken in the bill - which requires the
Secretary to consult with the Council's before developing
guidelines on recusing policies - although we would prefer that
each Council develop their own guidelines based upon regional
sensibilities.

Some areas of Council reform suggested in the bill represent
regulatory overkill. Examples are; the development of criteria
for written and oral statements made to Councils, the requirement
that Council chairmen formally submit minutes of Council meetings
to the secretary, and the requirement that a Council member who
recused him or herself from a vote must state for the record how
they would have voted.

SEC. 111. FISHERY MANAGEMENT PLANS.

We strongly support the identification of essential fish habitat
in plans and the requirement that Federal actions, which should
be considered to promote the long-terra protection of essential
fish habitat, should be identified.

While we support the Councils' working with the Secretary to
develop guidelines for the allocation of Individual transferable
quotas (ITQ's), we are opposed to these being promulgated as
"mandatory guidelines" and suggest that the nature of guidelines
is that they are not intended to be mandatory.

In addition to asking the Secretary to establish ITQ guidelines,
the National Marine Fisheries service (NMFS) should also be
required by Congress to develop administrative cost estimates for
ITQ fiaharies.
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The 4-5% cap suggested for ITQ fishery fees contained in the
bill seems high and premature until administrative cost estimates
can be developed. We would also like to see the bill amended so
that these fees would be retained in r-^gional, dedicated funds to
support regional fishery management needs.

We support the establishment of an advisory panel on ITQ's. This
mechanism will allow those who may be affected by the
implementation of this management tool to help develop a better
understanding of the implications of its use.

We strongly support the bill's statutory clarification that U.S.
fish processors may be holders of an ITQ. We concur with
Chairman Steven's statement in the Conoressional Record of
January 4, 1995 that, "(o)ur bill simply clarifies that the
Councils have this tool to use at their discretion - it does not
require their use." Not providing this tool, now that it la
clear that the National oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's
(NOAA) general counsel's office believes that the Act does not
allow fisheries allocations to processors, would create a bias
against the importance of the investments in fisheries which the
shoreside processing sector has made throughout the nation since
the establishment of the Act.

SEC. 113. ECOSYSTEM MANAGEMENT.

The proposed annual report to Congress on the status of fisheries
within the councils' jurisdictions - by only focusing on fishing
mortality - does not represent a real move towards ecosystem
management. These reports should also Include an essential
habitat assessment for these fisheries, in addition to an
assessment of marine mammal and other predator impacts. Marine
mammal predator impacts should be accompanied by an assessment of
whether or not these populations are at or are approaching their
optimum sustainable size (OSP) . Until OSP thresholds are
Identified, so that animal predators may be controlled if
appropriate, true ocean ecosystem management can not be realized
and states will be unable to manage predator problems occurring
in their waters.

We strongly support the identification of essential fisheries
habitat by the secretary and the Councils but the bill needs to
be strengthened to require that Councils comment on any Federal
or State activities which may have an adverse impact on each
fishery in its jurisdiction. The bill's requirement that
Council's must comment only on activities affecting anadromous
fish does not go far enough.

Federal and State agency responses to Council concerns about
activities which may have an adverse impact on essential
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fiahariOB habitat should be required to be published by the
Councils, or the Secretary, so that the public can understand
those responses and react accordingly.

We are opposed to the provision that would give the Secretary the
authority to impose an emergency action without consulting with
the appropriate council.

We support the provision that would allow the Secretary and the
Councils to quickly act together to establish necessary closures
or other actions by limiting existing requirements for extensive
public notice and comment. The New England Council has been
frequently frustrated in attempting to establish emergency
closures to protect concentrations of Juvenile groundflsh due to
these requirements, imposed by NOAA lawyers.

SBC. 114. STATE JURISDICTION.

We support the requirement that Internal waters processing
vessels submit reports on fish received from U.S. vessels.

SEC. 117. ENFORCEMEHT.

W© support the requirement that the Secretary and the Coast
Guard, In consultation with the Councils, make an annual report
on the adequacy of federal enforcement capabllltleB with
recommendations for improving the enforcement of fisheries
violations.

We support the concept of the development of "Fishermen's
Information Networks" to help improve the success of fisheries
enforcement activities and strongly recommend that this kind of a

mechanism be expanded to include fishermen's (and fish
processors') input in improving fisheries research capabilities,
within the jurisdictions of the individual Councils.

SEC. 119. TRANSITION TO SUSTAINABLE FISHERIES.

We support the authorization for cooperative efforts to create
sustainable development strategies for fisheries classified as

overfished.

We support the concept of a buy-out of excess fishing capacity in

fisheries where resource emergencies have occurred. Time,
however, is not on our side unless this authorization can be
quickly enacted. The development of a widely accepted buy-out
program will take a significant amount of time. Buy-out
assistance la needed today - not only to reduce the shock of
adjusting to New England's groundflsh crisis, in the human terms
of families potentially being displaced from homes tied up in
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boat mortgages - but to avoid the potential rapid
overcapitalization of other fisheries in the region which may
already be fully utilized.

We agree with the subcommittee that a limited entry scheme has to
be In place in order for a buy-out program to accomplish the
desired goal of reducing fishing capacity, at least until the
resource recovers. We disagree that a vessel purchased through a
buy-out program should be utilized in any other U.S. fishery -

particularly In the New England region given the huge amount of
fishing capacity already existing here.

Rather than attempting to create a buy-out program's parameters
in the bill/ the Committee should consider requiring the
Secretary to immediately create the proposed buy-out task force
BO that criteria for a New England buy-out program can begin to
be created. Establish the criteria through a task force first,
get Council approval to move ahead, and find the funds.

Because a buy-out program is being considered due to a natural
resource disaster, federal funds are appropriate. If the
political will can be developed, the money can be found.
California earthquakes, Florida hurricanes, and Mexican peso
devaluations have produced similar responses in recent history.
The New England fishing industry is not looking for long term
subsidization - only a one time helping of assistance to avoid
making the economic situation in some sectors of the region's
fishing Industry worse.

It is unrealistic to think that other regional fisheries will pay
fees to support a groundfish buy-out program. The region's
groundflsh Industry would be extremely hard pressed to pay the
bill. Some have suggested a promissory note from those who
remain In a limited entry groundf Ishery - with repayment over
time when the resource recovers, others have suggested the use
of foreign aid programs and funds to make a buy-out work. Again,
it seems most logical for a task force to begin work immediately
- with the Council, the NMFS, and the Congress working with the
industry to continue to try to develop a plan that is realistic
and widely acceptable. To delay this start may only have the
result of raising false hopes and delaying other market-baaed
decisions which might otherwise be made.

We support the concept of the establishment of an Ocean
Conservation Trust Fund but only if its purpose is to support
fisheries management goals - on a regional basis - to the extent
the fund receives Income from the region. Fines for fisheries
violations should be invested back into the region where the fish
were harvested. The fund should be expanded so that it could
accept contributions from fishermen and fish processors to
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support marine or gear research or obeerver programs in the
region where the contributions were made. Dedicating the revenue
is the only way a program like this would work, in our view.

SEC. 205. FISHERIES RESEARCH.

We strongly support the requirement that the Secretary prepare a
strategic fisheries research plan. We note that this
Congressional mandate - originally established by the Fishery
Conservation Amendments of 19 90 - has been ignored by the NMFS to
data.

We commend the Subcommittee for attempting again to create a
epecific role in federal marine research for fishermen with this
proposal. Please expand this role to include the support of fish
processors. Our industry, for example, has historically
supported and participated in fisheries research when the
opportunity has presented itself. We are certain that other
processors would do - and have done - the same. Public faith in
fisheries science, and the regulations that are developed from
it, will improve if induetry can become a true partner with the
NMFS and the States

.

Areas of research enumerated by the bill in this section should
be expanded to include fisheries impacts by animal predators.

Again, we appreciate your efforts in support of the
sustainablllty of our Industry, If I can provide you with any
additional Information or answer any questions that you may have
for my, I will attempt to do so.
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Senator Stevens. Thank you very much. Mr. Frappier, I under-
stand you do not have the written statement, but we would appre-
ciate it very much if you will send it to us when you are through.

STATEMENT OF DENNIS FRAPPIER, GENERAL MANAGER,
PORTLAND FISH EXCHANGE

Mr. Frappier. Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee,
thank you very much for coming here and listening and allowing
me the opportunity to speak to the reauthorization of the Magnu-
son Fisheries Conservation and Management Act. The comments
that I make today are not on behalf of the Portland Fish Exchange
but on my own, based upon 20 years of experience in the industry,
which have included most aspects of the industry, including build-

ing fishing gear, to buying and selling fish.

In the last 9 years I have been privileged to be associated with
the Portland Fish Exchange, which is a nonprofit, quasi-public cor-

poration which provides service to approximately 300 sellers and
28 buyers. Last year we handled 28 million pounds of fish, which
was down 7 percent from our peak in 1992 and 1993 of 31 million
pounds of groundfish.
The Portland Fish Exchange is a unique organization. It is man-

aged by industry people, both buyers and sellers alike, and it is

owned by the city of Portland. It has lots of accountability built

into the organization. People who don't carry their weight don't

keep their jobs.

I don't pretend to have the answers, and my comments in gen-
eral are more general to the problems that I've seen rather than
specific to S. 39. But in my opinion the problem is obviously the
result of too many fishing vessels in too small an area, with inad-
equate understanding of the marine environment, with pathetic
management.

I'd like to clarify each one of these items. Too many vessels in

too small an area requires reducing the number of vessels, since

the area can't easily be increased. The government asked and en-
couraged the buildup of fishing vessels with investment tax credits

and fishery obligation guarantee loans when the foreigners were
put out of our 200-mile limit.

Although I don't encourage Federal giveaways and Maine people
in general are very frugal in what they do and what their govern-
ment does, I do want to encourage you to let people out of this situ-

ation that they have been encouraged to get into by the govern-
ment, so that they can do so without losing their homes and their

families. This must be done very carefully so tax dollars aren't

wasted and aren't used to build return on investments of people
who are in the industry now.
The only way to do this is with an industry review panel which

would determine how much each owner receives. This buyback, not
a buyout, which might more strategically be called a fishing vessel

reduction without devastation program, is very important and very
necessary and the No. 1 thing that you should be considering.

Inadequate understanding of marine resources is huge issue

which I don't have time to go into very much, but I'd like to just
summarize by saying that this complex, dynamic ecosystem isn't

understood, and there is an economic need and opportunity to bet-
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ter understand how to maximize the capacity of the northwest At-
lantic. Research is a priority and has to happen. I recommend pri-

vate contracted research on specific issues, not government general
research, which would give us the most bang for the buck.
The last area of pathetic management is the most pertinent to

the reauthorization of the bill. My intent is not to criticize people,
but the system that has yielded unacceptable results. The fun-
damentals must be changed, and there must be accountability at
all levels of the fishing industry. I would suggest removing the
crippling aspects that I see at the coimcil and the groundfish com-
mittee levels, where lawyers run the meeting and every single com-
ment goes through a lawyer instead of listening to experts. I think
that is the single biggest problem that is crippling the management
tool right now.
The National Marine Fisheries Service is the manager, and every

good manager knows that they cannot manage without the willing

cooperation of those they manage. The carry a big stick approach
the government uses has and will not be effective in this industry.
I would recommend the fishing industry manager be required to

have fishing experience and be required to have management expe-
rience. I would also recommend retired fishermen be recruited for

key positions, especially in regard to strategic planning, selectivity

of fishing gear and effort, and enforcement of regulations.

I suspect this concept would bring rude remarks from the Na-
tional Marine Fisheries Service staff that would be synonymous to

letting the fox guard the henhouse. The problem is exacerbated be-

cause bureaucrats just continue in the system and their success

has nothing to do with their successful fishery management.
More specifically, one item that is very obvious and needs to be

changed is the size of the management area that the New England
council is in charge of. The Gulf of Maine and southern New Eng-
land have absolutely nothing in common other than that they bor-

der the New England States. The Gulf of Maine must be managed
independently of the rest of the New England area.

Also, the current philosophy on management that forces fisher-

men to throw dead fish overboard to reduce landings so bureau-
crats think their goals and objectives are being accomplished is

criminal. There should be laws prohibiting fishermen from throw-

ing anything overboard that is caught in their nets. Net selectivity

and closed areas are the proper ways to reduce the mortality on
our fishing industry.

Please realize that I operate within a very unique environment
at the Portland Fish Exchange. We are quasi-public. We do every-

thing on the up and up, and we have impeccable records and we
are open to any public investigation of anything. So everything is

honest and open there. Our landings information is available and
immediately discloses trends in the industry.

Senator Stevens. If we are going to get through, we are going

to have to proceed along now, please.

Mr. Frappier. ok. Let me wrap it up. We are in a complex situa-

tion and I think if we had auctions throughout the region we would
have information flowing and enforcement that would be extremely

simplified and be much more effective, as we have seen in Portland
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to date. Maybe that is why European countries require vessels to

go to the auction only when they are unloading fish.

In closing, please separate the Gulf of Maine from New England,

leave flexibility between fisheries so fishermen can survive, and
provide mechanisms so that the most experienced and capable peo-

ple in the industry can have the capacity to frame ways of conserv-

ing the resource.

Thank you.
Senator Stevens. Thank you, sir.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Frappier follows:]
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PORTLAND
FISH EXCHANGE, INC.

March/, 1995

Chairman Ted Stevens:

Sub-committee on Oceans & Fisheries of the

Committee on Commerce, Science and Transportation.

Mr. Chairman Members of the Subcommittee:

Thank you for the opportunity to testify at this hearing on the re-authonzation of

the Magnuson Fishery Conservation and Management Act. The comments I

make today are not on behalf of the Portland Fish Exchange but are my own,

based upon 20 years experience in this industry which have included most

aspects of the industry from building fishing gear to buying and selling fish. For

the last nine years I have been in management at the Portland Fish Exchange a

non- profit, quasi public, service oriented company, serving approximately 300

sellers and 28 buyers, auctioning 28 million pounds in 1994. This volume is

down 7% from 2 peak years at 31 million pounds. The PFE is managed by

industry people harvesters and buyers alike, and owned by the City of Portland.

It also has lots of accountability built into the organization. People who don't

carry their weight don't get to keep their jobs.

I do not pretend that I have any astute comments that will solve all of this

industries problems, although I believe it is important to briefly clanfy the nature

of the obvious problems so better minds can frame the legislature. In my
opinion the problem is obviously the result of too many vessels

fishing in too small an area with an inadequate understanding of

the marine ecosystem under pathetic management.

I'll clarify these three points one at a time: Too many vessels in too small an

area" requires reducing the number of vessels since the area can't easily be

increased. The government asked and encouraged the build up of vessels

with investment tax credits and fishery obligations guarantee (FOG) loans when

the foreigners were put out of our 200 mile limit. Instead of letting economics

naturally weed out the weak we up to this day, continue with financial

assistance to keep vessels in business. Although I don't encourage federal

give-aways it is only responsible to help let fisherman who did what they were

encouraged to do, get out of their mortgages without losing their homes. This

has to be done carefully so that tax dollars aren't being given away building or

maintaining company ROI's. The only way to do this is with an industry review
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panel to decide how much each owner receives. This is a "Buy Back" not a

"Buy Out", which might more strategically be called a "Fishing Vessel
Reduction with out Devastation Program".

Inadequate understanding of Marine Resources is a huge issue that will not

receive it's due emphasis. Commercial fisherman are not the only factor which

contribute to the decline of market size fish in the ecosystem, for example why
are there so few fish in our estuaries and coastal spawning areas? What effect

does population growth have on the fishes ability to have their eggs that

become adult fish? Can we intervene to facilitate this recruitment? We have
seen the collapse of groundfish species in the past that had nothing to do with

our extremely sophisticated harvesting capacity today. Please don't interpret

this as a denial of the problem, the negative impact our large fleet is having on
the resource must be changed. Their is a economic need and opportunity to

better understand how to maximize the capacity of the Northwest Atlantic.

Research is a priority without a doubt. I recommend private contracted research

on specific issues not government fishery research In order to get the most bang
for the buck.

The last area "Pathetic Management" is the most pertinent to the re-

authorization of the Bill. My intent is not to criticize people but the system that

has yielded unacceptable results. The fundamentals must be changed. There
must be accountability at all levels of "fishing industry management" Regional

Council Members need to be personally responsible for accomplishing the

objectives of the management plan. Remove the crippling aspects of Ground
Fish council and Committee meetings by getting rid of the legal counsel which

usually predominate the discussion at the meetings. The staff of the councils

need to be personally responsible to accomplish their objectives as set out by
the Regional Council. The NMFS who is responsible for the administration,

science and enforcement also need to be accountable to accomplish their

objectives. The NMFS is the manager and every good manager knows that you
cannot manage without the willing cooperation of those you manage. The
"carry a big stick" approach that government uses had and will not be effective

in this industry. I would recommend a requirement for the " fishing industry

manager's" be required to have fishing experience and management
experience. I would also recommend that retired fisherman be recruited for key

positions especially in regard to strategic planning, selectivity of fishing gear

and effort and in enforcement of regulations.

I suspect that this concept would bring remarks from NMFS staff that this would
be synonymous to letting the fox guard the hen house. This is exactly what the

underlying problem is fisherman and bureaucrats are as opposite and polarized

as they could be. What industry recommends to conserve the resource the

bureaucracy has refused and sometimes does the opposite of industry

recommendations. The problem is exasperated because bureaucrats just

continue in the system and their success has nothing to do with fishery

resources or accomplishing the objectives that fisherman rely on to feed and
cloth their families. (I do not believe the NMFS is capable of making these

drastic changes therefore I propose that a nonprofit corporation be
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commissioned with tiie sole purpose of administering and enforcing

regulations.)

More specifically one item that very obviously needs to be changed is the size

of the management area that the NE council is given charge of. The Gulf of

Maine and Southern N.E. have nothing in common except that they boarder
N.E. The Gulf of Maine must be managed independently from the rest of N.E.

Also, the current philosophy of management that forces fishermen to throw dead
fish overboard to reduce landings so bureaucrats think they're accomplishing
their objectives is criminal, quotas don't work. There should be laws
prohibiting fisherman from throwing any fish overboard that is caught. Net
selectivity must like wise be increased to protect our valuable resources. If

juvenile fish or one species is being over-fished the area should be closed to all

fishing for a period. We currently classify a specific fishery as or 5% by-catch
and make fishermen waste resources hide or cheat on their by catch. Then the
inaccurate assumption is made about the conservation of fish.

Please realize that I exist within a unique environment at the P.F.E.

because the fish is put on the auction which facilitates extremely easy and
effective enforcement, and excellent statistical information. Landings
information is always available to immediately disclose trends in the industry. A
requirement that all fish go to an auction for unloading may be
simpler and less expensive. Maybe that's why many European countries
require all vessels to use to the auction only, for the sale of fish.

I would recommend also that improvements be made in "management
information systems" and in enforcement.

In closing separate the Gulf of Maine from New England so conservation
can be accomplished. Leave flexibility so that vessels can change from one
species to another and remain viable. Provide mechanisms so fishermen can
be heard and their expertise can be used to conserve the resources. Thank you
for your attention.

Sincerely,

Dennis A. Frappier

cc Sen. Olympia Snowe
Sen. William Cohen
Rep. James Longley
Sen. John Kerry
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Sentaor Stevens. Mr. Burns is the president of the Maine Chap-
ter of the New England Coastal Conservation Association.

STATEMENT OF BRADFORD E. BURNS, CHAIRMAN, NEW
ENGLAND COAST CONSERVATION ASSOCIATE, MAIN CHAPTER
Mr. Burns. Thank you, Senator Stevens and members of the

panel. This testimony is from the Maine Chapter of the New Eng-
land Coast Conservation Association.

Senator Stevens. Would you pull that mike up a little bit,

please? Thank you.
Mr. Burns. No. 1, by-catch. Fishing methodologies and gear

types that result in high by-catch of undersized fish, non-targeted
species or other economic discards should be eliminated in favor of
more selective methods and/or methods that allow live release of

by-catch. Unavoidable by-catch should be kept, utilized and cal-

culated into mortality and harvest models.
Two, overfishing. Clear definitions of what constitutes a restored

stock should be developed and a timetable for all fisheries to reach
these restored levels should be spelled out. Acceptable mortality
rates that include adequate conservation buffers should be adhered
to along with a requirement for immediate adjustment of fishing

mortality should the acceptable rates be exceeded. NECCA believes
that eliminating overfishing is the single highest priority.

Three, council makeup. We believe that the premise that indus-
try should have control over the regulatory process is invalid. The
regulatory process needs input from all user groups, including com-
mercial fishing interests. In our view, however, the decline of our
fisheries is largely due to the understandable reluctance of com-
mercial fishers to regulate sufficiently their own efforts and prac-

tices. At least fifty percent of the council membership should be
comprised of non-commercial fishing interests. Council members
with conflict of interest should be recused from voting on pertinent
regulations. Because of these opinions, we therefore oppose manda-
tory negotiated rulemaking.

Financial aid. In general, NECCA is opposed to a government-fi-
nanced bailout of areas within the commercial fishing industry.

Sustainable yield can be compared to market limitations in other
businesses where failure as well as success are possible. The cur-

rent situation in the northeast is, however, caused at least in part
by the government's encouragement of overcapitalization. This may
justify buyouts, not bailouts, conservatively applied to prevent debt
default and encourage retraining and related programs. Fishery de-

pendent communities. The answer for these communities will have
to be new directions as well as adjustment to the realities of sus-

tainable harvest levels. Modern fishing technologies cannot be de-

nied and, as in all business, there will be personal dislocation. It

will be folly for the Federal Government to involve itself excessively

in this issue.

Seven, habitat protection. NECCA supports the concept of habi-
tat protection and the inclusion of some language to describe this

priority. We believe, however, that the real answer in terms of

habitat protection is a consistent environmental policy applied to

all levels of our completely interdependent ecosystems.



65

ITQs. NECCA is against the concept of privatizing a public re-

source. While we believe that catch and methodology must be care-
fully regulated, individual access to all aspects or our marine re-

sources is a cornerstone of NECCA's beliefs.

Other considerations. Public access. NECCA believes that per-
sonal use fishing should not be exempt from regulations like rea-
sonable bag limits or gear restrictions. We do, however, feel that
unrestricted access to fish and fishing grounds for personal use
fishing should be specifically guaranteed in this reauthorization.

Second, personal use species. Constantly expanding coastal popu-
lations have already reached a point where some inshore species
can easily be over-harvested by personal use anglers alone. In
many cases, this harvest is accompanied by a large and diverse rec-

reational industry that has extraordinary value-added consider-
ations. Included in these is the incalculable value of quality outdoor
experiences so hard to find for many urban residents.

These concepts have long been understood in regard to our fresh-

water fish, wild land animals and bird life. It is time to assign Fed-
eral personal use only status to some of our inshore species, which
have proven to be worth much more alive than dead. Fish like

redfish and striped bass are managed by a patchwork of conflicting

State regulations. Since fish know no State boundaries, only Fed-
eral designation will be effective.

NECCA suggests a Federal fishing stamp to fish for these pro-

posed personal use species and to fish in the EEZ, A law similar

to the migratory bird act could protect personal use species from
commercial harvest. The sales of the stamp would generate enor-

mous revenues which, in addition to funding scientific work, habi-

tat restoration and procurement of public access, could create a
cash-flow to buy out commercial fishers dead-ended in obsolete

commercial fisheries.

In an immediate sense the revenues could be used to buy out the
over-capacity in the northeast and to fund a recovery program.
Striped bass, the one bright spot for recreational anglers on the

northeast coast, are the perfect place to start.

Last, fees. The management of our fisheries should not be an ex-

pense of the general public. Commercial and recreational users

should pav for the management needs caused by their utilization

of this public resource. The public will pay its share of these costs

passed on in the fish they consume. This is the way it is in many
other businesses.
Thank you very much for the opportunity to express our views.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Burns follows:]
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New England Coast Conservation

Association — Maine Chapter

P.O. Box 552

Boothbav Harbor, Maine 04538

Tel: 633-3815 F.-^X: 633-7079

Senator Larry Pressler
Committee on Commerce
Science and Transportation
Washington, DC 20510-6125

Dear Senator Pressler,

This testimony is from the Maine Chapter of the New England
Coast Conservation Association in Boothbay Harbor, Maine.

1

)

By Catch - Fishing methodologies and gear types that result
in high by-catch of undersized fish, non-targeted species or
other economic discards should' be eliminated in favor of more
selective methods and or methods that allow live release of
by-catch. Unavoidable by-catch should be kept, utilized and
calculated into mortality and harvest models.

2) Overfishing - Clear definitions of what constitutes a restored
stock should be developed and a time table for all fisheries
to reach these restored levels spelled out. Acceptable mortality
rates that include adequate conservation buffers should be
adhered to along with a requirement for immediate adjustment
of fishing mortality should the acceptable rates be exceeded.
NECCA believes that eliminating overfishing is the single highest
priority.

3) Council Makeup - We believe that the premise that industry
should have control over the regulatory process is invalid.
The regulatory process needs input from all user groups including
commercial fishing interests. In our view, however, the decline
of our fisheries is largely due to the understandable reluctance
of commercial fishers to regulate sufficiently their own efforts
and practices. At least fifty percent of the council membership
should be comprised of non-commercial fishing interests. Council
members with conflict of interests should be recused from voting
on pertinent regulations. Because of these opinions, we
therefore oppose mandatory negotiated rule making.

4), 5) Financial Aid - In general NECCA is opposed to a government
financed bailout of areas within the commercial fishing industry.
Sustainable yield can be compared to market limitations in other
businesses where failure as well as success are possible. The
current situation in the northeast is, however, caused at least
in part by the governments encouragement of over capitalization.
This may justify buyouts not bailouts conservatively applied
to prevent debt default and encourage retraining and related
programs.
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6) Fishery Dependent Communities - The answer for these
comniunities will have to be new directions as well as adjustment
to the realities of sustainable harvest levels. Modern fishing
technologies cannot be denied and as in all business there will
be personal dislocation. It will be folly for the federal
government to involve itself excessively in this issue.

7) Habitat Protection - NECCA supports the concept of habitat
protection and the inclusion of some language to describe this
priority. We believe, however, that the real answer is a
consistant environmental policy applied to all levels of our
completely interdependent eco-systems.

3) ITQ - NECCA is against the concept of privatising a public
resource. While we believe that catch and methodology must
be carefully regulated individual access to all aspects of our
marine resources is a cornerstone of NECCA' s beliefs.

9) Other Consideration

A)Public Access - NECCA believes that personal use fishing should
not be exempt from regulations like reasonable bag limits or
gear restrictions. We do, however, feel that unrestricted access
to fish and fishing grounds for personal use fishing should
specifically guaranteed in this reauthorization.

B) Personal Use Species - Constantly expanding coastal
populations have already reached a point where some inshore
species can easily be over harvested by personal use anglers.
In many cases this harvest is accompanied by a large and diverse
recreational industry that has extraordinary value added
considerations. Included in these is the incalculable value
of quality outdoor experiences so hard to find for many urban
residents. These concepts have long been understood in regard
to our fresh water fish, wild land animals and bird life. It
is time to assign federal personal use only status to some of
these species, which have proven to be worth much more alive
than dead. Fish like red fish and striped bass are managed
by a patchwork of conflicting state regulation. Since fish
know no state boundaries only federal designation will be
effective. NECCA suggests a federal fishing stamp to fish for
these proposed personal use species and to fish in the E.E.Z,
A law similar to the migratory bird act could protect personal
use species from commercial harvest. The sales of the stamp
would generate enormous revenues which in addition to funding
scientific work, habitat restoration and procurement of public
access could create a cash flow to buy out commercial fishers
dead ended in obsolete commercial fisheries. In an immediate
sense the revenues could be used to buy out the over capacity
in the northeast and to fund a recovery program. Striped bass,
the one bright spot for recreational anglers on the northeast
coast are the perfect place to start.
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C) Fees - The management of our fisheries should not be an
expense of the general public. Commercial and recreational
users should pay for the management needs caused by their
utilization of this public resource. The public will pay its
share of these costs passed on in the fish they consume. This
is the way it is in many other businesses.

Thank you for the opportunity to express our views.

Bradford E. Burns
Chairman
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Senator Stevens, Thank you, Mr. Burns. Mrs. Sanfilippo. Ms.
Sanfilippo is President of the Gloucester Fishermen's Wives Asso-
ciation of Gloucester, Massachusetts.

STATEMENT OF ANGELA SANFILIPPO, PRESIDENT,
GLOUCESTER FISHERMEN'S WIVES ASSOCIATION

Ms. Sanfilippo. Good afternoon. My name is Angela Sanfilippo.

I am the president of the Gloucester Fishermen's Wives Associa-
tion. It is my privilege for me to be here today to testify.

Senator Stevens. Ms. Sanfilippo, I am sorry to tell vou you have
to pull that right up toward you, that microphone—all the way up.
Thank you.
Ms. Sanfilippo. I want to thank you very much for inviting me.
The main point that I would like to make is that one thing that

we must do that is more important than reauthorization of the
Magnuson Act is to honor it and follow it as it was originally in-

tended. I am proud to be able to say that the veiy idea of conserv-
ing of our nation's fishery by laws such as the Magnuson Act was
born in Gloucester, Massachusetts, and our organization was
founded in 1969 to promote this concept.

Many groups representing many different interests will appear
before you as you consider this legislation. Who among them has
the most to lose should the Magnuson Act become corrupt and fail

in its mission? My organization represents a long tradition of

small-scale family fishermen. Like small-scale family fishermen all

around the nation, our people do not have money to spend on lob-

bying and orchestrating public relations campaigns. We fish. We
fish with small vessels. We depend on the bounty of the local wa-
ters.

If these fisheries become extinct, we stop fishing. On the other

hand, bit corporate factory ships are not tied to any local resources,

not berthed beside any living tradition except greed. They rove the

planet in search of profits, not fish. They will manipulate the con-

servation debate to their own ends.

One of their key strategies is the individual transferable quotas

or ITQs. In New England, ITQs also go by another name. ITQs are

also called consolidation. Schemes to consolidate fishing effort

through ITQS are any other method exist for one overriding pur-

poses, to concentrate fishing rights into the hands of an elite group

of large-scale fishing interests so that they can grab more profits.

Conservation is not important to their agenda. After they have
depleted the fishery, they can move their snips across the oceans

to exploit another and wipe out the economic base of more coastal

communities. Then taxpayers have to step in to prop up such com-
munities. We do not want to see this happen in New England.

We have always said that boats that cannot go fishing for what-

ever reason should not be able to sell their quota, so that someone
else will take that fish. This is conservation. ITQs simply do not

advance the goal of the Magnuson Act.

Our fishermen are frustrated and confused by the way regula-

tions are forcing the destruction of fishery resources in New Eng-

land. Discards of dead fish caused by regulations and lack of mar-

kets for perfectly nutritious fish are immoral and unbelievably fool-

ish. How could a nation with such technological genius tolerate the
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wanton destruction of our future fish stocks, and then have the
outrageous nerve to call it conservation? We must demand £in end
to this practice. There is a better way.

In Gloucester we are bringing many different people together to

chart a better way. This group includes working fishermen and
fishermen's wives, conservationists, shore-side processors and busi-
ness leaders, bankers, educators, historians, academics and clergy,

city and State officials and representatives and many other leaders.
The group is known as the Gloucester Vision for the Year 2020,
was convened by the Gloucester Fishermen's Wives Association in

alliance with Gloucester United, the Conservation Law Foundation,
and the Archdiocese of Boston.
The group began meeting in September. When people ask me

what is in the Vision, my short answer is that the vision is a proc-
ess, a way to manage meetings and grow coalition. We hope to

share this process with the council and National Marine Fisheries
Service because we all share the same agenda.
One of the areas where the consensus is strong in our group is

on the need for more, better, and accessible science. Another area
where there is strong consensus in our group concerns the need to

aggressively develop new added-value products and to develop mar-
keting strategies for these higher value products. We envision that
new methods of catching and processing fish can increase the re-

turn to fishermen and lower the volume they need to harvest in

order to conduct economically viable businesses.
By linking economic development strategy with fishery and habi-

tat conservation strategy we could achieve conservation goals while
promoting the economies of the coastal community.
A key flaw, in our view, of the way we are trying to manage our

fisheries is our failure to work more closely with the impacted com-
munity to create short-term and long-term conservation strategies
that link with local economic planning and development. We be-
lieve it can be done, and this approach would produce far more sus-
tainable fishing practices a lot sooner.

This brings me to the issue of conflict of interest, the idea that
an active fisherman operating a family vessel would be in conflict

with a conservation measure that is designed to promote his own
future interests is absurd. Conflicts of interest with regards to fish-

ery conservation do not come from the active small-scale family
fishermen in spite of propaganda that confuses the issue.

On the contrary, active fishermen are exactly the people who
should have a stronger voice on the councils because they have the
greatest stake in good fishery management. We propose that 50
percent of the management council members be current active fish-

ermen. By requiring the membership of every fishery management
council be made up of at least 50 percent active fishermen, councils
would be greatly diluted of hidden conflicts of interest and igno-
rance of the present industry.
This proposal is in complete accord with the original intent of the

council system which gave input to the citizens with the most to

lose by bad fishery management and the most to gain by sound
conservation.

Senator Stevens. We are going to have to ask you to finish soon,
Ms. Sanfilippo.
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Ms. Sanfilippo. I am almost done.
Senator Stevens. Thank you.
Ms. SANFlLffPO. A voluntary boat buyout is supported by the

Gloucester vision long-term planning group, but we have concerns
that a boat buyout which reduces current effort may also curtail
our community from returning to fish after stocks rebuild. Permits
must be retired through a boat buyout, but it is feared that this
would infringe on our luture fishing rights.

Who will acquire these permits and fishing rights as they may
be returned to the fishery in the future? A provision that would
give first refusal to fishermen in ports giving up permits through
a boat buyout program could accomplish both lowering the number
of permitted vessels fishing today while protecting future fishing
rights of local fishermen.
We believe that provision must be made to stop Federal agencies

or any private entity from destroying or endangering habitat. We
do not understand how it is possible to build and maintain healthy
fish stock and habitats witnout provision to stop destruction of
these habitats. We would like to see a permanent ban on oil drill-

ing and ocean dumping on Georges Bank, for example.
Likewise, we oppose the privatization of the ocean in any way.

We are always wondering about what kinds of industrial exploi-

tation and destruction would take place on our fishing grounds if

independent fishermen were no longer out there to see what is

going on.

Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Sanfilippo follows:]
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My name is Angela Sanfilippo. I am President of the Gloucester

Fishermen's Wives Association. It is a privilege for me to be here to

testify today. Thank you for inviting me to share our views on S. 39.

The Gloucester Fishermen's Wives Association has been an active

supporter of the Magnuson Fishery & Conservation Management Act

since the begirjning. Established in 1969, our organization was the first

of its kind in the industry and continues to play an active role. Other

organizations have come and gone in Gloucester to advocate for the

fishing industry, but the Fishermen's Wives in solidarity with our

community continue to work directly with the people who actively fish and

fight with them for the good of the people and the good of the ocean.

We know these two things are the same.

i

I am proud to be able to say that the very idea of conserving our

nation s fishenes by a law such as the Magnuson Act was bom in

Gloucester, Massachusetts, and our organization was founded to

promote this concept to our congressional legislators. After years of hard

work by us and others, the Magnuson Act became law in 1976. Through

the years we have diligently fought to make this law work to protect our

precious fisheries resources for us, our children, and our nation.

As I appear before you today I am compelled to ask you to

consider the purpose of this law and most especially to consider who has

the most at stake in ensuring that the Magnuson Act is allowed to

achieve the original goals set out for it. Many groups representing many
different interests will appear before you as you consider this most

important legislation. Who among them has most to loose should the

Magnuson Act become corrupted and fail in its mission?

My organization represents a long tradition of small-scale family

fishermen. We are a people whose fishing roots vanish in the rich soil of

our cultural memory. Like small-scale family fishermen ail around our

nation from the Cajuns of Accadiana to the hookers and small draggers

of Alaska, our people do not have money to spend on lobbying and

orchestrating public relations propaganda campaigns. We fish. We fish

with small vessels. We provide for our families. We depend on the

bounty of local waters. In New England these local waters are the Gulf of

Maine, Massachusetts Bay, and the American side of Georges Bank. If
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these fisheries become extinct, we stop fishing. We don't just loose our
jobs; we loose iwho we are as a culture. On the other hand, big

corporate factory ships are not tied to any local resource, not berthed

beside any living tradition except greed. They rove the planet in search
of profits - not fish. Their appetite and capacity know no bounds. And
they will use every creative strategy conceivable to reserve more and
more fishery resources for their exclusive exploitation.

Large-scile fishing interests which operate the factory trawlers have
money and vision to plan ahead too. They know that - in spite of present

declines in groundfish - Georges Bank is still one of the world's richest

generators of fish. They know that Georges Bank can still yield a good
harvest, and they want it. And they will strategize to get it. They will

manipulate the 'conservation debate to their own ends. One of their key

strategies is the "Individual Transferable Quota" or "ITQ".

In New England ITQs also go by another name; ITQs are also

called "consolidation." Schemes to consolidate fishing effort through ITQs

or any other method exist for one overriding purpose: to concentrate

fishing rights into the hands of an elite group of large scale fishing

interests so that they can grab more profit. Conservation is not

important on their agenda. After they have depleted a fishery, they can

move their ships across oceans to exploit another, ruin the lives of more
small-scale farnily fishermen, and wipe out the economic base of more
coastal communities. Then tax payers have to step in to prop up such

communities - essentially subsidizing these corporations by absorbing

their externalized costs caused by their exploitive practices. We do not

want to see this happen m New England. Please do not let it happen!

We have always said that boats that cannot go fishing for whatever

reason should not be able to sell their "quota" so that someone else will

take that fish, piis is conservation. With ITQs, any vessel owner who
does not go fishing for whatever reason can just pass his fishing rights

on for someoni else to fish. How is this reducing fishing mortality?

National Marine Fisheries Sep»/ice is supporting ITQ provisions in S.

39. Some look favorably on ITQs as presently proposed since both H.R.

39 and S. 39 provide monies through ITQ associated fees for operations,

but the cost to our fishery resources is too great. ITQs simply do not



75

advance the goals of the Magnuson Act.

If we could permanently remove the possibility of ITQs in New
England, man4gement of our fisheries would have a better chance of

achieving conservation by removing at least one dimension of political

intrigue from the debate.

Our fishermen are frustrated and confused by the way regulations

are forcing the destruction of fishery resources in New England. Discards

of dead fish caused by regulations and lack of markets for perfectly

nutritious fish are immoral and unbelievably foolish. How could a nation

with such techibological genius tolerate the wanton destruction of our

future fish stocks - and then have the outrageous nerve to call it

"conservation"? We must demand an end to this practice. There is a

better way.

In my home Port of Gloucester we are bringing many, many
different people and interests together to chart a better way. This group

includes working fishermen and fishermen's wives, conservationists,

shore-side processors and business leaders, bankers, educators,

historians, academics, clergy, city and state officials and representatives,

and other community leaders. The group, known as the Gloucester

Vision for the year 2020, was convened by the Gloucester Fishermen's

Wives Association in alliance with Gloucester United, the Conservation

Law Foundation, and the Archdiocese of Boston. The Group began
meeting in September after Bernard Cardinal Law, Archbishop of Boston.

had met with fishermen in Gloucester on August 16th to encourage this

kind of process, and I had attended two meetings of the Northwest

Atlantic Group last summer to consider the need to develop a future

vision of the Northwest Atlantic fishing industry. I can provide you with

documentation: regarding the work of the Gloucester Vision Process.

When people ask me what the vision is, my short answer is that the

vision is a process, a way to manage meetings and grow coalition. We
hope to share this process with the Council and National Marine Fisheries

Service because we all share the same goals. There is no reason for us

not to work together.
I

One of the areas where consensus is strong in our group focuses

on the need for more, better, and accessible science. We urge you to
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consider even beyond the scope of this legislation how we can improve
our scientific understanding of fishery ecosystems as well as advance
data collection and analysis. Our group Is calling to open up the science,

to bring active fishermen into the process so that they can both learn

from the scientists and teach them about what they know from
experience. Ifnagine the joy that would come to a fishermen who could

share his cherished fishing heritage with his son or daughter by having
them make a t(ip to study, to teach and do science. We need the
sdence. We need to make the investment in the science. Why not

employ fishing vessels and fishing students to participate in this

necessary research?

Another area where there is strong consensus in our group
concerns the need to aggressively develop new added-value products
and to develop marketing strategies for these higher value products. We
envision that new methods of catching and processing fish can increase

the return to fishermen and lower the volume they need to harvest in

order to condijjct economically viable businesses. By linking economic
development strategies with fishery and habitat conservation strategies in

such manner, we could achieve conservation goals while promoting the

economies of coastal communities for both short-term as well as long-

term benefits. A key flaw in our view of the way we are trying to manage
our fishehes has to do with our failure to work more closely with the

impacted communities to create short-term and long-term conservation

strategies that link with local economic planning and development. We
believe it can be done, and this approach would produce far more
sustainable fishing practices a lot sooner.

This brings me to the issue of conflict of interest. The idea that an
active fishermen operating a family vessel would be in conflict with a

conservation measure that is designed to protect his own future interests

IS absurd. Conflicts of Interest with regards to fishery conservation do
not come from the active small-scale family fishermen in spite of

propaganda that confuses the issue. On the contrary, active fishermen

are exactly the people who should have a stronger voice on the Councils

because they have the greatest stake in good fishery management.
Fishermen who serve on the Councils who have not fished in 10 or more
years do not have knowledge or experience of the present reality. Such
people may not feel the urgency to take a step towards conservation, not
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from a conflict of interest but rather from ignorance. Therefore, we
propose that 5p% of Management Council members be currently active

fishermen. By requiring that membership of every Fishery Management
Council be made up of at least 50% active fishermen, Councils would be
greatly diluted of hidden conflicts of interest and ignorance of the present
industry which plague the Councils today. Such a reform would do
more for conservation than any other. This proposal is in complete
accord with the original intent of the Council system which gave input to

the dtizens wi^h the most to loose by bad fishery management and the

most to gain by sound conservation.

A voluntary boat buy-out is supported by the Gloucester Vision

Long-Term Planning Group, but we have concerns that a boat buy-out

which reduces current effort may also curtail our community from
returning to fi* after stocks rebuild. Permits must be retired through a
boat-buy out, but it is feared that this would infringe on our future fishing

rights. Who will acquire these permits and fishing rights as they may be
returned to the fishery in the future? A provision that would give first

refusal to fishermen in ports giving up permits through a boat buy-out

program could accomplish both lowering the number of permitted

vessels fishing today while protecting future fishing rights of local

fishermen. A Voluntary boat buy-out is probably the best solution for

many vessel owners who are 50 or 60 years of age. Yet there are still

crew members who would not necessarily benefit from a boat buy-out.

Returning again to the ohginal purpose of the Magnuson Act to

consen/e our fisheries and protect our fishermen, I would like to touch

upon another very important area of concern, that is habitat protection.

The health of rivers, the consen^ation of coastal wetlands, the ecologically

sound management and processing of effluent from industry, cities and

towns all impact coastal, ocean and fishery habitat, and these are all of

vital importance to healthy fisheries. We believe that provision must be

made to stop lederal agencies or any private entity from destroying or

endangering habitat. We do not understand how it is possible to build

and maintain healthy fish stocks and habitats without provision to stop

destruction of these habitats. We would like to see a pemnanent ban on

oil drilling and ocean dumping on Georges Bank for example. Likewise

we oppose the privatization of the ocean in any way. We are always

wondering about what kinds of industrial exploitation and destruction
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would take place on our fishing grounds if independent fishermen were

no longer out there to see what is going on.

In conclusion, 1 would like to say what I really think of the

reauthorization of the Magnuson Act. The Magnuson Act is a beautiful

law. Gloucester fought hard for this law, and we believe in it. But if the

Magnuson Act and all its National Standards had been honored and
followed these past 19 years, we would not be experiencing the troubles

we are today in our nation's fisheries. There is only one thing that we
must do that is more important than reauthorizing the Magnuson Act, we
must honor it and follow it as it was originally intended.

Thank yc^u.
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Senator Stevens. Thank you very much.
Now we will turn to Mr. Conkling. Mr. Conkling is President of

the Island Institute of Rockland, Massachusetts.

STATEMENT OF PHILIP CONKLING, PRESIDENT, ISLAND
INSTITUTE, ROCKLAND, MAINE

Mr. Conkling. Rockland, Maine.
Senator Stevens. I have made two mistakes today. Thank you.

Let me say goodbye to Senator Kerry. We wish your daughter well
in the soccer game.
Senator Kerry. Hockey. [Laughter.]
Senator Stevens. Mine is a soccer player. You can have the

hockey.
Go ahead, Mr. Conkling.
Mr. Conkling. In addition to my work with the Island Institute,

I also serve as the president of the Island Aquaculture Company,
a community scale diversified salmon and trout finfish farm located
on Swan's Island. The company employs 5 full-time and 28 part-

time employees on its farm and in its processing facilities.

In addition, I have served as the clerk of the Marine Hatchery
Technology Association, a consortium of commercial fish and aqua-
culture interests and scientists that are developing a marine hatch-
ery for cod and haddock at Swan's Island.

For the past 2-1/2 years, the Island Institute has organized fo-

rums of scientific discussion with a distinguished group of inter-

nationally recognized ecologists, fishermen, and fisheries scientists

from the United States and Canada focused on how to integrate

marine ecosystem principles into fisheries management. I believe

that some of the preliminary scientific conclusions that this panel
has reached outlines a startling path for fisheries management in

the future that has not been adequately considered by policy-

makers at NOAA and the National Marine Fisheries Service.

It is no accident that marine ecosystem tools have been devel-

oped in the Gulf of Maine region because there are a few overriding

ecological facts that we are well aware of in the area. First, the

Gulf of Maine is quite literally a sea within a sea, where Georges
Bank and Browns Bank at the outer edge provide a physical bar-

rier to define a unique marine ecosystem. The nutrients within this

sea within a sea are carried around the Gulf by a set of circular

currents, a gyre that cycles productivity in predictable patterns.

These currents can be detected in real time by high quality sat-

ellite images that reveal important linkages between different

parts of the system. For instance, we can now see how a warm core

ring from the gulf steam can pinwheel onto the edge of Georges

Bank to create almost instantaneous changes in the environment

that can interfere with larval recruitment of commercial species.

These images also reveal the unique effect of the eastern Maine
coastal current that cycles down from Grand Manan and along

most of the Main coast. This current, which interacts with Maine's

4,617 islands, creates a uniquely enriched set of inshore marine

habitats that can be readily identified by integrating fishermens'

intimate knowledge of the bottom with information on planktonic

blooms revealed by satellite images.
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Maine's highly enriched zone of inshore productivity also ex-

plains another fact fundamental to the structure of the fishery. We
are a very large and diverse set of small communities stretched out
over an immensely long coastline. Unlike most other parts of the
United States, but like Senator Stevens' Alaskan coast, the fishery
and our fishing communities are everywhere and nowhere. There
are 144 different commercial ports in Maine, landing a variety,

over 52 species, of marine life, more than in the rest of the region
combined. Most of them are small and dispersed.
With the exception of Portland and perhaps Rockland, there are

no huge concentrations of fishing boats. Instead, the fleet is charac-
terized by a very large number of mostly small vessels that are
highly flexible to changing conditions and highly localized within
an elaborate set of agreements as to who can fish where and for

what species.

For the Gulf of Maine, there is a fundamental ecological ration-

ale for greater local control of fisheries resources. I believe the Fed-
eral Grovemment should explicitly recognize this and begin shifting

fisheries management policies to the State level to control fishing
in an extended zone of inshore waters.

I recognize my time is limited. I want to suggest that the reau-
thorization process should provide explicit language and incentives

to ensure that new marine fisheries ecosystem management tools

and techniques are developed as rapidly as possible. This will not
happen overnight. It will take leadership and resources to make
this shift in scientific paradigms to the local level that are eco-

logically based.
But the point is we have to start now. We have got to begin

working on these tools, and the fisheries conservation act and Mag-
nuson reauthorization act is a unique opportunity to begin such co-

operative efforts. And we will submit specific language under the
ecosystem management section to accomplish this.

Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Conkling follows:]
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Background

For the past two antd a half years, the Island Institute has hosted a

series of scientific discussions with a distinguished group of internationally

recognized ecologists and fisheries scientists from the United States and

Canada focused on how to integrate Marine Ecosystem Management
concepts into fisheries management.

We believe that some of the preUminary scientific conclusions that

this panel has reached outline a path for fisheries management that has not

been adequately considered by policy makers in the National Manne
Fisheries Service. We also believe that some of these conclusions are

consistent with positions that have been advocated by leading commercial

fishermen in Maine for years.

I deeply appreciate this opportunity provided by Fishermen's Forum
to present an outline of how marine ecosystem science can contribute to

fisheries management.

SUSTAINING ISLANDS AND THEIR COMMUNITIES
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The Gulf of Maine

It's no accident that maiine ecosystem tools have been developed in
this region we call the Gulf of Maine. I want to highlight two facts of over-
riding importance:

• The Gulf of Maine is a unique place to understand principles of
marine ecosystems because it is almost literally a "sea withm a sea,"

isolated from the rest of the Atlantic ocean by two enormous banks-
Georges and Brown's Banks that provide a physical barrier at the

outer edge of the Gulf of Maine.

• Second, the nutrients within this "sea within a sea" are carried

around the Gulf by a set of circular currents-a "gyre" that cycles

productivity in predictable patterns.

These currents can be seen in "real time" by high quality satellite

images that reveal important linkages between different parts of the system.

For instance we can now see how a "warm core ring" from the Gulf Stream
can pin wheel up onto the edge of Georges Bank to create almost

instantaneous changes in the environment that can interfere with larval

recruitment of conmiercial species.

These images also reveal the unique effect of the Eastern Maine
coastal current that cycles down from Grand Manan Island and along most

of the Maine coast. This cuirent, which interacts with Maine's 4,617

islands, creates a uniquely enriched set of inshore marine habitats that can be

readily identified -- by integrating fishermen's intimate knowledge of the

bottom with information on plankton blooms revealed by satellite images.

It is important to recognize that before the Magnuson Act, Maine
fishermen were managing these rich and diverse inshore habitats for

generations in unique systems of local control that worked to limit effort and

to sustain these communities. They have done this by responding to natural

cycles in the marine system and by shifting in and out of different fisheries

as resources and markets change--from cod to lobster to shrimp to urchins to

scallops and so forth.

Maine's highly enriched zone of inshore productivity also explains

another fact fundamental to the strucmre of the fishery; we are a very large

and diverse set of small communities stretched out over a very long

coastline. Unlike other parts of the United States, the fishery and our
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fishing communities aie everywhere and nowhere; there are 144 different
commercial ports in Maine, more than in the rest of the region
combined-most of them small and dispersed. With the exception of
Portland, and perhaps Rockland, there are no huge concentrations of the

fishing boats. Instead, the fleet is characterized by a very large number of

mostly small vessels, highly flexible to changing conditions and highly

localized with an elaborate set of agreements as to who can fish where and
for what species.

For the Gulf of Maine, there is a fundamental ecological rationale

for greater local control of fisheries resources I believe the federal

government should explicitly recognize this and shift more fisheries

management policy to the State level to control fishing in an extended
zone of inshore waters.

What Is Ecosystem Management?

The scientific advice which the National Marine Fisheries Service

(NMFS) provides to regional Fisheries Management Councils is based on

collecting ever larger amounts of data (at enormous pubUc expense) to

estimate spawning stock biomass on a species by species basis. There are

basic problems with the current state of affairs:

• Species by species population models on which fisheries science is

based fail to take into account complex interactions within the

ecosystem level. Current fishenes science tends to exclude

consideration of major scientific advances in the understanding of

how complex systems work. These fundamental advances in

knowledge can be, and must be, fashioned into practical and
predictive tools which managers and fishermen can understand and

contribute to.

• Because current population models rely on ever more complex

mathematical formulas, they tend to exclude fishermen from making

meaningful contributions to fisheries science and to the understanding

of the dynamics of marine environment. This results in a serious

loss to fisheries management.

• Because of the high degrees of uncertainty in the adequacies of

current fisheries science, many, if not most, fisheries scientists have

major credibiUty problems with the fishing community .
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The reauthorization process should provide explicit incentives and
language to insure new marine fisheries ecosystem management tools

are developed as rapidly as possible.

Preliminary Results from the Marine Ecosystem Modeling Project

• The Institute convened, moderated, and developed a scientific

consensus on guidelines for marine ecosystem management in a peer

reviewed volume called System in the Sea (Island Institute, 1993);

• The Institute secured funding for and contracted with Dr. Donald
DeAngelis of Oak Ridge National Laboratory to produce a draft of a

Marine Fisheries Ecosystem Model. (Jan. 1994);

• The Instimte hosted a peer review panel of six respected scientists to

critique the model and discuss its preliminary conclusions (Jan.,

1995).

Among the numerous findings, I believe the following are highly

significant and speak directly to the deliberations before Congress regarding

the Magnuson Reauthorization Act;

1. The ecosystem management model shows that total biomass can be

accurately predicted in a system such as the Gulf of Maine.

2. The ecosystem management model predicts how and why fish

population crashes occur under heavy fishing pressure, such has recently

occurred off Newfoundland, Nova Scotia and Georges Banks.

3. The ecosystem management model shows how fish populations

naturally fluctuate in cycles, even without fishing pressure, a fact which

fishermen also already believe to be true.

4. The ecosystem management model shows that different species in

the food chain oscillate in resonance with each other and demonstrates how
fishing pressure destabilizes these cycles

5. The ecosystem management model can factor in competition

between species for food resources and can model subtle predator-prey

relationships that every fisherman knows exists, but which cannot be readily

factored into existing fisheries science, let alone management.



85

6. The ecosystem management model can be used to predict different

scenarios ecologically for maintaining greater stability (and sustainability)

through a management regime that protects a portion of older fish (with

higher fecundity) in the population through a series of spawning ground
closures and marine sanctuaries throughout the Gulf.

7. Finally, the ecosystem management model also suggests that

outside of these boundaries, management would not need to be nearly as

burdensome as it currently is and would let fishermen compete extensively

with each other, with much less intensive management than currently exists.

This will not happen overnight. It will take leadership and
resources to make this shift in scientific paradigms for management
happen. But the point is we have to start now, we have got to begin
working on these tools to which marine scientists and fishermen can

both contribute their knowledge.
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Senator Stevens. Thank you, Mr, Conkling.
Ms. Jennifer Atkinson of the Conservation Law Foundation of

Rockland, Maine.

STATEMENT OF JENNIFER F. ATKINSON, CONSERVATION LAW
FOUNDATION

Ms. Atkinson. Thank you. Mr. Chairman, members of the sub-
committee, Representative Longley, as you mentioned, my name is

Jennifer Atkinson, and I am a consulting fellow in fisheries for the
Conservation Law Foundation, on whose behalf I am testifying

today.
The Conservation Law Foundation is a regional environmental

advocacy organization with headquarters in Boston and with
branch offices here in Rockland, and in Montpelier, Vermont. We
are a member of the Marine Fish Conservation Network.

First, I would like to thank you for inviting me to testify about
the Magnuson Act this afternoon. I will take this opportunity to ad-
dress several issues related to the prevention of overfishing.

As you are well aware, overfishing is the most pressing fisheries

management issue facing New England. Not having prevented the
situation from happening, we now must endure the devastating so-

cial and economic consequences of long-term stock restoration. And,
I believe it is a mistake to think that New England is an isolated

situation.

For just over a year now I have worked to understand how we
reached this point. It seems that we sorely confused a key principle

of the Magnuson Act contained in the first national standard. This
principle is to prevent overfishing while achieving, on a continuing
basis, optimum yield. Instead, we have prevented optimum yield
while achieving, on a continuing basis, overfishing.

The reason for this miserable mixup is multi-faceted. As we have
become fond of saying, there is more than enough blame to go
around. But part of the problem, however, rests with the Act. It is

designed to promote the achievement and maintenance of optimum
yield from each fishery. Yet this is an elusive amount that is more
easily exceeded than accepted. And to date the Act contains no pro-

visions to ensure that our pursuit of optimum yield does not be-

come a one-way ticket to overexploitation.

Senate bill 39 tries to change that. It contains several provisions

that move the Magnuson Act in the right direction. The new re-

quirement that each management plan contain a definition of

overfishing is an essential first step. And the section on ecosystem
management adds a much needed margin of safety. It requires the
timely development of proposed regulations if a fishery is classified

as "approaching a condition of being overfished."

S. 39 also includes two significant clarifications in the definition

of optimum yield itself. The first one recognizes that optimum yield

must account for the protection of marine ecosystems. The second
redefines what optimum yield means for depleted stock. It is an
amount that allows the stock to rebuild back to a level that will

enable it to produce maximum sustainable yield rather than to a
level that would result in further stock depletion.

As important as these changes are, they still leave untouched a
critical aspect of the optimum yield concept. Under the current def-
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inition, we can harvest beyond maximum sustainable yield. This is

one of those theories which, once put into practice, has consistently

led to stock depletion. This language must be revised to make it

clear that encouraging a harvest in excess of maximum sustainable

yield is not just unwise; it is unacceptable.
In addition to the provisions designed to reduce the threat of

overfishing, I also strongly endorse the subcommittee's efforts to

expand the techniques by which councils may develop their pro-

posed regulations. I am referring to the section on negotiated con-

servation and management measures. It finally enables the coun-

cils to benefit from an approach which many of us in the northeast

have been talking about, one that involves all stakeholders in cre-

ating management proposals rather than in opposing them.
Mr. Chairman, managing our fisheries is no easy task. It is a

regulatory jungle. And recently these regulatory jungles have come
under a great deal of criticism, and it is to this issue that I would
like to address my final point.

As you and other members of the subcommittee undoubtedly rec-

ognize, the only way to achieve the continuing benefit from our
fisheries resources is to adequately regulate their harvest. In New
England this has meant the emergency implementation of meas-
ures that severely restrict fishing activities on portions of Georges
Bank. Regulatory critics in Congress who are proceeding with
broadly worded bans on regulations may not realize that their re-

forms may very well irreparably harm the recovery of our ground-

fish stocks.

In late spring, these fish congregate to spawn and are extremely

vulnerable to harvesting pressure. Currently these congregations

are protected by emergency closure regulations. Later this year,

permanent rules should be in place. They are expected to signifi-

cantly expand and extent the emergency closures. A retroactive

prohibition on regulatory implementation could remove both of

these critical stock protections. If only for this reason, I ask you to

exempt Magnuson Act regulations fi-om those that will be affected

by the reform legislation you consider in the weeks ahead.

On behalf of the Conservation Law Foundation, I want to thank

you all for your attention and for this opportunity to testify.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Atkinson follows:]
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Conservation Law Foundation
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CONSERVATION LAW FOUNDATION

Before the
U.S. SENATE SUBCOMMITTEE ON FISHERIES AND OCEJANS

Field Hearings
RocJcport, Maine
March 4, 1995

Good afternoon, Senator Stevens and members of the Senate

Subconmittee on Oceans and Fisheries. My name is Jennifer

Atkinson. I am a consulting fellow in fisheries for the

Conservation Law Foundation (CLF) , on whose behalf I am testifying

today.

CLF is a regional environmental advocacy organization

headquartered in Boston, MA and with branch offices in Rockland, ME

and Mcntpelier, VT. We have approximately 8000 members, over 300

of which reside in Maine. CLF is a member of the Marine Fish

Conservation Network. •

CLF's mission includes improving the management, of natural

resources throughout New England. During our twenty-eight year

hirtory, much of this work has focused on critical marine resource

problems. For the past six of these years, the marine resource

problem to which we have put most of our energies is federal

fisheries management.

In New England, our most pressing fisheries management issue

is overfishing. Not having prevented this situation from

happening, we now tnust face the devastating social and economic
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consequences of long term stock restoration. Moreover, I believe

that it is a . mistake to think that New England is an isolated

situation. Therefore, it is to this issue of prevention that I will

address the majority of my comments today.

For just over a year now, I have worked to understand how we

so sorely confused a key principle of the Magnuson Act. Contained

in the first national standard, this principle is to prevent

overfishing while achieving, on a continuing basis, optimum yield.

Instead we have prevented optimum yield while achieving, on a

continuing basis, overfishing. I doubt that many anticipated this

result when the Act was written.

The reason for this miserable mix-up is multifaceted. As we

have become fond of saying, "there is more than enough blame to go

around". Part of the problem, however, rests with the Act itself.

It is designed to promote the achievement and maintenance of

optimum yield from each fishery. Yet this is an elusive amount that

is more easily exceeded than accepted. And to date the Act

contains no provisions to ensure that this pursuit of optimum yield

does not result in overexploitation.

Senate Bill 39 tries to change that. It contains several

provisions that move the Magnuson Act in the right direction. The

new requirement that each management plan contain a definition of

overfishing is an essential first step. It's hard to prevent

something you haven't identified. The section on "Ecosystem

Management" adds a margin of safety to this concept, requiring the

I PRIMID ON PEC<l£0 p»*ER
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development of a management plan, amendment or proposed regulations

if a fishery is classified as "approaching a condition of being

overfished". In addition, this section provides some clarity of

responsibilities and time periods concerning the development of

these regulations. To further strengthen these provisions, I

suggest that the following issues be considered:

- For a fishery that is overfished or approaching an
overfished condition, § 305(b) (2) requires a Council to submit
a management plan, amendment or proposed regulations to the
Secretary within one year of the transmittal of that
determination. However, § 303(e) (C) does not require the
Secretary to prepare a plan if the Council has failed to
submit a plan within one year. Instead, it directs the
Secretary to prepare a plan where the Council has "failed to
take sufficient action" within one year. These provisions
should be consistent.

-. In addition, the Secretary is required to prepare a plan
only when the Council has failed to take sufficient action
with respect to an overfished fishery, not a fishery
approaching an overfished condition. Language that enables a
Secretary to prepare a plan to prevent overfishing would
significantly strengthen this new margin of safety.

- Section 305(e) (C) would also be improved by a clear time
limit on the Secretary's preparation of a management plan,
amendment, or regulations to prevent overfishing or to stop
overfishing and to rebuild affected stocks of fish.

S. 39 also includes two significant clarifications in the

definition of optimum yield. The first recognizes that in addition

to food production and recreational opportunities optimum yield

must account for the protection of marine ecosystems. The second

specifies that for a depleted stock, optimum yield will equal a

level of harvest that will allow the stock to rebuild to a size

that can produce maximum sustainable yield in the future.

^ PfiLNTEO ON RECYCLED PA;^
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As important as these changes are, however, they still leave

untouched a critical aspect of the definition of optimum yield.

The current definition allows harvesting beyond maximum sustainable

yield, a practice which inevitably leads to stock depletion. This

langxiage must be revised to make it clear that harvesting at a

level above the maximum sustainable yield (MSY) , is neither optimum

nor acceptable. Social and economic factors must only be allowed

to shift the level of harvest below MSY-

Buttressing these overfishing prevention measures, are the

provisions in S.39 to strengthen the Secretary's emergency

authority to respond to an overfishing situation that was not

averted. Most important is the doubling of time for emergency

actions. The existing limit of two 3 month periods has proven to

be too short, given that it almost always takes more than 180 days

to amend a fishery management plan.

In addition to the provisions designed to reduce the threat of

overfishing, I also strongly endorse the Senate's efforts to expand

the techniques by which Councils may develop management plans,

amendments, or proposed regulations. I am referring to the section

on negotiated conservation and management measures; provisions

which enable the Councils to benefit from an approach which

involves stakeholders in generating management proposals rather

than in opposing them.

) PBIKTED ON RECVCtfO PAKH
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Closely modeled upon the provisions of the Negotiated

Rulemaking Act, 5 U.S.C.S. § 561-583 (Supp. 1993), this new section

will grant regional fishery management Councils the discretionary

authority to employ assisted negotiation methods in the development

of conservation and management measures. Limited only by the

requirement that certain factors be considered prior to the use of

these techniques, this authority provides Councils with access to

tools readily available to all federal agencies charged with the

development of rules and regulations. And, like all other federal

agencies, the Councils must consider whether the use of these

techniques will "unreasonably delay the development of any

conservation and management measure or its submission to the

Secretary"

.

This negotiation section is just one of the many new ideas

that I am pleased to see in Senate Bill 39. others innovations in

fisheries management that I would like to commend include the

sections that are designed to identify and protect essential

fishery habitat. The oceans will continue to produce a bounty of

fish only if the quality and composition of the habitats in which

they need to grow, feed, and reproduce are maintained. Also

important are the measures in the bill to reduce bycatch. We

cannot afford to continue the wasteful destruction of sea life in

our efforts to harvest the resources that we deem valuable. 1

couldn't help noticing, however, that S.39 provides the North

Pacific with greater opportunity to deal with this problem than

) PRINTED ON KCYClla PiPin
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other regions. Yet, many of concepts contained in the section on

reducing bycatch in the North Pacific could be adapted to serve the

needs of fisheries in the rest of the nation.

Added to these innovations are timely provisions that allow

for the developinent of programs that address the social

consequences of management failures. Although S.39 significantly

improves our approach to fisheries conservation and management,

there will always be times when we are unable to meet all the

challenges of managing a natural resource. The measures designed

to deal with these times (disaster relief, transition plans, and

capacity reduction programs) wisely recognize this fallibility.

Managing our fisheries is no easy task. It relies on the

development of regionally appropriate rules. Recently, such

regulatory activities have come under a great deal of criticism.

It is to this issue that 1 would like to address my final point.

Mr. Chairman, as ypu and the other members of the Subcommittee

on Oceans and Fisheries undoubtedly recognize, the only way to

achieve the continuing benefit from our fisheries resources is to

adequately regulate their harvest. In New England, this has

recently meant the emergency implementation of measures that

severely restrict fishing activities on portions of Georges Bank.

Regulatory critics in Congress, who are proceeding with broadly

worded bans and moratoria on regulations, may not realize that by

rescinding this action, they may very well irreparably harm the

recovery of our groundfish stocks.

3 CW BtCrClED PAPER
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In late spring these fish congregate to spawn and are

extremely vulnerable to harvesting pressure. Currently, these

congregations are protected by emergency closure regulations

adopted in December, 1994. Later this year permanent regulations,

currently being developed, will be in place. They are expected to

significantly expand and extend the emergency closures. A

retroactive prohibition on regulatory implementation could remove

these critical stock protections as well as severely hinder the

process by which the permanent provisions are developed. If only

.for this reason alone, I ask you to exempt the Magnuson Act from

the list of laws that will be affected by the regulatory reform

legisl&tion you consider in the weeks ahead.

On behalf of CLF, I want to thank you all for your attention

and for this opportunity to testify today.

@ (>(>ivr6p 01 hecyx;lep paper
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Senator Stevens. Thank you very much.
Senator Snowe.
Senator Snowe. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to thank all

of you for your testimony here this afternoon.

One area I want to explore is negotiated rulemaking, because al-

most all of you make some reference to it in your testimony. I will

start with you, Jeff. Should it be mandatory or should it be discre-

tionary?
Mr. Kaelin. That is a good question. I really haven't been one

of the people who has been pushing for this because our herring

management has been taking place primarily within the Atlantic

States Marine Fisheries Commission. Honestly, we feel that our
recommendations have been listened to. We have had a little more
success with ASMFC than perhaps some of the groundfish people

have had with the council.

I would rather defer to Dennis or some of the other people who
are more directly interested in this process. We are supporting this

provision, we did through the Associated Fisheries of Maine, which,

as you know, I used to be president of. There may be some merit

in its mandatory use in some circumstances.
On the other hand, I don't know that it is appropriate in every

situation or necessary. I guess I'll leave it there. Senator.

Senator Snowe. OK Dennis, would you care to comment?
Mr. Frappier. I would support it, especially if there was the abil-

ity to have the Gulf of Maine interest represented, which is dif-

ferent than the rest of the groundfish interests in the region.

Senator Snowe. I notice that Ms. Alden mentioned in her testi-

mony that it should be mandatory to use the results of negotiated

rulemaking. Would you agree?
Mr. Frappier. I would.
Senator Snowe. Would you prefer the council or the Secretary to

have that ability or that authority? In the reauthorization bill, they
name the council. I introduced legislation giving the authority to

the Secretary. Does it make a difference? I know you have had a
lot of frustrations with the enforcement of Amendment 5 as far as
the council is concerned.
Mr. Frappier. I am not knowledgeable enough to comment on

that. I am sorry.

Mr. Burns. Do you want me to comment?
Senator Snowe. Yes. I know you are opposed to mandatory, but

I did not know if you were opposed to discretionary.

Mr. Burns. No, I don't think we are opposed to discretionary. As
a matter of fact, that is why I said that. I think that this process

has to become workable. One of the chief complaints we keep hear-
ing is that decisions are hard to come by in a quick fashion, and
if some negotiation would help work that out, fine. But I'm afraid

that mandatory will just make it a stall and delay tactic every time
that somebody needs to bite the bullet.

And I have been talking to friends of mine on the council, and
they feel that way about it. So that is why we took that position.

Senator Snowe. Anybody else who cares to comment?
Ms. Atkinson. I would like to comment on that idea. You are

asking whether it should be mandatory or discretionary.

Senator Snowe. Assuming you support it.
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Ms. Atkinson. Yes, yes, I do. I strongly endorse the concept and
have spent some time with members of the fishing industry explor-

ing this concept further. However, I don't support a mandatory pro-

vision or mandatory characteristic. And that is partly because of

my understanding of negotiated rulemaking itself.

I think that if the council is forced into doing this type of activity

you won't come up with a measure that I think everybody supports.

They will go into the whole process unwillingly. If it is discre-

tionary, and I think if people understand its value and its use, then
I think you will come to a much better conclusion.

Senator Snowe. Ms. Alden made the comment that it was a very

expensive process to assemble, so therefore the results should be
mandatory.
Ms. Atkinson. I think one difficulty, too, with the results them-

selves being mandatory as opposed to the actual convening of a
panel being mandatory, that it could be that the results aren't in

accord with the goal that was put forward. And the council does
have its responsibility to make sure that the proposals it puts in

meets its mandate.
Senator Snow?:. I know my time is up, Mr. Chairman.
Senator CoHKN. I will yield you 1 minute of my time.

Senator Stp:vkns. You already did.

Senator SNOWt:. He is tough on us, too. [Laughter.]

Senator Snovvk. One final question, Ms. Atkinson. With reference
to one of the proposed changes in the Magnuson Act, in developing
a comprehensive plan, if the council fails to do so, the Secretary
would implement a plan. You are saying the difference ought to be
where they fail to take sufficient action. That is a much broader
discretion that you are granting to the Secretary.

Ms. Atkinson. What I was trying to point out was just that
there is a difference in the two, and I was trying to point out that
there is a loophole there. I don't even know if I had thought
through which was the appropriate, but I wanted to just point out
that, having kind of gone through the Act with a red pencil, I said
oh, there are two provisions that are quite different and it really

does make a difference.

I think if the idea is to kind of hold a stick more over the council,

then it really makes sense that the Secretary as well would have
to act if the council failed to submit a plan, a opposed to failing.

So it depends on the policy.

Senator Snowe. Thank you.
Senator Stevens. Senator Cohen.
Senator Cohen. In the 1 minute that is remaining to me, Mr.

Chairman, Ms. Atkinson, does the Foundation support the concept
of a buyout?
Ms. Atkinson. I think we haven't reached that conclusion, as

you have been seeing as well. We are still looking at the idea and
thinking about the idea. I think one thing that we are particularly
concerned, and a lot of people have talked about as well being con-
cerned, is making sure that in any type of buyout program there
is provisions put in to prevent the reduction being replaced by new
entry or entry from other fisheries. And there is also the concern
about the impact on other fisheries.
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But I think today I was very encouraged, listening to this idea
of a pilot program to try to work all the kinks out and figure out
what will work best for this region. I am very encouraged by
everybody's activity in trying to explore this issue.
Senator Cohen. Jeff Kaelin, I don't want to undermine your

credibility or impeach you before you say anything, but Jeff used
to work on the House Merchant Marine Fisheries Committee staff.
That probably disqualifies you now as having a conflict of interest
of sorts. But you are familiar with other fisheries around the coun-
try. Are there any, in your judgment or your experience, other re-
gions that could absorb the bought-out fishing boats or vessels?
Mr. Kaelin. I am proud of being an ex-staffer on the Merchant

Marine Fisheries Committee, but most proud of being one of your
staffers too. Senator Cohen.
Senator Cohen. I was not fishing for that.
Mr. Kaelin. But that is true. I don't know. In some of the buyout

design meetings that we have had over the last year or so, I don't
think we can identify areas of the United States where extra capac-
ity is needed. I think there are several areas around the world
where extra capacity or certain technology doesn't exist. Some of us
have been thinking about perhaps tying a buyout into a foreign aid
kind of an approach and maybe moving vessels around the world
to move capacity from the region.

I would not be in favor oi moving those boats anywhere else in

the United States personally.

Senator ConKN. Just one final point. Dennis, vou have to deal
not only with the fishing community but those wno are dependent
upon the fishing community—those who supply the fuel, the ice,

the eauipment, and others. Do you think there should be a buyout
if it aoes not at least guarantee that the money that goes to the

boat owner also has to go to pay creditors first?

Mr. Frappikr. I completely support the buyback, and I do believe

that creditors ought to be made whole as well—and there are lots

of them.
Senator CoHKN. Mr. Chairman, I have other questions which I

will save for the record.

Senator Stevens. Congressman.
Mr. LoNciLEY. A couple quick questions. Mr. Frappier, you em-

phasized changing some procedures regarding by-catch. Could you
elaborate on that?

Mr. FiiAPPiER. Yes. We have regulations right now that say there

is no by-catch. There is no by-catch by regulation, which is a hallu-

cination for managers to sit somewhere and think that there is no

by-catch because they say there is no by-catch.

What they mean is that the fishermen will throw the fish away
dead instead of bringing them in; therefore, there is zero percent

by-catch landed. Unfortunately, there isn't the staff and the capac-

ity to send observers onto vessels to make sure that there isn't by-

catch, and I suggest just switching the table around just a Httle bit

and encouraging them to sell the fish.

Then you wilfknow if there is by-catch. If the bv-catch is signifi-

cant or if the amount of species caught that should be protected are

significant, you can take action if there is flexibility in the legisla-

tion that allows that to happen.
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Mr. LoNGLEY. That may make too much sense.

Ms. Atkinson, I have a question. You were focusing on the ques-
tion or issue of overfishing versus optimum yield. Why are you
making such a point of that, or could you highlight for me where
you see a change necessary from the existing legislation?

Ms. Atkinson. Well, I think the idea is that we have been trying
to do two things that we may be incapable of doing, which is fish-

ing to this point of optimum yield and preventing overfishing at the
same time. And it may be that sometime down in the future when
we have perfect information we may be able to do it at the same
time.

But what it has, I think, allowed us to do or encouraged us to

do is to push too hard toward the opportunity that optimum yield

kind of holds out there.

Mr. LoNGLEY. So you want to see more of a definition in terms
of limits?

Ms. Atkinson. Exactly. It is the idea that optimum yield should
be defined more in accord with maximum sustainable yield, that
you need to put a ceiling on it so that it can only be—it cannot be
adjusted upward, for example, to meet social or economic interests;

it can only be adjusted downward.
Mr. Longley. If I have time, one final question, and I know this

isn't giving merit to the significance of the issue, but, Mr. Burns,
you were commenting about recreational fishing versus commer-
cial. In the minute that we have got left, I would appreciate if it

you would elaborate on that to the extent that we have not had
time today.

Mr. Burns. Do you simply mean the access?
Mr. Longley. To what extent do you see a conflict?

Mr. Burns. Well, from a subsistence fishery or from a rec-

reational fishery standpoint, we have suffered on the quality end
of it, just as—I mean, quality fishing, being able to catch some-
thing—just as the commercial fishermen do, although obviously it

is not our living. There is or there was a significant charter boat
industry that has simply gone out of business.

I just think that, as in Newfoundland, when the only fishing that
has been allowed has been a little subsistence, personal use fish-

ery, there was some talk at a recent subgroup of the council about
cutting recreational fishing back to 3 days in the Gulf of Maine. We
are opposed to that to the bottoms of our feet. It is an insignificant

factor in the total mortality of the fishery, and to limit the access

for the very few trips a year or, in some cases, the few trips of a
lifetime that people get to go offshore on one of these party boats
is just an unnecessary punishment, and I hope there is no thought
of it becoming practice.

But I know for a fact that it was seriously discussed by some
members of the coimcil.

Mr. Longley. A quick follow-up to Dennis or Jeff. Do you see a
problem with what Mr. Burns is suggesting?
Mr. Frappier. I don't see a significant problem, except I think

the industry feels strongly that if they are excluded fi"om closed

areas that those closed areas exclude everybody, recreational and
commercial alike. If they are spawning grounds, there should not
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be charter boats in there taking economic advantage of those fish.

If they are closed, they are closed.

Mr. LONGLEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Stevens. Ms. Atkinson, I hope you do not stick to your

demand that the optimum yield could never go up. I remember
when the king crab wandered away for 3 years, and we reduced it

down to almost zero. And then when they came back, it went back
up again. It is not a static concept at all. It ought to be adjusted

upward or downward on a scientific basis.

Ms. Atkinson. I guess what we are saying is in relation to maxi-
mum sustainable yield, which will adjust upward and downward
with the stock as well. I am not a scientist, but from what I under-
stand
Senator Stevens. But you were saying you believed it should

never go up.
Ms. Atkinson. That the maximum sustainable yield as a point

should be the ceiling.

Senator Stevens. Well, that depends on the species and the time
period and the conditions of the stocks. I would hope that we have
some understanding that right now, particularly, we are looking at

a period of reducing that level for a period of time to restore the

fisheries on this area. When it comes back, God willing, I hope we
restore the fishery.

Mr. Conkling, you would make a good Alaskan. We would like to

have the Gulf of Alaska under our control, too. Send me your
paper, and maybe we will find some way we can do that. I tried,

as a matter of fact. When I introduced the bill, I thought I would
extend the State's jurisdiction to 200 miles, but that couldn't quite

work. You know, if you look at the problems that you have as you
go out beyond 2 or 3 miles, you soon find conflicts with your neigh-

bors.

But I do appreciate your coming. I hope you will send us your
paper.

Last, Ms. Sanfilippo, we admire your vision. The fact that your
wives' association would get together and plan for the year 2020,
I think, demonstrates what we would like to see, and that is a
greater connection between the communities along the coast and
the resources off their shores. So I hope you will pardon me for

having to move you along a little bit as you made your presen-
tation.

Ms. Sanfilippo. That is OK Thank you.
Senator Stevens. Our next panel will be Patton White, Ted

Ames, Gail Johnson, and Marshall Alexander. We will take a sort

of seventh-inning stretch while they are changing. [Pause.]

Senator Stevens. We are going to move along, if we can, because
we still want to have any comments from the audience, if it is pos-

sible. We will be leaving, as I said, right at 5:30. Mr. White. Could
we ask the audience please to hold it down?

STATEMENT OF PATTEN D. WHITE, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
MAINE LOBSTERMEN'S ASSOCIATION

Mr. White. I am starting off at a disadvantage already, Mr.
Chairman. I am on the red. Thank you very much for this oppor-
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tunity. While I approve of many of the amendments to the Magnu-
son Act, I have some concerns which I would like to address.

On conflict of interest, the Sustainable Fisheries Act requires

council members to recuse themselves from voting or debating is-

sues if they have a financial interest that is significantly affected

by a council decision. At this point in time, the majority of the ap-

pointed members of the New England Fishery Management Coun-
cil represents, either directly or indirectly, the groundfish industry,

to the detriment of other fisheries. The method of appointment al-

lows room for bias which sometimes results in decisions which are

more beneficial to one industry than to others.

Since I represent the Maine lobster industry, I am particularly

concerned with the difficulty of receiving fair and unbiased atten-

tion under this system. I would like to suggest that a stronger em-
phasis be placed on the New England Fishery Management Council

to establish negotiation panels to assist in the development of spe-

cific conservation and management measures for a fishery.

The entire northeast lobster industry currently has an effort

management team process in place for just that purpose. I feel the

efforts of this process are undervalued by the New England Fishery
Management Council.

With regards to fishery habitat, the intent of these amendments
is unclear to me. To date, the only method used to facilitate protec-

tion of essential fish habitats is through temporary closures. I feel

consideration of gear type and the effects of their long-term use on
habitat and juvenile populations is essential. The bill later makes
reference to analyzing newly introduced gear types, but it appears
to disregard an analysis of existing gear types, some of which may
adversely impact habitat and juvenile populations.

I would like to address the issue of redirection of effort and gear
conflict resulting from displaced fisheries. With the mandatory re-

duction of effort on some species, those fishermen involved are

forced to turn to alternative fisheries. I don't feel there are any spe-

cies that can withstand additional pressure, least of all lobsters,

which have been deemed to be overfished. In addition, with dis-

placed boats looking for new areas to fish, incidences of gear con-

flicts are increasing, resulting in substantial losses of fixed gear
such as gill nets and lobster traps.

As far as the individual transferable quotas, as chair of the Area
1 EMT, which encompasses the area from Cape Cod to the Cana-
dian border, I would like to report that the overwhelming consen-

sus of its members indicate opposition to any form of ITQs to be

used as a method of effort reduction in the inshore lobster fishery.

In regard to the by-catch, in regard to the proposal, why are the

majority of proposed amendments concerned with only the north

Pacific, is my question. And another question: Why doesn't the Sen-

ate amendment contain a national standard 8 as does the House
version?

I would also at this time like to thank Senator Snowe for her ef-

forts to protect our herring stocks, as they are crucial to the future

of the lobster industry. I appreciate it. Thank you for your time.

[Prepared statement of Mr. White follows:]
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MAINE
Lobstermen's Association. Inc.

Box 147 DomarUootta. Maine 04543 563-6254

March 4, 1995

While I approve of many of the amendments to the Magnuson Act,

have some concerns which I would like to address.

ISSUE: Conflict Of interest

S.39 SUSTAINABLE FISHERIES ACT requires Council members to

recuse themselves from voting or debating issues if they have a financial

Interest that Is significantly affected by a Council decision

At this point In time, the majority of the appointed membership of

the New England Fishery Management Council represents, either directly or

Indirectly, the groundflsh Industry to the detriment of other fisheries Tne

method of appointment allows room for bias which sometimes results in

decisions which are more beneficial to one Industry than to others Since I

represent the Maine lobster Industry, I am particularly concerned with the

difficulty of receiving fair and unbiased attention under this system

I would like to suggest that a stronger emphasis be placed on the NEMFC to

establish negotiation panels to assist in the development of specific

conservation and management measures for a fishery. The entire

northeast lobster Industry currently has an Effort Management Team
process in place for Just that purpose. I feel the efforts of this process

are undervalued by the NEFMC

ISSUE; FISHERY HABITAT

The intent of these amendments Is unclear to me To date, the only

method used to facilitate protection of essential fish habitats is through

temporary closures, i feel consideration of gear type and the effects of

their long term use on habitat and juvenile populations is essential The

Dill later makes reference to analyzing newly introduced gear types, but it

appears to disregard an analysis of existing gear types, some of which

may adversely impact habitat and juvenile populations.
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I would like to aacrses trie issue or redirection or error: ana ge.jr

conflict resulting from displaced fisneries. With tr^e mandatory reduction
or effort on some opccica, thooc flohcrmcn Involved arc forced to turn to
alternative fisheries. I don't feel there are any species that can
wilhsLdnu additional pressure, least of all lobsters, which have been
deemefi to be overflshefl. In addition, witn displaced boats looking foi new
areas to fish, Incidences of gear conflicts are increasing, resulting in

substantial losses of fixed gear ouch ac gill nets and lobster traps.

I55UE: INDIVIDUAL TRANFERABLE QUOTAS (ITQS)

As Chair of Area »1 EMT, which encompasses the area irom Capp foo

to the Coogrtian border, l would like to report that the overwhelming
concensus of Its members indicated opposition to any forrri of iTQi to De

used as a method of effort reduction In the Inshore lobster fishery

ISSUE: BYCATCH

in regard to the proposals, why are the majority of proDOf.<»n

amendments concerned with only the North Pacific? Why doesn't the

Genate amendment contain a National Standard 8 as does the House
version?

Patten 0. White, Executive Director
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Senator Stevens. Thank you very much.
Let me announce that Mr. Tom Melius, who is Senator Pressler's

representative here, will be down here somewhere—Tom, identify

yourself. For those people who may want to make comments to us
at the end, we would like to establish some sort of pecking order
of getting to the microphone, so would you please meet with Tom
right over here. He has forms that we have to have for our records

to identify the person who spoke for our record. So would you meet
with him if you desire to make any comments to us at the end of

the hearing, please? Thank you very much. Next is Mr. Ames.

STATEMENT OF TED AMES, HARVESTER, FORMER PRESffiENT,
MAIN GBLLNETTERS ASSOCIATION

Mr. Ames. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Stevens. Mr. Ames, you did not give us a copy of your

statement. You are going to send us a copy of your written state-

ment, are you not?
Mr. Ames. I believe you have it, but it has just arrived.

Senator Stevens. Thank you very much. Proceed.
Mr. Ames. I will not be able to review all of its components. In

particular, I won't have time to address national standards and by-
catch reduction. But they are very important and I wanted to share
my views on it.

I am Ted Ames, a fisherman from Stonington, Maine, and I want
to thank you for the opportunity to speak. I was fishing back in

1965, up through 1976, when the Russian fleet was here and re-

member full well the need for the Magnuson Act. But it has failed.

Groundfish stocks have been devastated and New England's tradi-

tional inshore fleet has been staggered.
Through it all, we fishermen have been forced to stand on the

outside of the decisionmaking process and watch the council allow
methodical destruction of our livelihood. Now that ground stock

fish stocks have been flattened, the owners of the vessels respon-
sible for that destruction are unfairly demanding ownership of the
resource. The council is listening, not to us but to them.
Today our coastal stocks are fished as heavily by offshore vessels

as they were prior to the Magnuson Act. I personally think we
might be far better off if your bill simply split the whole EEZ up
and handed its management over to the States for their section.

Compared to the council, the States have done a much better job
of managing fisheries, period. And they are accountable to us as
well, accountable for the regulations tney make, because we are
voters, you see. The end result has been State regulations that
work well. There is no need to mention the success of the council's

regulations.

At the very least, we need our State territorial waters to be ex-

tended back to 12 miles to protect our stocks from EEZ fishermen.
That in turn will give us an opportunity to rebuild our fisheries.

The council has been unable to do the job. It has repeatedly cast
aside the rights of the majority of us fishermen for the benefit of
a few companies. It has designed one management plan after an-
other that concentrates ownership to the point of creating monopo-
lies. We need representation and accountability. These people are
making decisions that deprive us of our businesses and our homes.
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They must be responsible for their decisions, but we have no re-

course because those positions are all appointed. We can't even vote
them out of office when they make incompetent decisions.
Add a seat to the council that has full voting rights. Fill this

chair with a democratically elected representative for each fishery,

and then, when that particular fishery is being discussed by the
council, have that representative be seated and let him participate
in the ongoing discussion and vote afterwards. Let them be nomi-
nated and elected by the harvesters of the industry. It is our necks
that are being chopped.

Conflicts of interest are a special concern. It is unconscionable
that members should be allowed to come, not to comment—because
we are all free to talk—but to vote and to lobby in inappropriate
ways on issues in which they have a direct financial interest.

ITQs are really uncomfortable because we are already acquainted
with them in Maine. Maine has extensive beds of mahogany clams
off its coast, and yet we have been denied the right to catch them,

I see I have run out of time. I apologize for having such a nega-
tive note to where we are at as a fishing industry, but we need
your help. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Ames follows:]
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Testimony of Ted Ames
P. 0. Box 188, Stonington, ME 04681

Tel: (207) 367-5907

INTRODUCTION
I'm Ted Ames, a fisherman from Stonington, ME. I'd like to thank
you for the opportunity to speak today about the Magnuson Act.

HISTORY
Those of us who were groundf ishing back in 1965-76 when the Russian
fleet fished here, remember full well the need for the Magnuson
Act .

But it has failed. Groundfish stocks have been devastated and New
England's traditional inshore fleet staggered.

Through it all, we fishermen have been forced to stand on the
outside of the decision-making process and watch the council allow
the methodical destruction of our livelihood.

Now that groundfish stocks have been flattened, the owners of the
vessels responsible for that destruction are unfairly demanding
ownership of the resource. The council is listening. Not to us;
to them.

STATE BOUNDARIES AND THE 12 MILE LIMIT
Today, our coastal stocks are fished as heavily by offshore vessels
as they were before the Magnuson Act was first passed.

Personally, I think we all might be better off if your bill simply
split the whole EEZ up. Divided the Gulf of Maine and Georges Bank
into sections and just handed it over to the bordering states to
be managed. Compared to the council, states have done a much
better job of managing our fisheries.

And state managers are accountable, as well. Accountable to us
fishermen for the regulations they make... We're voters, you see.
The end result has been state regulations that work. There's no
need to mention the success of council regulations.

At the very least, we need our state territorial waters to be
extended back to the 12 mile limit, to protect our stocks from EEZ
fishermen. That, in turn, will give us an opportunity to rebuild
our fisheries.

THE COUNCIL
The council has been unable to do the job. It has repeatedly cast
aside the rights of the majority of us fishermen for the benefit
of a few big companies. It has designed one management plan after
another that concentrates ownership to the point of creating
monopolies

.
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WE NEED REPRESENTATION
Big companies have seats, states have seats, some associations have
seats, and the public has seat. But we fishermen are not allowed
a single democratically elected delegate.

AND ACCOUNTABILITY
We have no recourse. We can't persuade them or even vote them out
of office when they make incompetent decisions. The council's
members are all appointed.

Yet, this council is allowed to make decisions that deprive us of
our businesses and homes. I most heartily object. Council members
must be made responsible for their decisions and fishermen must be
allowed to have representation.

Add a seat to the council that has full voting rights. Fill this
chair with a democratically elected representative of each fishery.
Whenever that particular fishery is being discussed on the council
floor, let it's representative be seated. Let them be nominated
and elected by the harvesters of that fishery.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
Qualified fishing industry people serving on the council must be
allowed to have involvement with industry. It is that relationship
that allows them to perform their duties well. But at the same
time, it is inconceivable that council members should be able to
participate in matters where there is a direct conflict of interest
or be hired by a private company to lobby other council members for
it's private policies.

While not solely to blame for our depleted stocks, conflict of
interest situations have thwarted sound management and prolonged
unwise fishing techniques. Stocks so damaged include redfish,
haddock, cod, and Georges Bank herring.

ITQ's
ITQ's are proposed in the bill as being preferred by federal
regulators. We already have some experience with them. Maine has
extensive beds of mahogany clam off it's coast.

Yet, Maine fishermen have been denied the ITQ's to catch them. Even
though they were entitled to them. NMFS and the council have
refused to give Maine fishermen any shares. It seems that all the
ITQ's are owned by the three big clam companies (1 Canadian, 1

Japanese, and 1 American company). Owner-operators, the backbone
of Maine and New England's traditional fleet have been excluded.

This doesn't feel like fisheries management to me; it feels like
piracy! The bill advocates ITQ's, but it doesn't acknowledge this
problem.

There are other problems. It would be tremendously expensive.

ITQ's means next year's catch is allocated to fishermen based on
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an estimate of how much can be harvested without damaging the
stock. Each year NMFS would have to survey all the commercial
stocks in New England and make new estimates on allowable harvest.

In addition, just look at the record. Population predictions are
unreliable (+/-30% at best). As a result, NMFS misses as many
stock projections as it hits. The bottom line is, NMFS doesn't
have the ability to predict accurately enough to make ITQ's work.

They can certainly divvy up the stock... But tieing our livelihood
to predictions for ITQ's like that would be little better than
making guesses from a bar room.

Do Maine fishermen want ITQ's? I don't think so! We want a

process that is fair and equitable and ITQ's is neither. What we
need is protection from the ITQ process.

For people who simply want ownership of fish, let them grow them
in their backyard. America's coastal wealth belongs to all

Americans; fishermen included.

NATIONAL STANDARDS AND THE OVERFISHING DEFINITION
The 602 guidelines as applied by the NEFMC is of little value for
determining overfishing.

Let's face it. It is not enough for NMFS to say the fish are gone.

In order for national standards to work for marine life, attention
must be brought to what the real problem is.

For a stock to be sustainable, fish have to be able to grow and
reproduce at least once before being caught

.

a) NMFS should be required to identify spawning grounds, nursery
areas, and summarize the average size of each species at the time
of first spawning (not maturity) and the size it is recruited into
the fishery (mesh size used should also be included)

.

b) Overfishing is caused by specific activities. The standard
should require NMFS to identify at what point in life the stock is

being overfished; is it because of fishing pressure (a) during
spawning, (b) during it's juvenile stages, (c) as a bycatch to
another fishery, or (c) pollution of these areas.

c) The definition of overfishing should also address how, when,
where, and by what method, wherever known.

d) Deficiencies in the protection of spawning areas, nursery
areas, and migration routes of fish should be noted.

USE OF THE STANDARDS
NMFS should make this 4-part report on overfishing available to

each council member. Having it will allow council members to

better manage how, where, and when fishing should occur m those
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sensitive areas.

The council should be required to provide management plans which
correct the deficiencies identified by NMFS in a reasonable and
timely manner that allows industry to adjust. If council members
do not, they should be replaced.

Access to such information is clearly critical to effective
management, but it has not always been readily available in the
past. Consequently, the knowledge base used by the council in many
of it's decisions has been inadequate.

My experience at council meetings has been that most members are
unaware of such basic information as the location of spawning
grounds, nursery areas, or average size-at-f irst-spawning, of the
stocks they are discussing.

BYCATCH REDUCTION AND HABITAT PROTECTION
Times have changed. And we fishermen must change with it. Or fall
by the way. Bycatch is a difficult problem to solve. If a fishing
technique is too destructive, it must be modified, restricted from
being used in certain areas, or banned.

We fishermen all recognize this, whether we like it or not. About
all the Magnuson Act can do to help us, though, is to provide
additional funds to research how to make gear more selective and
time to do it.

Habitat protection is critical to commercial fishing. But it must
be done wisely so that fish harvesting can continue. If a gear
type is harmful to particular area, the gear must be modified or
restricted from being used there. Not as a penalty, but to protect
other fishermen and other uses from loss of the habitat.

Maine fishermen recognize that much must be done to restore and
care for our fisheries. As a result, the Maine Legislature,
responding to requests from the Maine Gillnetters Association,
Maine Fishermens CoOp, and Maine Lobstermens Association to:

a) Explore designing a bill to close inside the 3-mile limit to
all fishing for groundfish during spawning season.

b) Explore designing a bill to require that applicants must eb
properly trained before a new commercial fishing license is

issued. These will include a fisherman's responsibility to care
for his fishery, to other fishermen, the ecosystem he uses, and
the environment.

Give the State of Maine and Maine fishermen the right to administer
our share of offshore grounds and we'll start restoring them, too.
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Senator Stevens, We will take your full statement, and I thank
you for your points. Next is Ms. Gail Johnson, Maine Fishermen's
Wives Association.

STATEMENT OF GAIL JOHNSON, MAINE FISHERMEN'S WIVES
ASSOCIATION

Ms. Johnson. Thank you. Senators and Congressman Longley.
Thank you for the honor of testifying on reauthorization of the
Magnuson Act that governs so much of the lives of we who earn
our living from the oceans. I am Gail Johnson. I am a charter
member and past president of Maine Fishermen's Wives Associa-
tion, for whom I speak today. We have members in every county
along Maine's 3,600-mile coast and 144 coastal ports.

After passage of the Magnuson Act and subsequent withdrawal
of the foreign fleets, the U.S. Government actively encouraged mod-
ernization and enlargement of the U.S. fishing fleet. Investors had
boats built to gain investment tax credits, tax shelters, and passive
losses. Many of the vessels built were never intended to make
money, so when inevitably the investors went out of the fish busi-
ness the vessels stayed and became, at a lower cost, property of
motivated fishermen-owners.
We are all aware of the decline of some of our most important

fish stocks. A buyback of some groundfish vessels makes economic
and environmental sense. At present, there are more vessels and
technology available than there are fish to support them. The elec-

tronic technology is too entwined with safety to be a target for

downsizing.
The quickest and most effective way to reduce fishing effort and

allow a greater chance for stock rebuilding is by buying back the
entire vessel with its permit. Our fishing families and the coastal

communities of the State of Maine contributed the last to the
present problem, yet will be affected, and hurt, the most because
of the economics of our coastal communities.

Council members and conflict of interest is a matter of perception
and not fact. Senator Stevens, I am happy to read in the Congres-
sional Record that you "still believe that the councils should be
made up of the people directly affected by fishery management de-

cisions." They are indeed the ones, and the only ones, who have the
integral knowledge of what may work or what may compromise
safety or may even be counterproductive.
We are opposed to making some of the 602 guidelines actual law.

One of the contributing factors to the decline of cod and yellowtail

was the inability of the council to implement incremental actions

such as larger mesh and closed areas. Section 602.11(b)(5)(iii) man-
dates that a program must be established for rebuilding the stock

over a period of time." Trouble was, it took a very long time to de-

velop this suite of measures that constitute a program, and because
of the length of time the measures no longer fulfill their mandate.
Any one of these incremental measures may not have stopped

overfishing, but the council would have been able to see how much
each measure contributed to decreasing effort and catch. We have
now a suite of measures in amendment 5 that are not sufficient

and are verv difficult for the National Marine Fisheries Service and
the Coast Guard to monitor and enforce.
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The Overview of Approach to the 602 Guidelines Final Rule
states that "certain principles instructed the revision throughout:
flexibility, integrity, consistency." The fisheries are dynamic and
they present a moving target; therefore, the councils must have the
flexibility to effect actions that take into account those dynamics,
whether not any individual action will reach the goal of rebuilding
the stocks. We simply do not know exactly how man's actions will

affect the stocks.

In summary, the Maine Fishermen's Wives Association supports
the Act and those amendments which allow for public involvement
in the process of developing plans to safeguard the integrity of the
fisheries, specifically as it relates to fishing families and their com-
munities. Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Johnson follows:]
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TESTTMONT OF \L\INE FISHERMEN'S WIVES ASSOCIATION

FIELD HEARING ON S.39

Senator Stevens. Senator Kerry, Senator Snowe thank you for the honor of testiiying on

'eauthorizing the Magnuson Act that governs so much of the lives of we who earn our living from

the oceans. My name is Gail Johnson. I am a charter member and past president of Maine

Fishermen's Wives Association, for whom I speak today. We have members in every county

along Maine's 3600 mile coast and 144 coastal ports.

After passage of the Magnuson Act and subsequent withdrawal of the foreign fleets, the U.S.

government actively encouraged modernization and enlargement of the U.S. fishing fleet.

Investors had boats built to gain investment tax credits, tax shelteiTs, and passive losses. Many of

the vessels built were never intended to make money, so when inevitably the investor; went out of

the fish business, the vessels stayed and became lower cost property of motivated fishermen-

owners.

We -are all aware of the decline of some of our most important fish stocks. A buyback of some

grcundfish vessels makes economic and environmental sense. At present, there are more vessels

and technology available dian there are fish to suppon them. The electronic technology is too

entwined with safety to be a target for "downsizing." The quickest and most effective way to

reduce fishing effort and allow a greater chance for stock rebuilding is by buying back the entire

vessel with its permit. Our fishing families and the coastal communities of the State of Maine

contributed the least to the present problem yet wiH be affected—and hurt—the most because of the

economics of our coastal communities.

Council members and conflict of interest is a maner of perception and not fact. Senator

Stevens, I am happy to read in the Congressional Record that you "still believe that the councils

should be made up of the people directly affected by fishery management decisions." They are

indeed the ones—the only ones—who have the integral knowledge of what may work or what may

compromise safety or even be counterproductive.

We ai-e opposed to making some of the 602 guidelines actual law. One of the contributing

factors to the decline of cod and yellowtail was the inability of the council to implement incremental

actions such as larger mesh and closed areas. Section 602. 1 1 (b)(5)(iii) mandates that "a prosram

must be established for rebuilding the stock over a period of time..." Trouble wa.s, it took a very
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long time develop this suite of measures that constitute a program, and because of the length of

time, the measures no longer fulfill their mandate. Any one of these incremental measures may not

have stopped overfishing but the council would have been able to see how much each measure

contributed to decreasing effort and catch. We have now a suite of measures in Amendmeni 5 that

are not sufficient and are very difficult for NMFS to monitor and enforce.

The Overview of Approach to the 602 Guidelines Final Rule states that "Cenain principles

instructed the revision throughout; fJexibiliry, integnty, consistency." Tlie fisheries are dynamic

and present a moving target; therefore the councils must have the flexibility to effect actions that

take into account those dynamics, whether or not any individual action will reach the goal of

rebuilding the stocks. We simply do not know exactly how man's actions will affea the stocks.

In summary, MFWA supports the Act and those amendments which allow for public

involvement in the process of developing plans to safeguard the integrity of the fisheries,

specifically as it relates to fishing families and their communities.
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Senator Stevens. Thank you very much. Now, Mr. Marshall Al-

exander, owner-operator of the fishing vessel Dee-Dee Mae, Bidde-
ford, Maine.

STATEMENT OF MARSHALL ALEXANDER, OWNER/OPERATOR,
FISmNG VESSEL DEE-DEE MAE, BroDEFORD, MAINE

Mr. Alexander. Thank you for the opportunity to testify to you,
Senators and Representative, on the reauthorization of Senate bill

39, the Magnuson Act. My name is Marshall Alexander. I own and
operate my 54-foot fishing vessel, the Dee-Dee Mae II.

I go back to the beginning of the Magnuson Act, when myself
and my vessel sailed on Washington from Maine back when you
were first trying to pass the bill.

As far as the council makeup, I believe that it is very important
that the councils be made up of knowledgeable industry people, if

they are to do the job presented to them.
On the issue of by-catch, there is no such thing as a fishery with

no by-catch, whether it be hook, line or autotrawl. In the past 4
years, we have come a long ways with mesh size. The State of

Maine, the fishermen of the State of Maine proposed a 6-inch mesh
size. We have given it little time to work. We, the fishermen, can
see the results of this mesh size.

We have also, in the shrimp fishery in the Gulf of Maine, we are
now using Nodmore grate. Maybe some of the industry wasn't too

pleased with it, but I can tell you point blank that I know no one
in the industry that would ever go without it. The by-catch is just
zero with this Nodmore grate in our shrimp fishery.

I think that other gear technologies could be used to cut down
the by-catch in other fisheries, and I know as a fishermen and my
fellow fishermen, we do not like throwing fish overboard. It is our
resource, and we do care about it.

Users fees. I do not feel this is the time for users fees when our
industry is in the shape it is in now. I will not say that I am totally

against them at some time, but I do not feel as though the industry
could survive with them at this time.

Buyback. I firmly support a buyback. How we come up with pay-
ing for it, I understand the money problems. I care about the
money problems, because I am a taxpayer. This big effort that put
our stocks in the shape it was in was put there through private

gain—like I say, money people. It was not the owner-operator,
which most Maine boats are. When the Maine fisherman goes to

sea, it is his family, and he does not own just a pair of boots. It

is usually his house, everything he owns is tied up in that vessel.

So he cares about the industry. He cares about not breaking these
laws because they mean everything to him that he has worked all

his life for.

But a buyback would be the quickest way to reduce the effort

that has caused our problem and nas continued to keep it this way.
I would like to make a comment on something that wasn't down

there, and that is science. Our industry needs more competence
science, with the checks and balances wnich it does not have. The
time spent at sea by people in the scientific field is way too little

to understand what is happening out there. If we are to be able to

help the stocks and the habitat, we need more and better science.
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Working together, as fishermen and scientists we can and will have
a resource and industry for generations to come.
Thank you very much.
Senator Stevens. Thank you, sir.

Now, we are going to limit ourselves to 2 minutes now.
Senator Snowe. 2 minutes? We are fast talkers, but I do not

know.
Senator Stevens. We do have other people who want to make

comments to us, so we will limit ourselves to 2 minutes. Senator
Snowe.
Senator Snowe. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Ms. Johnson, you mentioned the fact that the failure of the coun-

cil to take incremental action early on contributed to the decline of
the New England groundfish. Do you think that this legislation,

the way it is drafted now to take incremental action, will allow the
council to take incremental action in the interim while it is devel-
oping a comprehensive plan? Will it address the problem you are
talking about so that they can be more responsive at the time in
which the problem is occurring?
Ms. Johnson. I certainlv hope so. In fact, the way amendment

5 is done, amendment 5 allows for framework action. Incremental
action as we go along certainly would help. In the development of
amendment 5, it was extremely frustrating to some council mem-
bers as well as the industry to see things continuing to decline,

know that there were actions that could be taken and be unable
to do so because of guidelines, also because of an overhanging law-
suit.

Senator Stevens. You can have one of my minutes.
Senator Snowe. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. That is very kind.
One of my other questions has to do with, Mr. Alexander, the by-

catch definition. Chairman Stevens' legislation. Do you think that
that would be helpful?
Mr. Alexander. By all means. Like I say, we have cut back by-

catch considerably since we have gone to a bigger mesh in the
groundfish fishery. It is very little. Some of the things we need to

work on on by-catch is, and the problem we have with this ground-
fish fishery in New England is, it's not like in a lot of other places.
There is always something mixed with them. They are never alone.
The codfish are never alone. It's like the woman asked me, when
we had the haddock closures, what are you doing? I said I hang
a sign on my net: No haddock allowed.

I mean, that is the best way I could answer the question, because
there is no way of doing it. It is a unique fishery, like very few
places in the world. But no, there are ways. Like I say, the
Nodmore grate. There is ways that the fishermen, when they are
in concentrations, they have got to get up and move. Fishermen
know where certain concentrations of fish are or are expected to be
at times, and we need to work with the scientists and the regu-
latory groups to make sure these are protected when they are in

juvenile concentrations.
Senator Snowe. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Stevens. Thank you. Senator Cohen.
Senator Cohen. Just one question. Mr. White, I think that your

organization has had some difficulty in gaining access to commu-
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nicate with the council. I assume that you probably have some con-

cerns about what a buyout should and should not include.

It seems to me that we have to ask, about a buyout, for what,
for where, and for how long. I assume that there is genuine concern
that if you buy out a vessel or permit for one purpose it could be
used for another purpose, namely a threat possibly to the lobster

and herring industry.

Would you care to comment on that?

Mr. White. Without seeing the structure of the buyout, it is very
difficult to comment, but to your point, I think if there isn't some
definite restriction as to the use of that, the moneys used in a
buyout program, we would have serious concern of the effect of it

on our resource, as well as other people, I am sure.

Senator Cohen. And, just quickly, Mr. Alexander, I assume that
you are a boat owner, but there are a lot of non-boat owners. These
buyouts in all probability would have very little benefit to a captain

or a crew who doesn't own a boat. Do we have any obligation at

the Federal level or State to try and deal with their livelihoods as

well?

Mr. Alexander. I, for one, am very concerned about this. Most
of these people that are on these larger boats now do come from
fishing families. A lot of them have lost their boats because of the

loss of stocks. That is why they are on these bigger boats right

now.
Yes, but how we do it, I really don't know. I will tell you that

most good fishermen usually could find a job on another boat, but
in some of these bigger boats that carry a lot of crew it is going

to be difficult.

Senator Cohen. Mr. Chairman, I have other questions. I will

yield back the balance of my time.

Senator Stevens. Senator, thank you very much. Congressman?
Mr. LONGLEY. Mr. Chairman, a couple of quick questions.

Mr. Ames, I would be very interested in a written copy of your
remarks. I think that you have raised some issues that certainly

need to be followed up on.

I have a question, coming back to Mr. Alexander and Ms. John-
son. Are you aware of any hard numbers in terms of the number
of vessels that we are talking about from the standpoint of a
buyout program?
Mr. Aj^xander. No, I do not. I have spoke with some people

today that I thought we in the State of Maine ought to do as the
Gloucester Wives Association is doing, and that is send out a ques-

tionnaire to see if we couldn't get the figures of the people that

would be interested, would participate in a buyout program, so that
we could have some harder facts to give to this group for this sup-

posedly $2 million to try a pilot project.

Mr. LoNGLEY. Mr. Chairman, I just want to end with a quick

comment. Again, I am trying to absorb as much information as I

can, as quickly as possible, but I am amazed that this crisis, the

problems have continued for as long as they have, and we appear
to have so little hard data on the extent of the problem and what
we need to do about it.

I just want to extend an invitation to anyone in this audience.

If you have any comments or information tnat you would like to



117

pass on to my office, my staff assistant, Owen Drey, is right here
behind me and will be here through tomorrow morning. I am anx-
ious to spend as much time as 1 can for the foreseeable future
learning as much as I can about this problem.
Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportuniU' to participate.

Senator Stevens. Thank you very much. I do thank the panel
very much. I have some questions, and, as a matter of fact, we may
send you some questions. We will wait and see about that. Thank
you all very mucn.
We are going to take some individual comments now. I remind

you again that if you wish to send us testimony, we will keep the
record open for a week and, if you get one of the little slips from
Tom, send us a letter with that little slip, and we will put it in the

record.

Tom, would you find a way to introduce, using that microphone,
the people that are coming? If I am correctly informed, there are

eight witnesses. We have roughly 24 minutes—I have just manu-
factured 4. As a matter of fact, why do you not run the gate there,

and we will run the clock. And please make your comments within
3 minutes.

STATEMENT OF STEPHEN BROOK, CHAIRMAN, MAINE
COUNCIL, TROUT UNLIMITED

Mr. Brook. Thank you. Chairman Stevens, Senators Snowe,
Cohen, and Representative Longley. My name is Steve Brook, and
I'm from Farmingdale, Maine. I'm the chairman of the Maine
Council of Trout Unlimited. I also sit on the national resource
board of our Trout Unlimited organization.

Trout Unlimited is America's cold water fisheries organization.

We are more than 75,000 recreational conservation-minded anglers

nationwide. We have over 450 chapters. And here in the State of

Maine we have approximately 900 members and 5 chapters.
I would like to speak very, very briefly about some fish that are

groundfish that spend their lives at sea but come back to our fresh-

water rivers to reproduce. These are fish that we call anadromous
fish, and they are fish that have some severe problems here in

Maine in particular, as well as across our nation as a whole. We
are talking about Atlantic and Pacific salmon. Here in Maine we
are talking about a full range of herring that are used as bait fish

in the commercial fishing industry, alewives in particular.

We are talking about two species of sturgeon, the short-nosed
sturgeon that is currently on the endangered species list, as well

as the Great Atlantic sturgeon. The Atlantic sturgeon is a creature
that will grow to 6 and 7 feet long, live to 60 and 70 years. And
they are over 9 million years old in terms of their specie and the
way they have adapted.

I think that there is one major reason for the decline of these fish

that has to do with habitat, and I would like to encourage you in

the workings with the Magnuson Act to include recreational an-
glers and some of the habitat issues. These are species of fish that
come to the fresh water to spawn. They need riverine habitat, and
in the State of Maine they have already lost over 90 percent of the
habitat that they need to sui^ive to be able to reproduce, and to

maintain productive populations at sea.
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In particular, I'd like to bring to your attention a study that was
put forth by the Office of Technology Assessment that was done by
the predecessor committee last year. This is a fisheries study that
deals with fish passage and passage issues, and I would urge you
to see that this study is carried out because I believe that it is criti-

cal to the survival of these species of fish.

Thank you very much.
Senator Stevens. Thank you very much. You have a lot of mem-

bers up my way, I might say.

STATEMENT OF JOHN J. KILCOMMONS
Mr. KiLCOMMONS. Senators, I am not a fisherman. I'm a retired

FBI agent. I spent 5 years investigating what is wrong with the
fisheries. I don't know anything about fisheries. I am an investiga-

tor. I just spent weeks reading the history of the Magnuson Act,

and I conclude that it is the Magnuson Act itself that is flawed. It

is the one act that is causing most of the trouble. That takes me
half a minute.

I will send it to you. I have got a report. I did it. And—^you used
to be a prosecutor, weren't you, Senator? I will present it to you
like you present anybody
Senator Cohen. Do vou want me to prosecute Senator Stevens?
Mr. KiLCOMMONS. I'd prosecute him if you go back and read this

thing because what he put forth in 1975 is not what you have got
now. And that case that's here in Maine, that will turn on the defi-

nition of two words, to recommend and to propose. I went through
this forerunner of S. 39, and you look at that, and you've got the
councils saying they manage. They do not manage anything.
Senator Stevens. OK. Thank you very much. We appreciate it.

Send the report in. We will take a look at it. I am a former pros-

ecutor; I will defend myself. [Laughter.]
[Written material provided for the record maybe found in com-

mittee files.]

STATEMENT OF MAGGIE RAYMOND
Ms. Raymond. Thank you. My name is Maggie Raymond, and I

own a groundfish trawler with my husband that he operates.

This boat sustains our family as well as three other Maine fami-
lies, and indirectly contributes to the employment of hundreds of
other people in fisheries-related businesses, in fact, many of the
people that are here this weekend. I mention this because I want
you to know that these are good jobs and that we have no prospects
for comparable alternative employment.

I also speak regularly for an association of 22 Portland ground-
fish boats. I want to express our complete support for a buyback.
This would be both an effective conservation strategy and a hu-
manitarian alternative to the bankruptcy of the fleet.

I'd like to respond to Senator Cohen's question about what would
happen to crew members. I think that you understand that fisher-

men are entrepreneurs, and if we go bankrupt we are gone. We are
done. However, if someone were to be able to pay off tne mortgage
on his boat and not lose everything, then he may be able to start

another business and employ some of those people that currently
work for him.
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So the jobs will be lost, but we are trying to conserve as many
of them as possible. I think the buyback will allow us to preserve
the infrastructure of our industry, as many of the people here as
possible, so that when the stocks do recover the industry will be
able to recover with it.

In response to the language in S. 39 that suggests a tax on ves-

sels that would remain in the fishery after buyback, I would just

like to remind the Senators that fishermen, between Federal,

State, and self-employment tax, already pay over 40 percent of

their income to the government, so we would, of course, be reluc-

tant to pav any more. In fact, the only difference that I can see be-
tween Federal dollars and non-Federal dollars is the Federal dol-

lars come out of this pocket and the non-Federal dollars would
come out of this pocket.

I think an unintended result of such a tax would be to drive in-

come underground, and we certainly would not want that to hap-
pen. Senator Stevens: Thank you very much.

STATEMENT OF HARRIET DIDRIKSEN
Ms. DiDRLKSEN. Harriet Didriksen from Mattapoisett, Massachu-

setts. I own, with my husband, two offshore trawlers. He is a fish-

erman himself.
I want to comment on the ITQs that are talked about in regards

to amendment 4 on the scallops. I believe that ITQs are only going
to take the ownership of vessels and the harvesting out of the
hands of individual boat owners and into large corporations. I feel

it is going to just ruin the fabric of many of the coastal commu-
nities.

I have felt, after going to council meetings for 10 years, I feel a
certain push among council members that they would like to see

this happen. The scoping document which is going to go out in scal-

lops within the next couple of months I personally begged at one
of the meetings that an alternative where no money would be in-

volved could be included in that scoping document. It was basically

refused.
I feel there has to be done work done at the council meeting

level. As the Coast Guard said, regulations are becoming com-
plicated. As I have inquired of both National Marine Fisheries and
council members on occasion, they themselves can't even relate the
rules to me. How would the fishermen out on the boat really know
what's going to happen?

I want to back the buyout program. I feel it is needed. But I also

feel we need a fishery in the future, and so therefore we need work
on the level of the management on the council level. There is work
to be done. The fishery is in chaos. Thank you.
Senator Stevens: Thank you very much.

STATEMENT OF HENRY L. SURETTE
Mr. SuRETTE. Mr. Chairman, I thank you for the time to speak.

I'm a Canadian, and I am sort of an expert on the groundfish be-

cause I was driven out by ITQs.
But from New Jersey to the Labrador coast is an ecological disas-

ter of the magnitude of the rain forests or the Ethiopian famine.
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The only difference here, we have enough money to feed the people
who are hungry. And it is growing by leaps and bounds.
But there is a predator that is really causing a lot of this prob-

lem, and the world is not addressing it and they are afraid to ad-
dress it, and it is the seal. 5 years ago, it was come to the conclu-

sion they eat 50,000 metric tons, and they haven't been hunted
since. And nobody even dares to guess what is the magnitude they
eat today.

In the Gulf of St. Lawrence they ran out of fish. They found
thousands and thousands of lobster claws on the shore that they
eat. They don't eat the claws; they just eat the body and the shell.

So thev are really starving. Ajid I think as a nation we should step

up and do something about this.

Are we going to protect the seals or watch these families just

have to move? A whole province is going to have to move because
there is no fish for them to fish, and it will never come back unless
we address this problem. And it is growing this way, I will tell you.
We probably can send a lot to Washington and use the fur seals

of approval or something. [Laughter.]
Senator Stevens. Send me one for disapproval, too, will you?
Mr. SuRETTE. I used to belong to an international organization

called Like-Hearted, and it was discussed there there's 5 million

metric tons of fish being discarded a year. The world can't stand
that. We have to use some of this fish to feed the hungry.
Thank you for your time. Senator Stevens: Thank you.

STATEMENT OF BARBARA STEVENSON
Ms. Stevenson. I am Barbara Stevenson and I am a fishing ves-

sel owner and I happen to be on the New England Fishery Manage-
ment Council. I also happen to be the person who absurdly sug-

gested the 3-day recreational fishing.

There are a couple of things I want to address. One thing is that
which I understand people think is ridiculous, but had we picked
one of the possible levels of fishing, there would have been no fish-

ing in the Gulf of Maine, including lobstering, and yet the rec-

reational catch would still had to have been cut by a third. The rec-

reational catch in the Gulf of Maine of cod is very, very significant.

It has to be treated as very significant.

I am not saying that is the solution. All I was saying is they have
to be part of the solution because there is no other way.
There are a couple of other things that I wanted to point out.

One is on the owner-operators, and I hope that Marshall is using
owner-operators in the sense of their point of view and not their

actual owner-operatorness, in that I own various vessels, two ves-

sels, and everything I own is tied up in that, but I haven't been
on one of them in quite some time.

But there is a different viewpoint from corporate ownership and
owner-operator ownership, and I think that is what most of us are
getting at.

Another point that Olympia brought up when she asked if the
wording in the Magnuson Act was enough for the incremental
steps, I do not think it is. I have been 8 years trying to get the

council to do something more on fishery management for ground-
fish. They finally got ready to move, and then they couldn't move.



121

Well, every move that you make would have been better for us and
sometimes it takes longer than a year to get to the next step.

All the fisheries are highly dynamic, and we don't know. What
we think is right this year might not be right next year, and you
have to do something more and something more. I don't think any-
one has any answer as to what is right, what will actually do the
job. All we have to do is keep working on it until we get there.

Thank you. Senator Stevens: Thank you very much.

STATEMENT OF SALLY CROWLEY
Ms. Crowley. Good afternoon. I am Sally Crowley. My husband

is a lobster fisherman and I am town manager of Gouldsboro,
which is a fishing community of about 2,000.

I would like to speak to a slightly different subject. This last year
our legislature passed a resolution and our Governor signed it en-

dorsing extending our State territorial limits to 12 miles from 3

miles. For us down east it becomes a very important question be-

cause the way it is measured it is from the last point of land. In
some areas, 3 miles takes you out quite a ways. Where we are, 3
miles and you are outside the harbor and that is about it.

What we are finding is that our traditional lobster fishing

grounds, which are relatively close to our homes, are now being in-

vaded by these very large boats that have been displaced since they
are forbidden to fish other places. And they are dragging in these
areas. No offense to these very large boats, but they have very lit-

tle territorial interest in conserving what is on the bottom in the
areas in our local traditional fishing grounds.
The lobster fisherman typically is a conservationist because they

are in a relatively local area, so we are working with our legisla-

tors, our congressmen, to hopefully present an act that will allow
our territorial limits to be extended to 12 miles, and I hope that
you will support that so that we will be able to have the necessary
regional support for our necessary conservation measures.
Thank you. Senator Stevens: Thank you.

STATEMENT OF JESSICA HARRIS
Ms. Harris. Good afternoon. My name is Jessica Harris and I'm

from Marion, Massachusetts. I work as a fishery biologist in con-
servation engineering, but the views I'm expressing right now are
really my personal views and mine alone.

I would like to express my concern about section 305(d), which
is the gear evaluation and notification section. Many of the gear
modifications that have been used in fisheries and that are under
consideration and development today have been thought of and ini-

tiated by innovative conservation-minded fishermen. No one knows
the gear better than the fishermen that use it every day.
And while a few use that knowledge for unsavory purposes,

many use it to better the integrity of the industry. I fear that with
the continuation of this section such innovation and the resulting

benefits to the stocks may be lost.

Thank you. Senator Stevens: Thank you.
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STATEMENT OF SCHAUN GEHAN

Mr, Gehan. Shaun Gehan with the Seafarers' International
Union. I am particularly pleased and honored to have the oppor-
tunity to address members both of the Senate and of the House.
I would like to limit my remarks to only one aspect of the Senate
bill before us today, and will provide more specific comments to

both the House and Senate side in written testimony.
The concern that the union has is regarding the provisions deal-

ing with Individual Transferable Quotas or ITQs. The first major
concern is that, economic incentives being what they are, if the
councils and NMFS are given the incentive to increase their budg-
ets by charging a user fee only for plans which include the use of

ITQs, then that is a great incentive to take everything right down
that road. We oppose the use of ITQ's as a management tool.

The other suggestion we would make is a return to an idea that
had existed in previous reauthorization bills from the last Con-
gress, and that was, instead of devising an advisory panel to study
rules for implementing ITQ's, to rather devise an advisory panel to

look at the policy implications of individual transferable quotas.
The Union believes they have tremendous implications for the fu-

ture of the commercial fishing industry, from shifting it from a
largely small-scale and family based industry to a much more
corporatized future, and believes there should be a national discus-

sion and a policy that is made consciously instead of letting coun-
cils lead the Nation down that path.

So I would urge that a moratorium be put in place so the policy

implications and economic considerations can be fully studied by a
blue ribbon panel by an organization outside of the National Ma-
rine Fisheries Service, such as the General Accounting Office,

which has no current vested interest.

Thank you.

Senator Stevens. Thank you. Thank you very much. I thank my
colleagues. Senator Snowe, Senator Cohen, Congressman Longley.
We will have hearings in Seattle, for your information, on the 18th
and hearings in Alaska on the 25th of this month. And then follow-

ing those hearings and the receipt of the testimony we receive after

each of those, we will schedule hearings in Washington, hopefully

for sometime in late May. We plan to hold hearings down in the
Gulf May 13. So we have three regional hearings still to hold, and
then the final wrap-up hearing will be somewhere toward the end
of May in Washington.
Thank you all for your courtesy.

[Whereupon, at 5:27 p.m., the subcommittee adjourned.]
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M\' name is Richard B. Allen. I ha\e been a commercial fishennan for thirt>' \ears, in

various fisheries ranging from quahog hand-raking to deep-sea red crabbing to San Fransisco Ba>'

heiTing seining. I currentK' own a 44" inshore lobster trap fishing vessel which I operate from the

port of Point .ludith. Rliode Island. I am also a fisheries consultant with clients that include the

Shafmaster Fishing Company, a major operator of offshore lobster trap fishing \essels. I have

been acti\e and ha\'e held \'arious positions in fishemien's organizations over the past twent)'

years. I am currently a member of the New England Fishery Management Council and a

Commissioner on the Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission.

I applaud the interest that the members of the Senate Commerce Committee and others

ha\e shown in the management of our Nation's fisheries. The comments and questions of the

Committee members at the public hearing in Rockport. Maine on March 4, 1995 demonstrated the

members" knowledge and understanding of the fimdamental problems facing our fisheries.

UTiile I agree with man\- of the concepts that are embodied in S.39, I would like to

suggest some changes to the proposed language that I believe would be beneficial to the

management of our Nation's fisheries.

First, I believe that it is unwise to disadvantage individual transferable quota management

in comparison to other limited access programs such as limits on permits and fishing effort

allocations. I have become contro\'ersial in recent years because of m>' advocacy of ITQs. The

reason that I switched from being an opponent of limited entiy to a proponent of ITQ management

is because ITQs met many of my objections to limited entn,'. As a fishennan and as a member of

the fishen' management system, I find it frustrating that the objectionable features of limited

pennit and effort allocation systems are being ignored as people focus on ITQs.

For these reasons, my first general suggestion is that you change all references to

'indi\'idual transferable quotas" to read "transferable fishing allocations", and define transferable

fishing allocations to include limited access fishing pemiits, fishing effort allocations, or quota

shares. Fishing effort allocations might be ftirther defined as including "days at sea" allocations,

trap allocations, or fishing capacit\' allocations.

(123)
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The effect that I would seek in such a cliange would be to bring other transferable fishing

allocation s\ stems under the same guidelines that are proposed to be developed for individual

transferable quotas. I would also suggest that the same fee requirements should appK' to all

allocation programs.

I also belie\'e that it would be a mistake to delay tlie appro\al and implementation of

transferable fishing allocation systems pending the development of guidelines relating to such

programs. Rather. I would suggest that programs approved prior to the de\elopment of those

guidelines be required to come into compliance with those guidelines within a specified time

period. I consider this change in the proposed language to be important in avoiding a delay in

necessar>' improvements to our Nation's fisheries. A number of important fisheries are in the

process of developing transferable fishing allocation systems as their best available alternative to

rebuild and maintain the biological and economic productivitv' of those fisheries. A legislated

delay in the approval of transferable fishing allocation systems will tlirow the management of

those fisheries into limbo, w ith deleterious results.

The issues that are identified in the proposed amendments as being the subject of

Secretarial guidelines are being vigorously debated in the development of transferable fishing

allocation s\ stems in the Fishen- Management Councils. Keeping in mind this process, and the

wide latitude of the Secretan to approve, disapprove, or partialh disapprove plans, I do not

believe that an>' irresponsible approvals of transferable fishing allocation plans will occur prior to

the development of guidelines. Rather, I would expect that the cost of delaying transferable

fishing allocation plans in fisheries for which such plans are being developed would be far greater

than the cost of bringing those plans into compliance vvitli national guidelines after such guidelines

are promulgated.

Many of our fisheries require immediate action to reverse declines in both biological and

economic productivitv . The fishing industi-v'. the regional management councils, the

env iroiuiiental communit\', and state and federal fisherv' management agencies are continuing to

grapple with this ditTicult task on a day to day basis. After having considered and tried many
unsuccessfiil approaches to fishery management, this process is leading many people to believe

that ITQs are the best alternative available to accomplish the objectives of the Magnuson Act. I

urge \ou to allow this alternative to move forward as you develop the appropriate guidelines for

its use.

I appreciate your consideration of mv views and I would be happy to discuss these issues

ftirther with you or your staff.
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